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A For The Transition Period From To A Commission File Number: 001-37863 A BIOMERICA, INC. (Exact Name of registrant as specified in its charter) A Delaware (State or

other jurisdiction of Incorporation of organization) 95-2645573 (L.R.S. Employer Identification No.) A 17571 Von Karman Avenue, Irvine, CA (Address of principal executive offices) A 92614
(Zip Code) A (949) 645-2111 (Registranta€™s telephone number, including area code) A Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act: A Title of each class A Trading
Symbols A Name of each exchange on which registered Common Stock, par value $0.08 A BMRA A Nasdaq Capital Market A Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned
issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act Yes & No 4™ A Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Securities Act. Yes & No 4™’ A Indicate by check whether the registrant (1) filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 8™’ No &~ A
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (A§232.4050f this
chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes 4"’ No &” A Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a
large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of a€oelarge accelerated filer,a€
a€ceaccelerated filer,a€ a€cesmaller reporting company, a€ and a€ceemerging growth companya€ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. A Large Accelerated Filer &~ A Accelerated Filer 4~ Non-
Accelerated Filer &~ A Smaller Reporting Company 4~ Emerging Growth Company 4~ A A A If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the reglstrant has elected not to use
the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. 4~ A Indicate by check mark
whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its managementa€™s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. &~ A If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act,
indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. &~ A Indicate by check
mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registranta€™ s executive officers during
the relevant recovery period pursuant to A§240.10D-1(b). &~ A Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes 4" No 4™’ A State the
aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common equity was last sold, or the average bid and
asked price of such common equity, as of the last business day of the registranta€™s most recently completed second fiscal quarter (based upon 15,639,082 shares held by non-affiliates and the
closing price of $0.93 per share for Common Stock as of November 30, 2023): $14,544,346. A The outstanding number of shares of common stock, par value $0.08, as of August 28, 2024 was
16,821,646. A DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: Portions of the registranta€™s definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A relating to the registrantd€™s 2024 annual meeting
of stockholders, to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are incorporated by
reference in Part III, Items 10 through 14 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except for the portions of the Proxy Statement specifically incorporated by reference in this Form 10-K, the Proxy
Statement and related proxy solicitation materials shall not be deemed to be filed as part hereof. A A A A A A CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS A
Except for historical financial information contained herein, the matters discussed in this Form 10-K may be considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and subject to the safe harbor created by the Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
Such statements include declarations regarding our intent, belief, or current expectations, and those of our management. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by
terminology such as &€cemay,a€ a€cewill,a€ a€meshould,a€ d€mexpects,a€ a€ceintends,a€ a€ceplans,a€ a€ceanticipates,a€ a€cebelieves,a€ a€oeestimates,a€ a€mepredicts,a€ a€oepotentiala€ or
4€cecontinuea€ or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. Investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and
involve a number of risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control. Actual results could differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements.
Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, those risks and uncertainties
identified under 4€ceRisk Factors,a€ in this Form 10-K and the other risks detailed from time-to-time in our reports and registration statements filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to revise or update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. A 2 A A PARTIA ITEM 1. BUSINESS A BUSINESS OVERVIEW A THE COMPANY A Biomerica, Inc. (A4€ceBiomerica,a€ the &€ceCompany,a€ a€cewe,a€ a€oeus,a€ or 4€ceoura€)
was incorporated in Delaware in September 1971 as Nuclear Medical Systems, Inc., and later changed its name to Biomerica, Inc. The Company has two wholly owned subsidiaries, Biomerica
de Mexico, which is used for assembly/manufacturing, and BioEurope GmbH, which acts as a distributor of Biomerica products in certain markets. A We are a global biomedical technology
company that develops, patents, manufactures and markets advanced diagnostic and therapeutic products. Our diagnostic test kits are utilized in the analysis of blood, urine, nasal, or fecal
samples for the diagnosis of various diseases, food intolerances, and other medical conditions. These kits also measure levels of specific hormones, antibodies, antigens, and other substances,
which may exist in the human body at extremely low concentrations. Our products are designed to enhance health and well-being while reducing overall healthcare costs. A Our extensive range
of medical diagnostic products is sold worldwide, primarily in two markets: clinical laboratories and point-of-care settings, including physiciansa€™ offices and over-the-counter sales at major
retailers such as Walmart, CVS Pharmacy, and Amazon. Most of our products are Conformite Europeenne (d€ceCEa€) marked and/or registered with regulatory agencies in various countries for
diagnostic use, with several also cleared for sale in the United States by the FDA. A IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON REVENUES A In response to the global COVID-19 pandemic, we began
developing, marketing, and selling COVID-19 diagnostic tests in March 2020. These tests contributed significantly to our revenues during fiscal years 2021 and 2022. However, demand sharply
declined in fiscal 2023, leading to no sales of COVID-19-related products in fiscal 2024. As a result, our COVID-19 product sales have caused significant fluctuations in our revenues over the
past four years. A In contrast, our non-COVID-19 products, have accounted for approximately 100% and 96% of our revenues during the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023,
respectively, and have remained our core focus. A TECHNOLOGICAL ADVANCEMENTS AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT A Technological advances in medical diagnostics have enabled the
performance of diagnostic tests not only in clinical laboratories but also at home and in point-of-care settings, such as physiciansa€™ offices. A key objective for us has been the development
and marketing of rapid diagnostic tests that are accurate, utilize easily obtained patient specimens, and can be performed without the need for complex instrumentation. Our over-the-counter
(home use) and professional use (physiciansa€™ office, clinics, etc.) rapid diagnostic test products help manage existing medical conditions and may save lives through early detection and
diagnosis of specific diseases. Traditionally, such tests required the expertise of medical technologists and sophisticated equipment, with results often not available for days. We believe that
properly developed and utilized rapid point-of-care tests can match the accuracy of laboratory tests, delivering reliable results in minutes with minimal or no instrumentation. A RESEARCH
AND DEVELOPMENT A We invest considerable resources in the research and development of new products designed to diagnose and, in some cases, treat several major medical diseases.
These products are both internally developed and obtained through licensing agreements. Our experienced and highly trained technical personnel, including Ph.D. holders and other scientists,
are dedicated to developing new products and managing technology transfer activities. Many of our technical staff have extensive industry experience from previous employment at large
diagnostic manufacturing companies. We also rely on our Scientific Advisory Board, comprised of leading medical doctors and clinicians, to guide our clinical studies and product development
efforts. A KEY PRODUCT LAUNCHES A A key outcome of our recent research and development efforts is our patented diagnostic-guided therapy (4€ceDGT&€) product, developed on the
inFoodsA® technology platform. This innovative product is designed to treat gastrointestinal conditions such as irritable bowel syndrome (4€eIBS&€) and other inflammatory diseases,
targeting chronic inflammatory conditions prevalent in large markets. The inFoodsA® IBS product, which we have already launched, uses a simple blood test to identify patient-specific foods
that, when eliminated, may alleviate IBS symptoms such as pain, bloating, diarrhea, cramping, and constipation. Unlike broad dietary restrictions, the inFoodsA® IBS product pinpoints a
patient&€™s heightened immunoreactivity to specific foods known to frequently trigger IBS symptoms, providing targeted relief. A We have launched our inFoodsA® product across numerous
gastroenterology (a€0eGIa€) physician groups in various states and regions, including collaboration with one of the largest GI groups in the U.S. Feedback from GI specialty physicians has been
positive, and we are actively expanding our network by onboarding additional physician practices. Our dedicated sales team is focused on deepening relationships within the GI segment and
targeting opportunities to introduce inFoodsA® to other medical specialties, including integrated health practices and concierge physicians. We are also evaluating distribution, partnership,
and licensing opportunities with U.S. and multinational companies to accelerate the commercialization and growth of inFoodsA® products both domestically and internationally. A 3 A A
Beyond our inFoodsA® product line, our additional efforts have led to a significant milestone by receiving FDA clearance in December 2023 for hp+detecta, ¢, a new diagnostic test for




detecting Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract. H. pylori is a widespread infection, affecting an estimated 35% of the U.S. population and 45% of the population in
Europea€™s five largest countries. This bacterium is recognized as the strongest known risk factor for gastric cancer, which is the third most common cause of cancer-related deaths globally.
A The hp+detect, ¢ test provides physicians and medical centers with a reliable tool for diagnosing H. pylori infections and monitoring the effectiveness and safety of treatments. The
diagnostic test is marketed directly to laboratories, where patient samples are analyzed. We are actively promoting hp+detectd, ¢ to large end-customer labs to support its launch and
distribution, aiming to enhance patient care through timely and accurate detection of H. pylori infections. A STRATEGIC INITIATIVES AND COST MANAGEMENT A Due to slower-than-
expected launches of our key products, inFoodsA® IBS and hp+detecta, ¢, we have initiated significant cost-cutting measures to extend our cash runway and work towards increasing revenues
to cover overhead costs. These measures include a workforce reduction of nearly 15% and a significant reduction in expenses. Additionally, we are actively exploring strategic opportunities to
enhance shareholder value. A OPERATIONS AND GLOBAL PRESENCE A Biomerica is headquartered in Irvine, California, where it centralizes administration, finance, regulatory compliance,
product development, sales, marketing, customer service, and primary manufacturing operations. To enhance global competitiveness, the Company maintains manufacturing and assembly
operations in Mexicali, Mexico, aiming to reduce production costs. Additionally, Biomerica operates BioEurope GmbH in Europe, facilitating the international sales of specific products. A
Additional information about Biomerica is available on our website at www.biomerica.com. The content on any website referred to in this Form 10-K is not a part of or incorporated by reference
in this Form 10-K unless expressly noted. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Forms 10-Q, Current Reports on Forms 8-K, Proxy Statements and all other filings we make
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (a4€eSEC&€) are available on our website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practical after we file them with or furnish them to the SEC and
are also available online at the SECA€™s website at www.sec.gov. A PRODUCTION A Our diagnostic test kits are manufactured and/or assembled at our facilities in Irvine, California and in
Mexicali, Mexico. We established our manufacturing facility in Mexicali, Mexico in fiscal 2003 and moved a significant portion of our diagnostic packaging and assembly to that facility. A
Production of diagnostic tests can involve formulating component antibodies and antigens in specified concentrations, attaching a tracer to the antigen, filling components into vials, packaging
and labeling. We continually engage in quality control procedures to assure the consistency and quality of our products and to comply with applicable FDA and international regulations. A 4 A
A Our manufacturing operations and facilities are regulated by the FDA Good Manufacturing Practices for medical devices. We have an internal quality department that monitors and evaluates
product quality and output. We also have an internal Quality Systems department whose goal is to ensure that our operating procedures are in compliance with current FDA, CE Mark and
International Organization for Standardization (4€ceISO&€) regulations. We either produce our own antibodies and antigens or purchase these materials from qualified vendors. We have
alternate, approved sources for most critical raw materials and are working to procure alternate sources for the few that we do not have. A RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT A We employ a
team of highly qualified technical personnel, including Ph.D. holders and experts with extensive experience in the development and production of diagnostic tests, to support our research and
development (4€ceR&DA€) initiatives. Our team is actively engaged in enhancing existing products and driving ongoing innovation. R&D expenses encompass materials, supplies, personnel,
consultants, facilities, outside clinical trial sites, equipment, and contract services. For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023, consolidated R&D expenses totaled approximately
$1,491,000 and $1,584,000, respectively. We anticipate that R&D expenses will decrease significantly in the upcoming quarters as we are in the commercialization phase of inFoodsA® and
hp+detecta, ¢ and in an effort to preserve cash. A A cornerstone of our R&D efforts is the development of our proprietary diagnostic-guided therapy, known as the inFoodsA® technology. This
platform enables physicians to identify patient-specific foods (e.g., pork, milk, onions, sugar, chickpeas) that, when eliminated from the patienta€™s diet, may alleviate or improve symptoms of
IBS and other conditions. We have filed patents globally related to the use of inFoodsA® diagnostic technology for detecting abnormal immune responses in patients with various diseases.
Many of these patents have been recently issued, while others are in the review and prosecution phase. The United States Patent and Trademark Office (4€eUSPTO&€) has granted us two
patents with broad claims protecting the inFoodsA® IBS product. Additionally, patents have been issued in Australia, Japan, Korea, Mexico, and Singapore. Further patent applications related
to the inFoodsA® IBS product are pending or under review in the United States and other countries. A We are also developing and have filed patents for additional products targeting other
diseases using the inFoodsA® technology platform. These diseases include Functional Dyspepsia, Crohna€™ s Disease, Ulcerative Colitis, Gastroesophageal Reflux Disease (4€ceGERDA£),
Migraine Headaches, Depression, and Osteoarthritis. In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we now hold 36 foreign patents that have either been issued or for which we have received a notice
of allowance, covering over 50 countries. These patents protect the use of inFoodsA® technology for IBS and several other conditions. Notably, our first patent allowed for a disease other than
IBS was granted in Japan in August 2021, covering the use of inFoodsA® technology for diagnosing and treating depression. A Our additional R&D efforts have led to the 510(k) clearance of
our proprietary H. pylori test, hp+detecta, ¢, which is designed to provide highly accurate sensitivity and specificity for detecting H. pylori and monitoring treatment. A MARKETS AND
METHODS OF DISTRIBUTION A Biomerica has approximately 80 current customers for its diagnostic business, of which approximately 38 are foreign distributors, 12 are domestic distributors
and the balance are primarily domestic hospital and clinical laboratories, medical research institutions, medical schools, pharmaceutical companies, chain drugstores, wholesalers,
physiciansa€™ offices, and e-commerce customers. A We employ a director of sales and marketing for Europe and South America who is headquartered in Germany. She has over 20 years of
experience selling and marketing diagnostic and life science products across multiple diagnostics technologies and disciplines. She possesses broad international business experience, with
communication skills in German, English, Spanish, French, and Portuguese, and scientific and technical understanding of gastrointestinal diagnostic products. She also has strong relationships
with key strategic entities in Europe, Eastern Europe, Latin America, Canada, and the United States and we expect that she will continue to help Biomerica add new distributors for existing
products and add new product-lines for future distribution by us. A We rely on affiliated and unaffiliated distributors, advertising in medical and trade journals, exhibitions at trade shows,
direct mailings, and an internal sales staff to market our diagnostic products. We target two main markets: (a) clinical laboratories and (b) point-of-care testing (physiciansa€™ offices and over-
the-counter drug stores). A Our net sales were approximately $5,415,000 for fiscal 2024, compared to $5,339,000 for fiscal 2023. For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023, the
Company had one distributor each year that accounted for 33% and 35% of our net sales, respectively. A 5 A A Total gross receivables as of May 31, 2024, and 2023 were approximately
$966,000 and $751,000, respectively. As of May 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had four and one distributor, respectively, that accounted for a total of 64% and 36% of gross accounts
receivable. Of the 64% as of May 31, 2024, 37% was owed by a distributor in Asia. A BACKLOG A As of May 31, 2024, and 2023, Biomericad€™s backlog of unshipped orders was
approximately $755,000 and $655,000, respectively. As of May 31, 2024, the majority of this backlog consisted of orders intended for a distributor in Asia. A RAW MATERIALSA A A Biomerica
utilizes a range of principal raw materials including chemicals, serums, reagents, and packaging supplies. The majority of these materials are sourced from multiple suppliers, ensuring we are
not reliant on any single source. However, for certain critical materials such as antibodies, where suppliers are limited, there exists a risk of potential supply challenges or increased costs in the
future. A Our inventory includes antibodies, antigens, bottles, boxes, chemicals, and reagents essential for manufacturing our test kits, along with products in various stages of completion. A
During the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024, purchases from one vendor accounted for 16% of our raw material procurement, primarily related to Plates. In contrast, for the fiscal year ended
May 31, 2023, the Company did not experience significant vendor concentration in raw material purchases. A COMPETITION A We offer several proprietary products with notable competitive
advantages, including our EZ Detect colon disease home test, the Aware Breast Self-Exam product, our inFoodsA® IBS product, and hp+detecta, ¢ for H. pylori detection. These products stand
out due to their unique features and benefits compared to competing tests in the market. A Our competitors vary greatly in size. Many are divisions or subsidiaries of well-established medical
and pharmaceutical companies which are much larger than Biomerica and expend substantially greater amounts than we do for research and development, manufacturing, advertising, and
marketing. A The competitive landscape for diagnostic products is shaped by several factors, including product uniqueness, technology, quality, performance, pricing, and service. Our
competitive edge is grounded in the distinctiveness of our offerings, the high quality of our products, and their rapid test results. Our strong patent portfolio further bolsters our market position
despite our limited marketing capabilities. A GOVERNMENT REGULATION OF OUR DIAGNOSTIC BUSINESS A Our primary business consists of selling products that are generally legally
defined as medical devices and in vitro diagnostic medical devices. As a result, we are considered to be a medical devices and in vitro diagnostic medical devices manufacturer, and as such, we
are subject to the regulations issued and enforced by of numerous governmental entities. These agencies include the FDA, Environmental Protection Agency, Federal Trade Commission,
Occupational Safety and Health Administration, U.S. Department of Agriculture (4€ceUSDAA&€), and Consumer Product Safety Commission, as well as European Government agencies. Our
activities are also regulated by various agencies of the states and localities in which our products are sold. These regulations govern the introduction of new in vitro diagnostic medical devices
and medical devices, the observance of certain standards with respect to the manufacture and labeling of medical devices, the maintenance of certain records, the reporting of potential product
problems, and other matters. A The Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act of 1938 (the 4€ceFDCA&€) regulates medical devices in the United States by classifying them into one of three classes based on
the extent of regulation believed necessary to ensure safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are those devices for which safety and effectiveness can reasonably be assured through general
controls, such as device listing, adequate labeling, and adherence to the Quality System Regulation (a€ceQSRa€) as well as Medical Device Reporting (4€ceMDRa€), labeling and other
regulatory requirements. Some Class I medical devices are exempt from the requirement of Pre-Market Notification or clearance. Class II devices are those devices for which safety and
effectiveness can reasonably be ensured through the use of special controls, such as performance standards, post-market surveillance and patient registries, as well as adherence to the general
controlsd€™ provisions applicable to Class I devices. Class III devices are devices that generally must receive clearance prior to marketing by the FDA pursuant to a pre-market approval to
ensure their safety and effectiveness. Generally, Class III devices are limited to life-sustaining, life-supporting, or implantable devices. However, this classification can also apply to novel
technology or new intended uses or applications for existing devices. Our products are primarily either Class I or Class II medical devices. A 6 A A Pursuant to FDA requirements, we have
registered our manufacturing facility with the FDA as a medical device manufacturer and listed the medical devices we manufacture. We are also subject to inspection on a routine basis for
compliance with FDA regulations. This includes the QSR, which requires that we manufacture our products and maintain our documents in a prescribed manner with respect to issues such as
design controls, manufacturing, testing, and validation activities. Further, we are required to comply with other FDA requirements with respect to labeling and MDR regulations which requires
that we provide information to the FDA on deaths or serious injuries alleged to have been associated with the use of our products, as well as any product malfunctions that are likely to cause or
contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction were to recur. We believe that we are currently in material compliance with all relevant QSR and MDR requirements. A In addition, our
facility is required to have a California Medical Device Manufacturing License. The license is not transferable and must be renewed biannually. Our current license is valid until November 19,
2024. Through compliance with FDA and California regulations, we can market some of our medical devices throughout the United States. International sales of medical devices are also subject
to the regulatory requirements of each country where the product is sold. In Europe, the directives of the European Union (4€eEU&€™) require that a device have a CE Mark in order to be sold
in EU countries. We comply with In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices Directive (4€ceIVDDa€) 98/79/EC and Medical Devices Regulation 2017/745 (a&€ceMDRA€). We also comply with ISO
13485:2016 Medical Devices Quality Management Systems 4€“ Requirements for Regulatory Purposes. A At present, outside of the EU, the international regulatory review process varies from
country to country. We work with our distributors and sales representatives in the foreign countries in which we market our products to ensure that we comply with the regulatory laws of those
countries. We believe that our international sales to date have been in compliance with the laws of all foreign countries in which we have made sales. Exports of most medical devices are also
subject to certain FDA regulatory controls. A The designing, development, manufacturing, marketing, post-market surveillance, distribution, advertising, and labeling of Biomericad€™s
immunoassay in vitro diagnostic (4€eIVD&€) medical device products are subject to regulation in the United States by the Center for Devices and Radiological Health of the FDA and state
agencies. FDA regulations require that some new products have pre-marketing clearance or approval by the FDA and require these products to be manufactured in accordance with the

FDA&€™ s current Good Manufacturing Practice (4€ecGMPA€) regulations, to be extensively tested and to be properly labeled to disclose test results and performance claims and limitations.
After a product that is subject to FDA regulation is placed on the market, numerous regulatory requirements apply, including, for example, the requirement that we comply with recordkeeping
and reporting requirements, such as the FDA4€™ s medical device reporting regulations and reporting of corrections and removals. The FDA enforces these requirements by inspection and post-
market surveillance. The last FDA announced inspection was in May 2024 and no observations were noted. We believe that all Biomerica products sold in the United States comply with the FDA
and state regulations. A We are an FDA regulated and ISO 13485:2016 certified In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices company. Our goal is to provide high quality medical diagnostic products
that generally meet or exceed customer requirements and comply with all applicable regulatory requirements: FDA 21 CFR Part 820 Quality Management System, ISO 13485:2016, Medical
Devices Quality Management Systems a€“ Requirements for Regulatory Purposes, In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Devices Directive 98/79/EC & and Medical Device Regulation 2017/745,
Guidelines related to Medical Devices Directive/Regulation Guidance on CE Marking, among others. Biomerica involves its employees in a continuous improvement process to increase
productivity, improve quality and maintain the suitability, adequacy, and effectiveness of our quality management system. A The EU In Vitro Diagnostic Medical Device Regulation (4€ceIVDRA€)
2017/746 was effective on May 26, 2022. Manufacturers need to update their technical documentation and processes to meet the more stringent regulatory requirements of the European
Union. Notified Bodies can begin certifying devices to the new IVDR requirements once they have been designated under IVDR by their Competent Authority. Our Notified Body is officially
designated under the IVDR and listed in the European Commission NANDO database since August 19, 2021. We are working closely with our Notified Body to update our technical
documentation to comply with these more stringent IVDR requirements. A 7 A A Per IVDR 2017/746 Amendment Regulation (EU) 2022/112, and published proposal 2024/0021 (COD), devices
with a CE certificate that was issued in accordance with IVDD may be placed on the market or put into service until December 31, 2027, providing a formal application to the notified body has
been made by May 26, 2025. A Exceptional Renewal of CE Certificate for IVDD Quality System was granted to Biomerica. Biomerica received an extended CE Certificate on May 24, 2022,
which remains effective until May 26, 2025. A Per IVDR 2017/746 Amendment Regulation (EU) 2022/112, and published proposal 2024/0021 (COD), devices without a CE certificate that was
issued in accordance with IVDD, for which a declaration of conformity was drawn up prior to May 26, 2022, per IVDD and for which the conformity assessment procedure pursuant to IVDR
requires the involvement of a Notified Body, may be placed on the market, or put into service until the following dates. Biomerica also has until the following dates to update the technical
documentation and processes to meet these regulatory requirements of IVDR 2017/746 providing a formal application to the notified body has been made: A (1)December 31, 2027, for class D
devices, formal application to notified body by May 26, 2025; (2)December 31, 2028, for class C devices, formal application to notified body by May 26, 2026; (3)December 31, 2029, for class B
devices, formal application to notified body by May 26, 2027; and (4)December 31, 2029, for class A devices placed on the market in sterile condition, formal application to notified body by May
26, 2027. A SEASONALITY OF BUSINESS A Our business has not been subject to significant seasonal fluctuations. A INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS A The following table sets forth the dollar
volume of revenue attributable to sales to domestic customers and foreign customers during our last two fiscal years: A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A AsiaA
$1,881,000A A A 35%A $2,021,000A A A 38% EuropeA A 1,438,000A A A 27%A A 1,798,000A A A 34% North AmericaA A 1,285,000A A A 24%A A 1,470,000A A A 28% Middle EastA

A 800,000A A A 15%A A 39,000AA A 1% South AmericaA A 11,000AA A 0%A A 11,000A A A 0% TotalA $5,415,000A A A 100%A $5,339,000A A A 100% A Our international operations
face distinct risks that differ from those encountered in the United States. These risks include economic fluctuations, regulatory changes, geopolitical instability (such as terrorism and trade
disputes), tariffs, embargoes, import/export restrictions, and potential disruptions in shipping and distribution channels. Such factors can significantly impact our foreign sales and may
complicate our ability to collect accounts receivable in international markets during economic downturns. A Each country has its own licensing requirements for diagnostic products, which can
differ considerably from U.S. regulations and may change unexpectedly. Currently, our international sales rely on approximately 38 independent distributors across around 30 countries. These
diverse factors contribute to the complexities and uncertainties associated with our international business operations. A INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY A We consider the protection of our
methodologies, designs, product formulations, manufacturing processes, diagnostic procedures, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, and trade secrets essential for our future success. To
safeguard our proprietary rights in products and services, we utilize copyright, trademark, patent, service mark, and trade secret laws, alongside contractual restrictions. Our efforts include



confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with employees and contractors, as well as nondisclosure agreements with most fulfillment and strategic partners to restrict access to and
disclosure of proprietary information. However, these measures may not entirely prevent unauthorized use or disclosure of our technology. A 8 A A In the past, we have licensed and may
continue to license certain proprietary rights, such as trademarks, patents, trade secrets, or copyrighted material, to third parties. While we strive to maintain the quality of our product brands
through these license agreements, we cannot guarantee that licensees will always act in a manner that preserves the value of our proprietary rights or reputation. A LICENSE OF THIRD-
PARTY INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY A On occasion, we in-licensed both exclusive and non-exclusive rights to intellectual property and patents owned by third parties. These license agreements
typically require royalties and other payments. A We have a royalty agreement in which we obtained rights to manufacture and market an ACTH test (used to detect chronic metabolic
conditions). Royalty expenses of approximately $10,000 and $13,000, respectively, are included in cost of sales for this agreement for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023. Sales of
products manufactured under this agreement are not material to total sales for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We may license other products or technology in the
future as it is deemed necessary or opportunistic for conducting business. A Some of the products that we manufacture, sell, or use may be covered by claims in issued patents held by other
persons or entities, and as such, upon notice from such persons or entity we may be required to pay a license fee or may be required to cease all manufacture, sale or use of such products,
which could negatively impact us. While we have not been notified of any such claims by third parties, we cannot guarantee that such claims will not be made in the future. A BRANDS AND
TRADEMARKS A We occasionally register our tradenames with the USPTO. Of note, we registered the tradename a4€ceInFoodsa€ on December 24, 2016. Our unregistered tradenames are
4€eEZ Detect,a€ a€eEZ-H.P.,a€ and 4€eEZ-PSAA€. A trademark for &€ceAwarea€ was issued and assigned in 2001, renewed in 2011 and 2021. On January 11, 2020, the USPTO renewed our
4€0eFORTELA€ trademark for another ten years. A The laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States. Effective
copyright, trademark, and trade secret protection may not be available in such jurisdictions. A PATENTS AND INFOODS TECHNOLOGY A We have filed over 100 international and Patent
Corporation Treaty patents (4€cePCT&€) and have multiple provisional and non-provisional patents currently filed with the USPTO. Substantially all of our patents that are pending or registered
pertain to the inFoodsA® technology platform. A Our most important family of patent applications pertains to our inFoodsA® technology platform, which is a method of diagnosing and treating
symptoms of many different inflammatory diseases. Our first product launch using this technology is the inFoodsA® IBS product which is designed to diagnose and treat IBS. Using a patient
blood sample, a physician or lab can run our test to identify specific foods (e.g., pork, milk, onions, sugar, chickpeas) that, if eliminated from an IBS patienta€™s diet, can alleviate or reduce the
individuala€™s IBS symptoms, including, but not limited to, constipation, diarrhea, bloating, cramping, severe pain, and indigestion. We have filed many patent applications with the USPTO and
with other such similar agencies in other countries outside of the United States pertaining to this inFoodsA® technology. These patent applications include claims that address the diagnosis and
treatment of several disease states including IBS, functional dyspepsia, Crohna€™s disease, ulcerative colitis, gastroesophageal reflux disease, osteoarthritis, psoriasis, migraine headaches, and
depression. These applications include the use of this technology in both humans and animals. The first inFoodsA® patents filed by us pertained to IBS. Several of these patents pertaining to
the inFoodsA® IBS technology have been issued and many more are in active review and prosecution. A In August 2018, we received our first patent pertaining to the inFoodsA® technology
platform from the Korean Intellectual Property Office, covering IBS. Since then, we have been granted a total of 19 patents; The USPTO has issued the Company two patents with broad claims
that protect our inFoodsA® technology in testing and treating patients with IBS. Patents have also been issued in the countries of Australia (two patents), Canada, Japan (two patents), Korea
(two patents), Mexico, Panama, Peru, and Singapore, covering our inFoodsA® IBS technology. Additional patent applications pertaining to the inFoodsA® IBS product are in prosecution and
review at the USPTO and with the patent issuance authorities in other countries. A 9 A A We are also developing and have filed patents with claims that cover products that target other
diseases utilizing the inFoodsA® technology platform. We have dozens of patents in prosecution or review pertaining to these other diseases, including: Functional Dyspepsia, Crohna€™s
disease, Ulcerative Colitis, GERD, Migraine Headaches, Depression, and Osteoarthritis. In addition, we have a family of patents that cover the use of certain information technology (a€ceITa€)
platforms and artificial intelligence/machine learning (4€ceAI/MLA€) tools that could assist patients in identifying and avoiding packaged or processed food that contain specific foods that they
are trying to eliminate from their diet. A In addition to our IBS related issued patents, we have also been issued inFoodsA® technology patents in the following countries pertaining to the
following diseases: Australia 4€“ Attention Deficit Disorder (4€eADDA€) and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (4€0eADHDA€); Australia 4€“ GERD; Japan - psychological depression, IT
based food monitoring and elimination technology; China &€ IT based food monitoring and elimination technology. A We believe the claims in these issued inFoodsA® IBS patents and claims
in our pending patents that protect the use of the inFoodsA® technology to diagnose and treat various other diseases, provide us with broad protections from other companies making or selling
competing products in this highly disruptive new field of medicine. A In addition to the use of our own patents, we have acquired from third parties the rights to manufacture and sell certain
products that are protected by patents or intellectual property owned by these third parties. In some cases, royalties are paid on the sales of these products. We anticipate that we will license or
purchase the rights to other products or technologies in the future. A We also engage in contract research and development and contract manufacturing for third party companies. The
technologies that relate to this contract R&D and manufacturing are protected by patents and other intellectual property. In these situations, this intellectual property is typically licensed to us
under a limited license agreement enabling us to perform the services being contracted. A We have recently launched the inFoodsA® IBS product. Our business model for this product includes
the potential out-licensing of the product and related patents to a large international life sciences or technology company that could commercialize it or support us in its commercialization.
Additionally, we may explore out-licensing opportunities for the patents or intellectual property associated with other products, including our H. pylori product. A EMPLOYEES A As of May 31,
2024 and 2023, we employed a total of 64 and 62 employees, respectively, in the United States, Mexico, UK and Germany, of which 63 and 62 were full-time employees, respectively. Various
employees listed in the production department also perform research and development duties as a routine function of their job. We occasionally employ temporary employees when needed. A

The following is a breakdown of employees by departments: A AA May 31, A A A 2024A A 2023A AdministrativeA A 6A A A 5A Research & DevelopmentA A 7A A A 9A Sales &
MarketingA A 13A A A 7A Production & OperationsA A 38A A A 41A TotalA A 64A A A 62A A We do engage in a range of external experts, including Ph.D.4€™s, M.D.a€™s, and other
industry specialists, as well as medical institutions, to support various aspects of our operations. These services include technical support, regulatory guidance, marketing and public relations,
financial advisory, and contract product development and manufacturing. To safeguard the Company, we implement confidentiality agreements, intellectual property ownership clauses, and
indemnification provisions with these external parties. Despite these measures, we cannot guarantee complete protection against third-party claims or potential intellectual property theft. A 10
A A ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS A The risks described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties we are not presently aware of or that we currently believe are
immaterial may also impair our business operations. Our business could be harmed by any of these risks and uncertainties. The trading price of our common stock could decline due to any of
these risks, and you may lose all or part of your investment. In assessing these risks, you should also refer to the other information contained or incorporated by reference into this annual report
on Form 10-K, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes. A RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS A We have a history of operating losses. A We have a history of
operating losses, and there is no guarantee that we will achieve profitability in the future. Our ability to generate net profits and maintain positive cash flows is uncertain. Failure to achieve or
sustain profitability could result in a decline in the value of our common stock and may necessitate seeking additional funding under potentially unfavorable conditions. A Although our financial
statements have been prepared on aA going concernA basis, our current level of cash and cash equivalents available to us is not sufficient to meet our operating plans for the next 12 months,
raising substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as aA going concern. A Our financial statements as of May 31, 2024, have been prepared under the assumption that we will continue
as a going concern for the next twelve months from the date of issuance. However, our independent registered public accounting firm has issued a report that includes an explanatory
paragraph highlighting our operational losses and expressing substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least the next twelve months from the date this
report is filed. A Our ability to continue as a going concern depends on obtaining additional financing, achieving further operating efficiencies, increasing sales, reducing costs, and ultimately
generating profitable operations. There is no assurance that we will be able to secure the necessary capital on favorable terms, achieve sufficient revenue growth, or implement adequate cost
reductions. Our financial statements do not reflect any adjustments that might result from the resolution of this uncertainty. A Our operating results may fluctuate adversely as a result of many
factors that are outside our control, which may negatively impact our stock price. A Our operating results are subject to fluctuations due to factors outside our control, which may adversely
affect our business, financial condition, and stock price. Key factors include: A 4—Regulatory Clearances: Delays or issues with obtaining regulatory approvals in the U.S., Europe, and other
markets. &—Regulatory Compliance: Challenges in meeting compliance requirements in various jurisdictions. a—Competition: Introduction of superior or lower-priced products by competitors
could impact our market share. &—Reimbursement Changes: Alterations in reimbursement systems or amounts could affect product usage decisions. a—Economic Conditions: Economic
downturns, changes in healthcare spending, reduced consumer demand, inflation, and currency fluctuations. &—Legal and Regulatory Changes: New or amended laws and regulations affecting
our business operations. &—Market Penetration: Lower than expected adoption of new or recently introduced products. a&—Distributor Dynamics: Variability in distributor inventory levels,
buying patterns, and overall performance. &—Government Mandates: Risks from shelter-in-place orders, lockdowns, or other crisis-related directives. a—Health Crises: Potential resurgence of
COVID-19 or new health threats. &—Healthcare Market Changes: Consolidation in our customer base or shifts in the healthcare market landscape. A 11 A A Fluctuations in our operating
results, for any reason, could cause operating losses as a result of significant fixed expenses. A We base the scope of our operations and related expenses on our estimates of future revenues. A
significant portion of our operating expenses are fixed, and we may not be able to rapidly adjust our expenses if our revenues fall short of our expectations. Our revenue estimates for future
periods are based, among other factors, on estimated end-user demand for our products. If end-user consumption is less than estimated, revenues from our distribution partners and other
distribution channels would be expected to fall short of expectations, and because such a significant portion of our costs are fixed, could result in operating losses. A To remain competitive, we
must continue to develop, obtain, and protect our proprietary technology rights; otherwise, we may lose market share or need to reduce prices as a result of competitors selling technologically
superior products that compete with our products, or selling products at lower prices. A Our ability to compete successfully in the diagnostic market depends on continued development and
introduction of new products, technology, and the improvement of existing technology. If we cannot continue to improve upon or develop, obtain, and protect our technology, our operating
results could be adversely affected. A To remain competitive, we must expend considerable resources to research new technologies and products and develop new markets, and there is no
assurance our efforts to develop new technologies, products, or markets will be successful or such technologies, products, or markets will be commercially viable. A We devote a significant
amount of financial and other resources to researching and developing new technologies, new products, and new markets. The development, manufacture and sale of diagnostic products
require a significant investment of resources. The development of new products and markets also requires a substantial investment of resources, such as new employees, offices and
manufacturing facilities, consultants, and clinical trials. No assurances can be given that our efforts to develop new technologies or products will be successful, that such technologies and
products will be commercially viable, or our expansion into new markets will be profitable. A There is also no guarantee that our new products, including our inFoodsA® IBS products and
hp+detecta, ¢, will be well accepted into the marketplace. A Our operations will be adversely affected if our operating results do not correspondingly increase with our increased expenditures
or if our technology, product, and market development efforts are unsuccessful or delayed. Furthermore, our failure to successfully introduce new technologies or products and develop new
markets could have a material adverse effect on our business and prospects. A The Company is required to obtain government or regulatory certification in many countries and the European
community to sell its products in those countries or regions. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to retain its certification in the future. This includes the possibility and risk that
the Companya€™s products do not meet the new EU IVDR testing and documentation requirements in the future as described in the above a€ceResearch and Developmenta€ section of this
document. A Significant government regulation exists in countries in which we conduct business. A large part of the Companya€™s sales is to distributors in Europe, China, and other
countries, which require us to maintain certain certifications to sell our products. Failure to comply with current governmental regulations and quality assurance guidelines could cause the loss
of these certifications, which could materially adversely affect the results of the Company. Loss of certifications could lead to temporary manufacturing shutdowns, product recalls, product
shortages, or delays in product manufacturing and a decline in sales. A The Company maintains a manufacturing plant in Mexico which presents risks to the Company including risks associated
with doing business outside the United States. A We operate a significant manufacturing facility in Mexico through our subsidiary, Biomerica de Mexico. This international presence introduces
a range of risks, including exposure to local economic and political conditions. Factors such as social unrest, potential terrorism, export and import restrictions, and fluctuations in currency
exchange rates could impact our operations. Additionally, there is a risk of labor shortages, which could affect our manufacturing capabilities. These factors could lead to unforeseen costs and
disruptions, materially impacting our business, financial results, and operational stability. A 12 A A We use hazardous materials in our research and production that may result in unexpected
and substantial claims against us relating to handling, storage, or disposal. A Our research and production processes involve the use of hazardous materials, which presents inherent risks.
Despite rigorous safety protocols, the possibility of accidental contamination or injury cannot be entirely eliminated. In the event of an accident, we could face significant liability for harm or
damages, potentially exceeding our financial resources. Compliance with environmental regulations also entails substantial costs. A If government authorities introduce new environmental
regulations or change the interpretation of existing regulations, our operations could be further impacted. Such changes may impose additional costs, restrictions, or compliance requirements,
which could hinder our research, development, or production efforts. Noncompliance with these regulations may result in significant fines, penalties, or damages, and could necessitate costly
remediation efforts. Furthermore, severe environmental or safety violations could lead to partial or total shutdowns of our research and manufacturing facilities, adversely affecting our
business. The risk of contamination or injury from hazardous materials may also expose individuals to potential health hazards, resulting in fines or penalties that might not be covered by
insurance, thereby impacting our financial stability and operational continuity. A We rely on a limited number of key distributors that account for a substantial majority of our total revenue. The
loss of any key distributor or an unsuccessful effort by us to directly distribute our products could lead to reduced sales. A Our net sales were approximately $5,415,000 for fiscal 2024,
compared to $5,339,000 for fiscal 2023. For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had one distributor each year that accounted for 33% and 35% of our net sales,
respectively. A Total gross receivables as of May 31, 2024, and 2023 were approximately $966,000 and $751,000, respectively. As of May 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had four and one
distributor, respectively, that accounted for a total of 64% and 36% of gross accounts receivable. Of the 64% as of May 31, 2024, 37% was owed by a distributor in Asia. Any adverse changes in
our relationships with key distributors, or issues related to their financial condition, performance, or purchasing patterns, could have a significant impact on our sales and overall financial
results. The loss of a key distributor, or the failure of our direct distribution efforts, could further exacerbate these challenges and adversely affect our business. A We face risks relating to our
international sales, including inherent economic, political, and regulatory risks, which could impact our financial performance, cause interruptions in our current business operations and
impede our growth strategy. A We face risks relating to our international sales, including economic, political, and regulatory challenges, which could impact our financial performance, disrupt
our business operations, and hinder our growth strategy. A Our products are primarily sold internationally, with significant sales to distributors in Asia and Europe. We rely on distributor
organizations and sales agents to market and sell our products abroad, which exposes us to various foreign risks, including: A 4&—Compliance Challenges: We must adhere to diverse and
evolving registration requirements, which can be controlled by distributors, complicating transitions and limiting our ability to benefit from product registrations. &—Regulatory Risks: We must
comply with complex foreign and U.S. laws and regulations, such as import/export limitations, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, and local laws in each market. &—Tariffs and Trade Barriers:
As we expand into new countries and regions, we face changing tariffs and trade barriers, particularly in China, where tariff policies are in flux. &—Currency Exchange Fluctuations: Our
international sales are subject to currency risks, as changes in the values of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar can make our products more expensive and negatively impact sales. 4—
Payment and Pricing Challenges: We encounter longer payment cycles, generally lower average selling prices, and greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable. a—Legal Enforceability:
We may lack the ability to enforce receivables collections contracts in foreign legal systems. &—Intellectual Property Risks: There is often reduced protection for, and enforcement of,



intellectual property rights in foreign markets. a—Political and Economic Instability: We are exposed to political and economic instability in regions where we currently sell or plan to expand
our product sales. &—Tax Consequences: We face complex and potentially adverse tax implications in different jurisdictions. &—Product Diversion: Products sold internationally at lower prices
may be diverted back to the United States, affecting our domestic sales. A 13 A A Most of our international sales are negotiated and paid in U.S. dollars. However, currency risks remain, as
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates can make our products comparatively more expensive. These exchange rate changes, along with general economic conditions in international markets,
could negatively impact our sales. To maintain competitive pricing, we may need to offer discounts or reduce prices, leading to lower margins on international sales. Continued changes in the
values of the Euro, the Mexican peso, and other foreign currencies could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. A We also have supply agreements with
foreign vendors that involve sharing foreign currency exchange fluctuation risks. We may enter into similar arrangements in the future. A A significant portion of our revenues comes from sales
to our distribution partner in China. Political tensions between the U.S. and China could disrupt or reduce our sales in the Chinese market, posing a substantial risk to our business. A Our
results of operations and financial conditions may be adversely affected by the financial soundness of our customers, distributors, and suppliers. A Our operational results and financial
condition are closely linked to the financial health of our customers, distributors, and suppliers. If any of these parties experience a deterioration in their financial performance or encounter
difficulties with scheduled payments or credit, it could have several adverse effects on our business. A For instance, if our customers are unable to pay or delay payment on accounts receivable,
this would negatively impact our cash flow. Similarly, if our suppliers face financial challenges, they may restrict credit, impose more stringent payment terms, reduce or cease production of
essential components, or even stop operations entirely. Such disruptions could directly affect our ability to procure necessary materials and maintain consistent product supply. A Moreover,
reductions in reimbursements or purchase volumes from state and federal government programs, or private payers, could also occur due to budget constraints or expenditure cuts. These
reductions could adversely impact our revenues and cash flow, further straining our financial performance. A The combined effect of these potential challenges could significantly influence our
operating results and financial stability. A We extend credit to customers outside the United States which can be difficult to collect. A We extend credit to many of our customers, including
those located outside the United States. Collecting receivables, particularly from international customers, can be challenging due to difficulties in obtaining reliable credit information and the
complexities of enforcing collections through foreign legal systems. If we are unable to effectively manage and collect on these receivables, especially from international customers, it could have
a detrimental impact on our financial performance and liquidity. A If we are not able to manage our growth strategy our operating results may be adversely affected. A Our business strategy
contemplates further growth, including scaling up our operational systems and entering new geographical markets, including those outside the United States. This growth strategy could place
additional demands on our limited employee and executive staff, potentially diverting their focus from core business activities. Furthermore, managing growth may strain our operational,
financial, and management information systems. A Expanding into new markets or undertaking acquisitions introduces several risks, such as higher costs, unfamiliar market conditions, and
integration challenges. Any difficulties in managing this growth or expanding effectively could adversely affect our operating results and financial performance. The strain on management
resources and potential inefficiencies in our systems could lead to operational and financial setbacks. A The industry and market segments in which we operate are highly competitive, and
intense competition with other providers of diagnostic products may reduce our sales and margins. A The diagnostic products industry and market segments in which we operate are highly
competitive. Our diagnostic tests face competition from similar products produced by numerous multinational and regional competitors who are heavily investing in competing technologies.
Additionally, some of our distributors have developed, or may develop, their own products to compete directly with ours. A 14 A A Many of our competitors have substantial competitive
advantages over us, including significantly greater financial, technical, and research resources. They also possess larger, more established marketing, sales, distribution, and service networks;
stronger relationships with healthcare professionals; and extensive experience in research and development, manufacturing, clinical trials, and regulatory approvals. Furthermore, some
competitors offer a broader range of products and enjoy greater brand recognition. A If our competitorsa€™ products prove to be more effective or capture market share through superior
marketing or competitive pricing, our sales and margins could suffer. This intense competition could materially and adversely affect our operating results. A Additionally, there has been a
noticeable trend towards industry consolidation in recent years, with companies merging to strengthen or maintain their market positions. This trend is expected to continue as companies strive
to adapt to the evolving industry landscape. Competing successfully in a consolidated industry may become increasingly challenging, and failure to do so could adversely impact our market
position and financial performance. A Intellectual property risks and third-party claims of infringement, misappropriation of proprietary rights, or other claims against us could adversely affect
our ability to market our products, require us to redesign our products or attempt to seek licenses from third parties, result in significant costs, and materially adversely affect our operating
results. A Companies in or related to our industry often aggressively protect and pursue their intellectual property rights. There are often intellectual property risks associated with developing
and producing new products and entering new markets, and we may not be able to obtain, at reasonable cost or upon commercially reasonable terms, if at all, licenses to intellectual property of
others that is alleged to be part of such new or existing products. A We rely on IP for the current products we sell and for the new products in research, development, and in clinical trials.
While the Company tries to protect its IP with confidentiality agreements and internal policies, we still face risks that our IP will be stolen or otherwise misappropriated, by parties inside or
outside of the United States. Further, we have filed many patents around the world on much of the research and development done by the Company, and the proposed products to come from
this research. The majority of these filed patents are still under review and have not yet been allowed or issued. We may not be able to attain patent claims that adequately protect the company
from competitors developing similar products or copying our products. Finally, there is a great number of issued patents owned by others that pertain to the product categories in which we
operate. While we do not know of any patents with claims that we are violating by manufacturing or selling our current products, there is a risk that certain third-party patents will come to our
attention that prohibit us from selling our products or that require us to pay royalty payments. Such third-party claims could have a material negative impact on the Company. Any of these IP-
related risks could cause material damage to future revenues and to the long-term enterprise values of the Company. A We have hired and will continue to hire individuals or contractors who
have experience in medical diagnostics and these individuals or contractors may have confidential trade secret or proprietary information of third parties. We cannot assure that these
individuals or contractors will not use this third-party information in connection with performing services for us or otherwise reveal this third-party information to us. Thus, we could be sued for
misappropriation of proprietary information and trade secrets. Such claims are expensive to defend and could divert our attention and result in substantial damage awards and injunctions that
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. In addition, to the extent that individuals or contractors apply technical or scientific
information independently developed by them to our projects, disputes may arise as to the proprietary rights to such data and may result in litigation. A The defense and prosecution of patent
and trade secret claims are both costly and time consuming. We or our customers may be sued by other parties that claim that our products have infringed their patents or misappropriated
their proprietary rights or that may seek to invalidate one or more of our patents. An adverse determination in any of these types of disputes could prevent us from manufacturing or selling
some of our products, limit or restrict the type of work that employees involved with such products may perform for us, increase our costs, and expose us to significant liability. In addition, the
defense of such claims could result in significant costs and divert the attention of our management and other key employees. A In addition to the foregoing, we may also be required to
indemnify some customers, distributors, and strategic partners under our agreements with such parties if a third party alleges or if a court finds that our products or activities have infringed
upon, misappropriated, or misused another persona€™s proprietary rights. Further, our products may contain technology provided to us by other parties such as contractors, suppliers, or
customers. We may have little or no ability to determine in advance whether such technology infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party. Our contractors, suppliers, and licensors
may not be required or financially able to indemnify us in the event that a claim of infringement is asserted against us, or they may be required to indemnify us only up to a maximum amount,
above which we would be responsible for any further costs or damages. A 15 A A Some of the products that we manufacture, sell, or use may be covered by claims in issued patents held by
other persons or entities, and as such, upon notice from such persons or entity, we may be required to pay a license fee or may be required to cease all manufacture, sale or use of such
products, which could negatively impact our financial results or operations. We cannot guarantee that such claims will not be made in the future. A We need to continue to raise additional
funds to finance our future capital or operating needs, which could have adverse consequences on our operations and the interests of our stockholders. A Although we currently generate
revenue, our company is operating at a loss due to significant investments in research and development and commercialization of newly developed products and from a slow launch in revenues
from our new products. To sustain and advance our business strategy, we must continue to raise additional funds to meet our capital and operating needs. This often involves seeking public or
private debt or issuing equity. Raising funds through equity can dilute the interests of our existing stockholders. A The availability of capital, whether through debt or equity, is subject to
fluctuations based on our financial condition and general market or industry conditions. There may be periods when private capital markets or public debt and equity markets lack liquidity, or
when we are unable to sell our securities at favorable prices. In such scenarios, accessing capital on favorable terms may become challenging. A Failure to secure adequate funding could force
us to delay, reduce, or even eliminate certain development programs or commercialization efforts. The costs associated with development projects and regulatory approvals can be
unpredictable and may exceed our initial estimates. As our current operations are insufficient to cover these unexpected costs, this could adversely impact our ability to execute our business
strategy and achieve our long-term goals. A Our business and products are highly regulated by various governmental agencies. Our results of operations would be negatively affected by
failures or delays in the receipt of regulatory approvals or clearances, the loss of previously received approvals, or other changes to the existing laws and regulations that adversely impact our
ability to manufacture and market our products. A The testing, manufacturing, and sale of our products are subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the United States,
principally the FDA, and corresponding state and foreign regulatory agencies. Our future performance depends on, among other matters, if, when, and at what cost we will receive regulatory
approval for new products, and if we can continue to comply with the many regulatory requirements that enable us to manufacture and sell medical related products and tests. Regulatory
review can be a lengthy, expensive, and uncertain process, making the timing and costs of clearances and approvals difficult to predict. Meeting all regulatory requirements, laws and mandates,
and maintaining compliance with such in order to manufacture and sell medical products can be difficult and expensive. Our results of operations would be negatively affected by failures or
delays in the receipt of regulatory approvals or clearances, the loss of previously received approvals or clearances, the placement of limits on the marketing and use of our products, and
restrictions on our ability to manufacture our products. A Changes in government policy could adversely affect our business and potential profitability. A Changes in government policy could
have a significant impact on our business by increasing the cost of doing business, affecting our ability to sell our products and negatively impacting our profitability. Such changes could
include tariffs, embargos, trade wars, modifications to existing legislation, such as U.S. tax policy, or entirely new legislation, such as the Affordable Healthcare Act in the United States. We
cannot predict the many ways that healthcare reform in the United States and internationally, and changing trade legislation and policies could adversely affect our business. It is unclear
whether and to what extent, if at all, other anticipated developments, including changes due to new presidential administration priorities, or changes resulting from healthcare reform, such as a
change in the number of people with health insurance, may impact us. A We are subject to numerous government regulations in addition to FDA regulations, and compliance with laws,
including changed or new laws, could increase our costs and adversely affect our operations. There is also the risk that our facilities could fail to get the proper licensing at our next inspection
or renewal. A In addition to FDA and other regulations referred to above, numerous laws relating to such matters as safe working conditions, manufacturing practices, data privacy,
environmental protection, fire hazard control, and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances impact our business operations. If these laws or their interpretation change or new
laws regulating any of our businesses are adopted, the costs of compliance with these laws could substantially increase our overall costs. Failure to comply with any laws, including laws
regulating the manufacture and marketing of our products, could result in substantial costs and loss of sales or customers. Because of the number and extent of the laws and regulations
affecting our industry, and the number of governmental agencies whose actions could affect our operations, it is impossible to reliably predict the full nature and impact of future legislation or
regulatory developments relating to our industry and our products. To the extent the costs and procedures associated with meeting new or changing requirements are substantial, our business,
results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected. A 16 A A Our total revenue could be affected by third-party reimbursement policies and potential cost constraints. A
The end-users of our products are primarily physicians, labs, and other healthcare providers. In the United States, healthcare providers such as hospitals and physicians who purchase
diagnostic products generally rely on third-party payers, principally private health insurance plans, federal Medicare, and state Medicaid, to reimburse all or part of the cost of the procedure.
Use of our products would be adversely impacted if physicians and other healthcare providers do not receive adequate reimbursement for the cost of our products by their patientsa€™ third-
party payers both in the United States and in foreign markets. Our total revenue could also be adversely affected by changes or trends in reimbursement policies of governmental or private
healthcare payers. We believe that the overall escalating cost of medical products and services has led to, and will continue to lead to, increased pressures on the healthcare industry, both
foreign and domestic, to reduce the cost of products and services. Given the efforts to control and reduce healthcare costs in recent years, currently available levels of reimbursement may not
continue to be available in the future for our existing products or products under development. Third-party reimbursement and coverage may not be available or adequate in either the United
States or foreign markets, current reimbursement amounts may be decreased in the future and future legislation, regulation, or reimbursement policies of third-party payers may reduce the
demand for our products or adversely impact our ability to sell our products on a profitable basis. A Unexpected increases in, or inability to meet, demand for our products could require us to
spend considerable resources to meet the demand or harm our reputation and customer relationships if we are unable to meet demand. A Our inability to meet customer demand for our
products, whether as a result of manufacturing problems or supply shortfalls, could harm our customer relationships and impair our reputation within the industry. In addition, our product
manufacturing of certain product lines is concentrated in our two manufacturing sites. Weather, natural disasters (including pandemics), fires, terrorism, political change, governmental
restrictions or stay-at-home orders in response to natural disasters (including pandemics), failure to follow specific internal protocols and procedures, equipment malfunction, environmental
factors, or damage to one or more of our facilities could adversely affect our ability to manufacture our products. This, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business. A If we
experience unexpected increases in the demand for our products, we may be required to expend additional capital resources or engage third-party manufacturers to meet these demands. These
capital resources could involve the cost of new machinery or even the cost of new manufacturing facilities. In addition, engaging third-party manufacturers would increase manufacturing costs
and reduce margins. This would increase our capital costs or third-party expenses, which could adversely affect our earnings and cash resources. If we are unable to develop or obtain necessary
manufacturing capabilities in a timely manner or to engage third-party manufacturers to meet demand, our total revenue could be adversely affected. Failure to cost-effectively increase
production volumes, if required, or lower than anticipated yields or production problems, including those encountered as a result of changes that we may make in our manufacturing processes
to meet increased demand or changes in applicable laws and regulations, could result in shipment delays as well as increased manufacturing costs, which could also have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. A Unexpected increases in demand for our products could also require us to obtain additional raw materials in order to
manufacture products to meet the demand. Some raw materials require significant ordering lead time and we may not be able to timely access sufficient raw materials in the event of an
unexpected increase in demand, particularly those obtained from a sole supplier or a limited group of suppliers. A If one or more of our products is claimed to be defective or does not meet the
performance criteria we claim in our marketing materials, we could be subject to product recalls, claims of liability, harm to patients or users of our products, or harm to our reputation that
could adversely affect our business. A A claim of a defect in the design or manufacture of our products could have a material adverse effect on our reputation in the industry and subject us to
claims of liability for injuries and otherwise. Further, a claim that one of our products is defective or does not actually meet the performance criteria we claim in our marketing materials, could
require a product recall or otherwise have a substantial impact on our revenues and financial performance. Any substantial underinsured loss resulting from such a claim or defect would have a
material adverse effect on our operating results and financial conditions and the damage to our reputation or product lines in the industry could have a material adverse effect on our business.
A 17 A A We are exposed to business risks which, if not covered by insurance, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. We face potential product liability exposure, and, if



claims brought against us are successful, we could incur substantial liabilities. A We face a number of business risks, including exposure to product liability claims, employment law claims,
claims that the Company or its officers, directors or employees have engaged in illegal or wrongful acts, claims of violation of environmental laws, and many other possible claims. Although we
maintain insurance for a number of these risks, we may face claims for types of damages, or for amounts of damages, that are not covered by our insurance. For example, although we currently
carry product liability insurance for liability losses, there is a risk that product liability or other claims may exceed the amount of our insurance coverage or may be excluded from coverage
under the terms of our policy. Also, our existing insurance may not be renewed at the same cost and level of coverage as currently in effect or may not be renewed at all. Further, we do not
currently have insurance against many environmental risks we confront in our business. If we are held liable for a claim against which we are not insured or for damages exceeding the limits of
our insurance coverage, that claim could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations. A Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and
results of studies and trials may not be predictive of future trial results. A Clinical trials are expensive, time consuming, and difficult to design and implement. Regulatory agencies may analyze
or interpret the results differently than we do. Even if the results of our clinical trials are favorable, the clinical trials for a number of our product candidates may take a significant amount of
time to complete. Regulatory authorities, including state and local authorities, may suspend, delay or terminate our clinical trials at any time, require us to conduct additional clinical trials,
require a particular clinical trial to continue for a longer duration than originally planned, or require a change to our development plans such that we conduct clinical trials for a product
candidate in a different order. There is no assurance that the results of the clinical trials will be positive. A negative clinical trial could affect our ability to obtain regulatory clearances and/or
potential licensing partners. There is also no assurance that our clinical trials will not be delayed or will be completed. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. A We may rely on third parties to conduct or be part of our clinical trials. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties
or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to seek or obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product candidates. A We rely on third-party contract research organizations
(&€0eCROsa€), universities or/clinical sites (a&€ceVendorsa€), to coordinate, monitor and conduct of our clinical trials and to manage, analyze, and interpret data for our clinical programs. We,
our Vendors, and our clinical sites are required to comply with current Good Clinical Practices (a€eGCPsa€), regulations, and guidelines issued by the FDA and by similar governmental
authorities in other countries where we are conducting clinical trials. We have an ongoing obligation to monitor the activities conducted by our Vendors and at our clinical sites to confirm
compliance with these requirements. In the future, if we, our Vendors or our clinical sites fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed
unreliable and the FDA may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. If our Vendors do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or
obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to adhere to our clinical
protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our product candidates. As a result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase, and our ability to
generate revenue could be delayed. A Failures in our information technology and storage systems or data security breaches could significantly disrupt our business or force us to expend
excessive costs. A Failures in our information technology and storage systems, many of which are outsourced to third parties, could significantly disrupt our business and incur excessive costs.
A We rely on complex information technology systems, many of which are outsourced to third-party providers, to support our business operations and store critical information. Our dependence
on these third parties means that we are reliant on their performance, security measures, and ability to meet our business needs. Any failures or disruptions in the services provided by these
third-party vendors could result in excessive costs or significant disruptions to our business operations. A 18 A A Specifically, any disruptions, delays, or deficiencies caused by our enterprise
resource planning system or other outsourced systems could negatively impact our ability to process orders, ship products, provide services and customer support, send invoices, track
payments, fulfill contractual obligations, and maintain overall business operations. A Despite our and our vendorsa€™ implementation of security measures, information technology systems
remain vulnerable to damage from various sources, including computer viruses, unauthorized access, telecommunications or network failures, malicious human acts, terrorism, and natural
disasters. Moreover, despite network security and backup measures, some of our servers and those of our vendors may still be susceptible to physical or electronic break-ins, computer viruses,
and similar disruptive issues. Cybersecurity risks are escalating and pose significant threats to our operations. Cyber-attacks could result in the loss of vital company documentation and data, or
confidential third-party documents held by the company, essential for our operations. A Despite precautionary measures to prevent unforeseen problems, sustained or repeated system failures
that interrupt our ability to generate and maintain data could materially disrupt our operations and lead to significant financial costs. Furthermore, any disruption or security breach resulting in
data loss or damage, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, could result in regulatory actions, litigation, fines or penalties, adverse publicity, increased
cybersecurity protection costs, and lost revenue. A There is also a risk that our measures and those of our third-party vendors to protect our systems from cyber-attacks may not be sufficient to
prevent attacks by new sources and methods. A Our business could be negatively affected by the loss of or the inability to hire key personnel. A Our future success is heavily dependent on our
ability to retain key technical, sales, marketing, and executive personnel, as well as our capacity to identify and recruit additional qualified individuals. The competition for talent is intense, both
within our industry and in the regions where we operate. As we anticipate growth in our operations, our need for additional management and other key personnel is expected to increase.
Failure to retain our existing key personnel or to promptly identify and hire qualified replacements or additional staff to support our growth could have a detrimental impact on our business.
Additionally, the loss of any key personnel, particularly in research and development, could significantly harm our business, hinder our prospects, and obstruct the achievement of our research,
operational, or strategic objectives. A In response to the need to reduce ongoing operating costs, we have recently implemented a substantial reduction in our workforce. This reduction places
an increased workload on the remaining employees and may create concerns about job security. These factors could lead to the loss of key employees, who are critical to our future success, and
may make it difficult to attract and retain new talent in these roles. A Sales of our common stock in the public market could lower the market price for our common stock and adversely impact
the trading price of our securities. A Future sales by the Company of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales may occur,
could adversely affect the then prevailing market price of our common stock and could make it more difficult for us to raise funds in the future through a public offering of our securities. A On
July 21, 2020, we filed with the SEC a &€ceshelfa€ registration statement on Form S-3. The registration statement registers common shares that may be issued by the Company in a maximum
aggregate amount of up to $90,000,000. Shares of our common stock may be sold from time to time under this registration statement for up to three years from the filing date. On January 22,
2021, we filed a prospectus supplement for the sale of up to $15,000,000 of shares of our common stock in an at-the-market (4€0eATMAa€) offering under the shelf registration statement, of
which approximately $5,290,000 were sold under the ATM. In March 2023, we terminated the ATM offering and sold 3,333,333 shares of our common stock in a firm commitment public
offering under the shelf registration statement. Shares sold in the underwritten public offering were sold at a gross sales price of $2.40 per share, resulting in net proceeds from the offering,
after deducting issuance fees and expenses, of approximately $7,300,000. At fiscal year-end 2023, the Company did not have an open ATM offering in place. A 19 A A On September 28, 2023,
we filed a 4€ceshelfa€ registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, allowing the Company to issue up to $20,000,000 in common shares. Under this registration statement, shares of our
common stock may be sold from time to time for up to three years from the filing date. On May 10, 2024, we filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC, as part of the registration statement
filed on September 28, 2023, which was declared effective on September 29, 2023. This supplement was intended to facilitate the sale of up to $5,500,000 in common stock through ATM
offerings, as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act. A The issuance of additional shares of our common stock, or other securities, could dilute our existing stockholdersa€™ ownership
interests, potentially depress the market price of our common stock, and impair our ability to raise capital through future equity sales. The size and impact of future issuances on the market
price of our common stock cannot be predicted. A We also have a number of stockholders who own large blocks of our common stock. If one or more of these stockholders were to sell large
portions of their holdings in a relatively short time, for liquidity or other reasons, the prevailing market price of shares of our common stock could be negatively affected. A The price of our
stock may fluctuate unpredictably in response to factors unrelated to our operating performance. A The stock market can experience significant price and volume fluctuations that are
unrelated to the operating performance of individual companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the market price of our common stock to drop. In particular, our common stock has
historically been volatile and may continue to be unpredictable in the future. Factors that could cause fluctuations in our stock price include, but are not limited to: A &—Announcements by us
or our competitors concerning technological innovations or new product introductions. &——Regulatory actions or changes, including those by the FDA, SEC, or international regulatory bodies. &
—Developments or disputes related to patents or proprietary rights. &—Failure to meet the expectations of stock market analysts and investors. &—Reporting material weaknesses in our
internal controls. a—Changes in stock market analyst recommendations or financial estimates regarding our common stock. a—Shifts in healthcare policy in the United States or other
countries. &—Lawsuits or liability claims from shareholders or other parties. &—Legal disputes related to intellectual property or other significant litigation. &—Possible recalls of our products or
reports of false positive/negative results. &—Sales of our common stock or other securities by us or our stockholders. a—Changes in trading volume of our common stock. &—Variations in
quarterly operating results, whether actual or anticipated. a—Publication of research reports about us or our industry, or changes in securities analystsa€™ recommendations. a—Effects of
natural or man-made catastrophic events, including widespread health epidemics. &—General stock market conditions and other factors unrelated to our operating performance. a—Volatility
and disruptions in capital and credit markets due to economic conditions such as rising inflation and interest rates. &—Geopolitical events, such as wars or political unrest, that impact the
markets in which we operate. A——Changes in the macroeconomic environment that affect market conditions. A Additionally, due to the limited trading volume of our common stock, substantial
sales of our stock could adversely impact its market price. While our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market since August 26, 2016, liquidity may be limited, and it could
be challenging to liquidate large positions without adversely affecting the stock price. A The Company is not currently in compliance with the continued listing requirements for The Nasdaq
Stock Market. If the Company does not regain compliance and continue to meet the continued listing requirements, our Common Stock may be delisted, which could affect the market price and
liquidity for the Companya€™s Common Stock and reduce the Companya€™s ability to raise additional capital. A The Company received a letter from the Listing Qualifications Staff of the
Nasdaq Stock Market, LLC (4€ceNasdaqa€) on or about May 7, 2024, that the Company is not in compliance with the requirement to maintainA a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share for 30
consecutive trading days for continued listing on Nasdaq, as set forth in Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (the &€ceMinimum Bid Price Requirementa€). Since the receipt of this notice from
Nasdaq, the Companya€™s stock has not closed with a bid traded above $1.00 per common share. A 20 A A The Notice indicated the Company has 180 calendar days, or until November 4,
2024 (the 4€ceCompliance Perioda€), to regain compliance with the Rule. If at any time during the Compliance Period the closing bid price of the Companya€™s common stock is at least $1.00
for a minimum of ten consecutive business days, then the Company will regain compliance. If the Company fails to regain compliance during the Compliance Period, Nasdaq may grant the
Company additional time to regain compliance (the &€ceAdditional Compliance Perioda€). To qualify for the Additional Compliance Period, the Company will be required to meet the continued
listing requirement for market value of publicly held shares and all other initial listing standards for The Nasdaq Capital Market, with the exception of the bid price requirement, and will need
to provide written notice of its intention to cure the deficiency during the Additional Compliance Period. If the Company does not meet these requirements or it appears to Nasdaq that the
Company will not be able to cure the deficiency during the Additional Compliance Period, then Nasdaq will provide notice to the Company that its common stock will be subject to delisting. A
When a company receives such delisting notice, the company can request a hearing before a Nasdaq hearings panel (the 4€cePanela€). If the Common Stock closes at or below $0.10 for ten
consecutive days during the Compliance Period or any additional compliance period, the Company could receive a Staff Delisting Determination during the Compliance Period or any additional
compliance period or, if the Company receives such Staff Delisting Determination, Nasdaqg may not grant the Companya€™s request for a hearing, or if Nasdaq grants the Companya€™s
request for a hearing, the Panel may not grant the Companya€™s request for continued listing of the Common Stock on The Nasdaq Capital Market pending the Companya€™s compliance with
all applicable listing criteria, including the Minimum Bid Price Requirement, or the Company may be unable to timely satisfy the terms of any extension that may be granted by the Panel. A The
Company will continue to monitor the closing bid price of its Class A Common Stock and seek to regain compliance with all applicable Nasdaq requirements within the allotted compliance
periods and may, if appropriate, consider available options, including implementation of a reverse stock split, to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price Requirement or the Low Priced
Stocks Rule, as applicable. A The Company may fail to regain compliance with the Minimum Bid Price requirement during the Compliance Period or maintain compliance with the other Nasdaq
listing requirements. Any non-compliance may be costly, divert managementa€™s time and attention, and could have a material adverse effect on the Companya€™s business, reputation,
financing, and results of operation A delisting could substantially decrease trading in the Common Stock, adversely affect the market liquidity of the Common Stock as a result of the loss of
market efficiencies associated with Nasdaq and the loss of federal pre-emption of state securities laws, materially adversely affect its ability to obtain financing on acceptable terms, if at all, and
may result in the potential loss of confidence by investors, suppliers, customers and employees and fewer business development opportunities. Additionally, the market price of the Common
Stock may decline further and stockholders may lose some or all of their investment. A Our ability to use our net operating loss carry forwards in the future may be subject to limitation. A
Although we have Federal income tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $24,384,000 and California state income tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately
$22,014,000, as of May 31, 2024, use of these loss carryforwards will depend on future income in relationship to expirations dates of these carryforwards. A ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF
COMMENTS A None. A ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY A We have implemented and maintain an information security program designed to identify, assess, and manage material risks from
cybersecurity threats to our critical computer networks, third party hosted services, communications systems, hardware and software, and our critical data including intellectual property,
clinical trial participant and patient-related data, and confidential information that is proprietary, strategic or competitive in nature, or collectively, Information Systems and Data. A 21 A A
Our cybersecurity threat risk management processes include the following, among others: A &—We have strategically integrated cybersecurity risk management into our broader risk
management framework to promote a company-wide culture of cybersecurity risk management particularly since we utilize a third-party IT managed services vendor. This integration ensures
that cybersecurity considerations are an integral part of our decision-making processes at every level. Our management team works closely with our IT department and our IT managed services
to continuously evaluate and address cybersecurity risks in alignment with our business objectives and operational needs. A A A a—Our IT managed services vendor implements and maintains
various technical, and organizational measures, processes, standards and policies designed to manage and mitigate material risks from cybersecurity threats to our Information Systems and
Data, including, for example: information security policies, network and device security, encryption standards, incident response plans, disaster recovery plans, risk management, vulnerability
detection as well as security tools such as firewalls, malware protection tools, secure authentication tools, centralized logging and monitoring tools, threat intelligence tools, and data protection
tools. AA A a—We maintain continuous oversight through regular monitoring, which includes annual evaluations of Service Organization Control (SOC) reports for our providers and the
implementation of additional complementary controls as needed. This proactive approach is designed to mitigate risks related to data breaches or other security incidents that could originate
from third-party interactions.A A The Board of Directors oversees cybersecurity risk management, including the practices that management implements to prevent, detect and address risks
from cybersecurity threats. The Board of Directors receives regular quarterly briefings on cybersecurity risks including any cybersecurity incidents or threats that may occur or have occurred
from the CFO. The Board of Directors may also promptly receive information regarding any material cybersecurity incident that may occur, including any ongoing updates regarding the same.
A For a description of the risks from cybersecurity threats that may materially affect us and how those risks may affect us see &€ceFailures in our information technology and storage systems or
data security breaches could significantly disrupt our business or force us to expend excessive costsa€ under Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A ITEM 2.
PROPERTIES A The Company leases its facilities. On May 31, 2024, the Company had approximately 22,000 square feet of floor space at its corporate headquarters at 17571 Von Karman
Avenue in Irvine, California, 92614 which it has been leasing since 2009. This lease was scheduled to expire on August 31, 2016, but the Company had an option to extend the term of its lease
for two additional sixty-month periods. On November 30, 2015, the Company exercised its option to extend its lease for an additional sixty-month period and entered into the First Amendment



to Lease wherein it extended its lease until August 31, 2021. On April 9, 2021, the Company exercised its second option to extend its lease for an additional five years. When the Company
extended its lease in April 2021, it was also granted an additional five- year lease extension option. The current rent is approximately $27,000 per month and will increase on September 1, 2024,
to $28,000 per month. The security deposit is approximately $22,000. A In November 2016, the Companya€™s Mexican subsidiary, Biomerica de Mexico, entered into a 10-year lease for
approximately 8,100 square feet of manufacturing space located in Mexicali, Mexico. The Company has one 10-year option to renew at the end of the initial lease period. The current rent is
approximately $3,100 per month. Biomerica de Mexico also leases a smaller unit on a month-to-month basis for use in one manufacturing process. In addition, the Company leases a small office
in Lindau, Germany on a month-to-month basis, as headquarters for BioEurope GmbH, its Germany subsidiary. A We believe our space is adequate for our current needs. A ITEM 3. LEGAL
PROCEEDINGS A From time to time, the Company is involved in legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business, which may impact its financial results. A As
of May 31, 2024, there were no pending legal proceedings. However, the outcome of any future legal matters, claims, or litigation could potentially have a material adverse effect on the
Companya€™s quarterly or annual operating results or cash flows when resolved in subsequent periods. Nonetheless, based on current information, management believes these matters will not
have a material adverse effect on the Companya€™s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. A ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES A Not applicable. A 22 A A
PART I A ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES A The Companya€™s common stock is
listed for trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market stock exchange under the symbol BMRA. As of August 28, 2024, the number of holders of record of Biomericad€™s common stock was
approximately 850, excluding stock held in street name. The number of record holders does not bear any relationship to the number of beneficial owners of the common stock as most of the
Companya€™s common stock is held in street name at securities brokerage firms. A The Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock in the past and does not plan to pay any
cash dividends on its common stock in the foreseeable future. The Company intends, for the foreseeable future, to retain any earnings to finance the continued operation and expansion of the
Companya€™ s business. A We did not purchase any of our shares of common stock or other securities during our fiscal year ended May 31, 2024. A The table below provides information
relating to our equity compensation plans as of May 31, 2024: A Securities Plan CategoryA Number of Securities A to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding OptionsA A Compensation Plans
Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding OptlonsA A Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Compensation PlansA Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Securities HoldersA A 3,479,616A A $2.53A A A 89,801A A ITEM 6. RESERVED A Not required. A ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT&A€™S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS A You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes thereto
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Report. This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that are based on our managementa€™s current beliefs and assumptions, which
statements are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements as a result of many
factors, including those discussed in &€eeRisk Factorsa€ included in Part I, Item 1A of this Report. A OVERVIEW A Biomerica, Inc. and its subsidiaries (which includes wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Biomerica de Mexico and BioEurope GmbH), is a global biomedical technology company that develops, patents, manufactures and markets advanced diagnostic and therapeutic
products. Our diagnostic test kits are used to analyze blood, urine, nasal or fecal material from patients in the diagnosis of various diseases, food intolerances and other medical complications,
or to measure the level of specific hormones, antibodies, antigens or other substances, which may exist in the human body in extremely small concentrations. The Companya€ ™s products are
designed to enhance the health and well-being of people, while reducing total healthcare costs. A 23 A A Our extensive range of medical diagnostic products is sold worldwide, primarily in two
markets: clinical laboratories and point-of-care settings, including physiciansa€™ offices and over-the-counter sales at major retailers such as Walmart, CVS Pharmacy, and Amazon. Our
diagnostic test kits analyze blood, urine, nasal, or fecal specimens from patients to diagnose various diseases, food intolerances, and other medical conditions. They measure or detect the
presence and levels of specific bacteria, hormones, antibodies, antigens, and other substances in the body, often in extremely small concentrations. Most of our products are Conformite
Europeenne (4€ceCE4&€) marked and/or registered with regulatory agencies in various countries for diagnostic use, with several also cleared for sale in the United States by the FDA. A Due to
the global SARS-CoV-2 novel coronavirus (a€ceCOVID-19a€) pandemic, we began developing, marketing, and selling COVID-19 diagnostic tests in March 2020. We started selling these tests in
fiscal 2021, generating significant revenues during fiscal 2021 and 2022. However, we experienced a substantial drop in sales in fiscal 2023, followed by no sales of our COVID-19-related
products in fiscal 2024 due to falling demand. Consequently, our COVID-19 product sales have caused significant fluctuations in our revenues over the past four years. A In contrast, our non-
COVID-19 products, which accounted for approximately 100% and 96% of our revenues during the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively, and have been our core focus. A
Technological advances in medical diagnostics have enabled diagnostic tests to be performed not only in clinical laboratories but also at home and at the point-of-care in physiciansa€™ offices.
One of our key objectives has been to develop and market rapid diagnostic tests that are accurate, utilize easily obtained patient specimens, and are simple to perform without the need for
complex instrumentation. Our over-the-counter (home use) and professional use (physiciansa€™ office, clinics, etc.) rapid diagnostic test products help manage existing medical conditions and
may save lives through early detection and diagnosis of specific diseases. Traditionally, such tests required the expertise of medical technologists and sophisticated equipment, with results often
not available for days. We believe that rapid point-of-care tests, when properly developed and used, can be as accurate as laboratory tests. They require limited to no instrumentation, deliver
reliable results in minutes, and can be performed with confidence in the home or physiciana€™s office. A We invest considerable resources in the research and development of new products
designed to diagnose and, in some cases, treat several major medical diseases. These products are both internally developed and obtained licensed from others. Our experienced and highly
trained technical personnel, including Ph.D. holders and other scientists, are dedicated to developing new products and managing technology transfer activities. Our technical staff, many of
whom have extensive experience from previous employment at large diagnostic manufacturing companies, bring a wealth of industry knowledge. Additionally, we rely on our Scientific Advisory
Board, comprised of leading medical doctors and clinicians, to guide our clinical studies and product development efforts. A A key outcome of our recent research and development efforts is
our patented diagnostic-guided therapy (4€ceDGTAa€) product, developed on the inFoodsA® technology platform. This innovative product is designed to treat gastrointestinal conditions such as
irritable bowel syndrome (4€ceIBSa€) and other inflammatory diseases, targeting chronicA inflammatory illnesses that are widespread and prevalent in large markets. We have launched the
inFoodsA® IBS product, which leverages this patented technology. A The inFoodsA® IBS product utilizes a simple blood test to identify patient-specific foods that, when eliminated from the
diet, may alleviate IBS symptoms such as pain, bloating, diarrhea, cramping, and constipation. Unlike broad and difficult-to-manage dietary restrictions, the inFoodsA® IBS product pinpoints a
patienta€™s heightened immunoreactivity to specific foods known to frequently trigger IBS symptoms. By removing the foods identified as problematic, patients can achieve relief from their
IBS symptoms. A We have launched our inFoodsA® product across numerous gastroenterology (4€ceGIa€) physician groups in various states and regions, including collaboration with one of
the largest GI groups in the U.S. Feedback from GI specialty physicians have generally been positive, and we are actively expanding our network by onboarding additional physician practices.
These GI practices are beginning to prescribe inFoodsA® IBS to their patients. Our dedicated sales team is deepening relationships within the GI segment and strategically targeting
opportunities to introduce inFoodsA® to other medical specialties. By leveraging their expertise and building strong partnerships, our sales team is now working to engage with key physician
groups outside the GI field such as integrated health practices and primary-care general practitioners. These efforts aim to broaden our market reach and enhance the overall adoption of
inFoodsA® across various healthcare sectors and to capitalize on the distinct advantages of inFoodsA® for a strong foundation of meaningful growth in the future. We are also continuing to
evaluate distribution, partnership and licensing opportunities with U.S. and multinational companies, which have the potential to significantly aid in the commercialization and accelerated
growth of inFoodsA® products both domestically and internationally. A 24 A A Beyond our inFoodsA® product line, our additional efforts have led to a significant milestone by receiving FDA
clearance in December 2023 for hp+detectd, ¢, a new diagnostic test for detecting Helicobacter pylori (a4€ceH. pyloria€) bacteria in the gastrointestinal tract. H. pylori is a widespread infection,
affecting an estimated 35% of the U.S. population and 45% of the population in Europea€™s five largest countries. This bacterium is recognized as the strongest known risk factor for gastric
cancer, which is the third most common cause of cancer-related deaths globally. A The hp+detecta, ¢ test provides physicians and medical centers with a reliable tool for diagnosing H. pylori
infections and monitoring the effectiveness and safety of treatments. The diagnostic test is marketed directly to laboratories, where patient samples are analyzed, and diagnoses are made. To
support the launch and distribution of hp+detectd, ¢, we are actively promoting the test to large end-customer labs. This strategic initiative aims to enhance patient care by enabling timely and
accurate detection of H. pylori infections. A Due to slower-than-expected launch of the Companya€™s key products, inFoodsA® IBS and hp+detecta, ¢, the Company has initiated significant
cost-cutting measures to extend its cash runway and work towards increasing revenues to cover overhead costs. These measures include a workforce reduction of nearly 15%. In addition, the
Company is actively exploring strategic opportunities to enhance and create shareholder value. A RESULTS OF OPERATIONS A Net Sales and Cost of Sales A The following is a breakdown of
revenues according to markets to which the products are sold: A A A Year Ended May 31,A A Increase (Decrease)A A A 2024A A 2023A A $A A %A Clinical labA $3,236,000A A
$3,310,000A A $(74,000)A A -2% Over-the-counterA A 1,426,000A A A 1,169,000A A A 257,000A A A 22% Contract manufacturingA A 741,000A A A 610,000A A A 131,000AA A 21%
Physiciana€™s officeA A 12,000A A A 250,000A A A (238,000)A A -95% TotalA $5,415,000A A $5,339,000A A $76,000A A A 1% A For fiscal 2024, our net sales were approximately
$5,415,000, representing an increase of $76,000, or 1%, compared to $5,339,000 for fiscal 2023. When comparing fiscal 2024 net sales excluding COVID-19 test sales from fiscal 2023, there is
an increase of $290,000, or 5%. This growth was primarily attributable to the $257,000 increase in OTC Product sales that were within the UAE market, reflecting stronger demand and
expanded distribution channels in the region. Additionally, a $131,000 increase in revenues from Contract Manufacturing projects contributed positively to our overall sales performance. These
increases were partially offset by a $214,000 decline in sales of COVID-19 tests as the global pandemic situation stabilized. A Consolidated cost of sales for fiscal 2024 was approximately
$4,804,000, or 89% of net sales, compared to $4,893,000, or 92% of net sales, for fiscal 2023, reflecting a slight decrease of $89,000, or 2%. The decrease was primarily driven by a $171,000
reduction due to the absence of COVID-related sales. However, this decline was partially offset by a $32,000 increase in OTC product costs and a $56,000 rise in contract manufacturing costs,
reflecting higher sales in both categories during fiscal year 2024. A ‘Operating Expenses A The following is a summary of operating expenses: A A A Year Ended May 31, AA AAA AA AA
2024A A 2023A A Increase (Decrease)A A A Operating ExpenseA A As a % of Total RevenuesA A Operating ExpenseA A As a % of Total RevenuesA A $A A %A Selling, General and
Administrative ExpensesA $5,487,000AA AAAAA 101%A $6,085,000A A AAAAA114%A $(598,000)A A -10% Research and DevelopmentA $1,491,000A A A 28%A $1,584,000A A

A 30%A $(93,000)A A-6% A 25A A Selling, General and Administrative Expenses A Our selling, general, and administrative expenses were approximately $5,487,000 for fiscal 2024,
compared to $6,085,000 for fiscal 2023, a decrease of $598,000, or 10%. The reduction in fiscal 2024 was primarily due to decreases of $822,000 in legal expenses, $399,000 in bad debt
expenses, and $247,000 in share-based compensation. These significant operating expense reductions were partially offset by strategic investments in key areas of our business, including a
$535,000 expansion of our sales team, a $136,000 increase in sales commission expenses, and a $171,000 increase in outside services for sales and administration. Despite these increases, the
overall cost reductions from the previous year underscore our commitment to strategically allocating capital and maintaining financial discipline while pursuing growth opportunities. A
Research and Development A Our research and development expenses were approximately $1,491,000 for fiscal 2024 compared to $1,584,000 for fiscal 2023, a decrease of $93,000, or 6%.
The decrease in fiscal 2024 was primarily driven by a reduction in share-based compensation expenses, which decreased by $45,000, and cost optimizations in our inFoodsA® R&D projects,
resulting in savings of $47,000. For a detailed discussion of our ongoing research initiatives and their potential market impacts, please refer to the 4€"Research and Developmenta€™ section in
Item 1. A Dividend and Interest income A Dividend and interest income for fiscal 2024 and 2023 was approximately $431,000 and $133,000, respectively. The $298,000 increase was primarily
driven by higher market interest rates on our cash and cash equivalents. A LIQUIDITY, CAPITAL RESOURCES AND GOING CONCERN A The following are the principal sources of liquidity: A
A A Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Cash and cash equivalentsA $4,170,000A A $9,719,000A Working capital including cash and cash equivalentsA $5,527,000A A
$10,852,000A A As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $4,170,000 and $9,719,000, respectively. As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the
Company had working capital of approximately $5,527,000 and $10,852,000, respectively. A The Companya€™s ability to continue as a going concern over the next twelve months is influenced
by several factors, including: A &—Our need and ability to generate additional revenue from international opportunities and our new product launches; &—Our need to access the capital and
debt markets to meet current obligations and fund operations; &—Our capacity to manage operating expenses and maintain gross margins as we grow; and a—Our ability to retain key
employees and maintain critical operations with a substantially reduced workforce. A Management has analyzed the Companya€™s cash flow requirements through August 2025 and beyond.
Based on this analysis, we believe our current cash and cash equivalents are insufficient to meet our operating cash requirements and strategic growth objectives for the next twelve months. A
To address our capital needs and sustain operations beyond the next year, we are actively pursuing strategies to increase sales, reduce expenses, sell non-core assets, seek additional financing
through debt or equity, and seek other strategic alternatives. A As part of our efforts to reduce costs, we have initiated significant cost-cutting measures to extend our cash runway and work
towards increasing revenues to cover overhead costs. These measures include a workforce reduction of nearly 15% and a substantial reduction in other operating expenses. A As part of our
financing plan, on September 28, 2023, we filed a a€ceshelfa€ registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, allowing the Company to issue up to $20,000,000 in common shares. Under this
registration statement, shares of our common stock may be sold from time to time for up to three years from the filing date. On May 10, 2024, the Company filed a prospectus supplement with
the SEC, as part of the registration statement filed on September 28, 2023, which was declared effective on September 29, 2023. This supplement was intended to facilitate the sale of up to
$5,500,000 in common stock through ATM offerings, as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act. As part of this transaction, the Company incurred $81,000 in deferred offering costs. The
amount of capital that we can raise under the ATM offering is highly dependent upon the trading volume and the trading price of our stock. The average trading volume of our stock over the
last three full calendar months is approximately 229,000 shares per day and the high and low trading price of our stock during the same period of time was $1.25 and $0.50, respectively. If our
stock continues to trade at low volumes and price, the amount of capital that we can raise under the ATM offering will be constrained. A The Company intends to use the net proceeds from this
offering for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, sales and marketing activities, clinical studies and product development, acquisitions of assets, businesses, companies, or
securities, capital expenditures, and working capital needs. A While we are committed to these plans, there is no assurance that these efforts will be successful or sufficient to meet our capital
requirements. A These factors raise substantial doubt about the Companya€™s ability to continue as a going concern. Our future viability depends on the successful execution of our strategic
plans, securing additional financing, and achieving profitable operations. A In addition, our business is subject to additional risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those
described in Item 1A. 4€ceRisk Factorsa€. A 26 A A Operating Activities A During fiscal 2024, cash used in operating activities was approximately $5,361,000, compared to $5,474,000 for
fiscal 2023. The primary factors contributing to this were a loss of approximately $5,978,000, a decrease in inventory reserves of $205,000, an increase in accounts receivable of $215,000, an
increase in inventories of $115,000 and a decrease in lease liability of $297,000. These were partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $246,000, and non-cash
expenses of approximately $1,211,000. A During fiscal 2023, cash used in operating activities was approximately $5,474,000. The primary factors that contributed to this were a loss of
approximately $7,140,000, an increase in accounts receivable of $291,000, a decrease in inventory reserves of $174,000, and a decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $80,000
and a decrease in lease liability of $297,000. These were partially offset by an increase in the allowance on accounts receivable of $342,000, a decrease in inventories of $534,000, and non-cash
expenses of approximately $1,536,000. A Investing Activities A During fiscal 2024, cash used in investing activities was approximately $115,000, as compared to $78,000 for fiscal 2023.
During fiscal 2024, the Company purchased approximately $51,000 of property and equipment and had $64,000 in expenditures related to patents. During fiscal 2023, the Company purchased
approximately $64,000 of property and equipment and had $14,000 in expenditures related to patents. A Financing Activities A Cash used in financing activities for fiscal 2024 was
approximately $81,000, compared to cash provided by financing activities of $9,390,000 in fiscal 2023. In fiscal 2024, the Company did not receive any proceeds from the exercise of stock
options, whereas in fiscal 2023, the Company received approximately $81,000 from such exercises. A During fiscal 2024 and 2023, the Company received approximately $0 and $9,309,000,



respectively, in net proceeds from the sale of common stock. The common stock sold and issued in fiscal 2023 was issued under the Companya€™s shelf registration statement filed with the
SEC on July 21, 2020 (the 4€022020 Shelf Registration Statementa€) and declared effective by the SEC on September 30, 2020, and under the prospectus supplement filed with the SEC on
January 22, 2021 (4€0e2021 Prospectus Supplementa€), and the prospectus supplement filed in conjunction with the Companya€™ s underwritten public offering of common shares on March 7,
2023 (the 4€e2023 Prospectus Supplementa€) (See Shareholdersa€™ Equity in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further details about SEC registration statements). The
2020 Shelf Registration Statement registers common shares that may be issued by the Company in a maximum aggregate amount of up to $90,000,000. On January 22, 2021, we filed the 2021
Prospectus Supplement for the sale of up to $15,000,000 of shares of our common stock in an at-the-market offering under the 2020 Shelf Registration Statement, of which $5,290,000 was
issued through March 7, 2023. A In March 2023, we terminated the at-the-market offering and sold 3,333,333 shares of our common stock in a firm commitment public offering under the 2020
Shelf Registration Statement at a price to the public of $2.40 per share, for total gross proceeds of $8,000,000, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering-
related expenses payable by the Company. A As of August 28, 2024, the date on which this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024, is filed with the SEC, our 2023
Registration Statement remains subject to the offering limits set forth in General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 because our public float is less than $75 million. For so long as the Companya€™s
public float is less than $75 million, the aggregate market value of securities sold by the Company under the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to Instruction I.B.6 to Form S-3 during
any 12 consecutive months may not exceed one-third of the Companya€™s public float. We have not sold any of our common stock pursuant to General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3 in the 12
calendar months preceding the date of filing this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For purposes of this limitation, the aggregate market value of our outstanding common stock held by non-
affiliates, or public float, was $7,037,587, based on 15,639,082 non-restricted shares of our outstanding common stock held by non-affiliates and a price of $0.45 per share, which was the price
at which our common stock was last sold on the Nasdaq Capital Market on July 2, 2024 (a date within 60 days of the date hereof), calculated in accordance with General Instruction I.B.6 of
Form S-3. After giving effect to the $2,345,862 offering limit imposed by General Instruction I.B.6 of Form S-3, and after deducting the shares we sold within the preceding 12 months, as of the
date of filing this Annual Report, we may sell $2,345,862 shares of our common stock at this time under the 2023 Shelf Registration Statement. A 27 A’ A SUBSEQUENT EVENTS A As part of
our ongoing efforts to reduce costs, we have implemented significant cost-cutting measures, including a workforce reduction of nearly 15% in July 2024. A OFF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS A
There were no off-balance sheet arrangements as of May 31, 2024. A CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES A The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Such estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ
materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We continue to monitor significant estimates made during the preparation of our financial statements. On an ongoing
basis, we evaluate estimates and assumptions based upon historical experience and various other factors and circumstances. We believe our estimates and assumptions are reasonable under
the current conditions; however, actual results may differ from these estimates under different future conditions. A We believe that the estimates and assumptions that are most important to
the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations, in that they require subjective or complex judgments, form the basis for the accounting policies deemed to be most critical to
us. These relate to revenue recognition, inventory overhead application, inventory reserve and share based compensation. We believe estimates and assumptions related to these critical
accounting policies are appropriate under the circumstances; however, should future events or occurrences result in unanticipated consequences, there could be a material impact on our future
financial conditions or results of operations. We suggest that our significant accounting policies be read in conjunction with this Management&€™s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations. Please refer to Note 2 of the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements for information on Significant Accounting Policies. A REVENUE
RECOGNITION A The Company has various contracts with customers, and these contracts specify the recognition of revenue based on the nature of the transaction. A Revenues from product
sales are recognized at the time the product is shipped, customarily FOB shipping point, which is when the transfer of control of goods has occurred and title passes. This applies to clinical lab
products sold to domestic and international distributors, including hospitals, clinical laboratories, medical research institutions, medical schools, and pharmaceutical companies. OTC products
are sold directly to drug stores, e-commerce customers, and distributors, while physiciansa€™ office products are sold to physicians and distributors. The Company does not allow for returns
except in the event of defective merchandise and, therefore, does not establish an allowance for returns. Additionally, the Company has contracts with customers that provide purchase
discounts for achieving specified sales volumes. The Company regularly evaluates the status of these contracts and does not believe any discounts will be given through the end of the contract
periods. A For diagnostic testing services sold directly to patients or physician offices that require processing by a third-party CLIA-certified lab, we recognize revenue once the lab has
completed the test results. A For services related to contract manufacturing, revenue is recognized when the service has been performed. Services for some contract work are invoiced and
recognized as the project progresses. A 28 A A SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION A The Company follows the guidance of ASC 718, Share-based Compensation (4€ceASC 718&€), which
requires the use of the fair-value based method to determine compensation for all arrangements under which employees and others receive shares of stock or equity instruments (options). The
fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses assumptions for expected volatility, expected dividends, expected
forfeiture rate, expected term, and the risk-free interest rate. The Company has not paid dividends historically and does not expect to pay them in the foreseeable future. Expected volatilities
are based on weighted averages of the historical volatility of the Companya€ ™s common stock estimated over the expected term of the options. The expected forfeiture rate is based on
historical forfeitures experienced. The expected term of options granted is derived using the a€cesimplified methoda€ which computes expected term as the average of the sum of the vesting
term plus the contract term as historically the Company had limited exercise activity surrounding its options. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of
grant for the period of the expected term. The grant date fair value of the award is recognized under the straight-line attribution method. A VALUATION OF INVENTORIES, NET A Our
inventories are made up of raw materials, work in progress, and finished goods and are valued at the lower of cost (determined using a combination of specific lot identification and the first-in,
first-out methods) or net realizable value. A We record valuation reserves for inventory items with excess quantities and obsolescence exposure. These reserves are estimates of a reduction in
value to reflect inventory valuation at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Management evaluates quantities on hand, physical condition, and technical functionality as these characteristics
may be impacted by anticipated customer demand for current products and new product introductions. Our inventory valuation reserves totaled $467,000 and $672,000 as of May 31, 2024 and
2023, representing approximately 16% and 25% of our inventory, respectively. A RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS A Recent ASU&€™s issued by the FASB and guidance issued by
the SEC did not, or are not believed by the management to, have a material effect on the Companya€™s present or future consolidated financial statements. A In June 2016, the FASB issued
ASU 2016-13. This ASU requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets, including trade receivables, held at the reporting date based on historical experience, current
conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The guidance was initially effective for the Company for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods
within those fiscal years. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, &€ceFinancial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842):
Effective Dates,a€ which, among other things, defers the effective date of ASU 2016-13 for public filers that are considered smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC to fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-03 on June 1, 2023, and the adoption of this
update did not have a material impact on the Company&€™s condensed consolidated financial statements. A In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (4€ceFASBA€) issued
ASU 2023-07, a€celmprovements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.a€ The ASU includes enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to and used by the chief operating decision maker (4€eCODMA€). The amendments are to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this pronouncement
on our financial statements and disclosures. A In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, 4€celncome Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosuresa€. The ASU includes
enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments are to be applied prospectively in the financial statements.
ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this pronouncement on our
financial statements and disclosures. A ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK A Not required. A ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
SUPPLEMENTARY DATA A BIOMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A Report of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Firm
(PCAOB ID 0200) FS-2 4€“ FS-3 A A CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A A A Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-4 A A Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-5 A A Consolidated Statements of Shareholdersa€™ Equity for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023
FS-6 A A Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-7 A A Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements FS-8 4€“ FS-20 A 29 A A ITEM 9A.
CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES A Attached as exhibits to this Form 10-K are certifications of our Chief Executive Officer (4€ceCEO4€) and Chief Financial Officer (2€ceCFOA€) that are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 of the Exchange Act. This &€aeDisclosure Controls and Proceduresa€ section includes information concerning the controls and controls evaluation
referred to in the certifications. A EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS A Our management evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act as of the end of the period covered by this report. Our management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management is required to apply its judgment in
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. The disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives. Our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective at a reasonable assurance level as of May 31, 2024. Based on that evaluation the CEO and
CFO concluded that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file and submit under the Exchange Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified in the Commissiond€™s rules and forms; and (2) accumulated and communicated to the Companya€ ™s management, including its CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. A Company management, including the CEO and CFO concluded that, as of May 31, 2024, the Companya€™s internal control over financial
reporting was effective. A CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING A There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in
connection with the evaluation that occurred during the quarter ended May 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to affect, our internal control over financial
reporting. A MANAGEMENTA€™S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING A Company management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting is designed to
provide reasonable assurance to the Company&€™s management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. A A companya€™s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the companya€™s assets that could have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements. A The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures. Because of these inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting cannot provide
absolute assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. A 30 A’ A Company
management, with the participation of the CEO and the CFO, evaluated the effectiveness of the Companya€™s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13(a)-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report. In making this assessment, Management used the criteria set
forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (4€ceCOSO&€) in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013). Based on this assessment, management,
with the participation of the CEO and CFO, believes that, as of May 31, 2024, the Companya€™s internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria. A Company
management will continue to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures and its internal controls over financial reporting on an ongoing basis and are
committed to taking further action and implementing improvements, as necessary and as funds allow. A Note: This 10-K does not include an attestation report of the Companya€™s
independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Managementa€™s report was not subject to attestation by the Companya€™s independent
registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit the Company to provide only managementa€™ s report in this 10-K. A
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION. A On August 28, 2024, the Company entered into an employment agreement with their Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Gary Lu, wherein if Mr. Lu is terminated
by the Company without cause, or if Mr. Lu voluntarily terminates his employment with the Company with cause, then the Company will be required to pay Mr. Lu a severance payment equal to
twelve months of base salary. The definition of 4€cecausea€ for each type of termination is found in the agreement, along with other material terms. This agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit
10.8. A ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS. A Not applicable. A PART III A ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,
AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE A The information required by this item will be disclosed in our definitive proxy statement on Schedule 14A (the 4€ceProxy Statementa€) for our 2024 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated by reference herein. Our Proxy Statement will be filed with the SEC within 120 days after the end of the Companya€™s fiscal year ended May 31,
2024, pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act. A ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION A The information required by this item will be disclosed in the Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. A ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS A The table
below provides information relating to our equity compensation plans as of May 31, 2024: A Securities Plan CategoryA Number of Securities A to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding
OptionsA A Compensation Plans Weighted-Average Exercise Price of Outstanding OptionsA A Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuance Under Compensation PlansA Equity
Compensation Plans Approved by Securities HoldersA A 3,479,616A A $2.53A A A 89,801A A The information required by this item will be disclosed in the Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference. A ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE A The information required by this item will be
disclosed in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. A ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES A The information required by this item will be
disclosed in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference. A PART IV A ITEM 15. EXHIBITS LIST AND FINANCIAL SCHEDULES A The following documents are filed as part of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K: A 1.Consolidated Financial Statements A Reference is made to the Index to the consolidated financial statements as set forth on page FS-1 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. A 2.Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules A All schedules have been omitted as the pertinent information is either not required, not applicable, or otherwise
included in the financial statements and notes thereto. A 3.Exhibits A See below. A 31 A A Exhibit No. A Description A A A 3.1 A First Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
of Registrant filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on August 1, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.8 filed with the Registranta€™s Annual Report on Form 10-KSB for the
fiscal year ended May 31, 2000). A A A 3.2 A Amended and Restated Bylaws, as adopted on July 24, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Companya€™s Form 8-K filed July



26,2023). A A A 4.1 A Specimen Stock Certificate of Common Stock of Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 filed with Registranta€™s Registration Statement on Form SB-2,
Commission No. 333-87231 filed on September 16, 1999). A A A 4.2 A Description of Capital Stock. A A A 10.1 A Standard Industrial/Commercial Single-Tenant Lease, dated June 18, 2009,
by and between Registrant and CNH, LLC for 17571 Von Karman Avenue, Irvine, CA 92614 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Companya€™s August 31, 2009 Form 10-Q filed
October 16, 2009). A A A 10.2 A 2014 Stock Incentive Plan of Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the Companya€™s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on September 29, 2014). A A A 10.3 A 2017 Stock Incentive Plan of Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the Companya€™s Definitive Proxy Statement
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 28, 2017). A A A 10.4 A 2020 Stock Incentive Plan of Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the
Companya€™s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 25, 2020). A A A 10.5 A Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement (attached
herein). A A A 10.6 A Employment Agreement, dated March 1, 2023, by and between Biomerica, Inc. and Gary Lu. A A A 10.7 A 2023 Stock Incentive Plan of Registrant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit A of the Companya€™s Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on September 27, 2023 ). A A A 10.8 A Employment Agreement
dated August 28, 2024 by and between Biomerica Inc. and Gary Lu. A A A 21.1 A List of Subsidiaries (attached herein). A A A 23.1 A Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm (Haskell & White LLP). A A A 31.1 A Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, as amended A A A 31.2 A Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act, adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, as amended. A A A 32.1 A Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as
amended. A A A 32.2 A Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended. AAA
101.INS A Inline XBRL Instance Document. A A A 101.SCH A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. A A A 101.CAL A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document. A A A 101.DEF A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. A A A 101.LAB A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. A A A
101.PRE A Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. A A A 104 A Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101). A The
certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 accompany this Annual Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as
amended, and shall not be deemed &€cefileda€ by the registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act and are not to be incorporated by reference into any of the registranta€™s filings
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in any such filing. A 32 A A SIGNATURES A In accordance with Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. A A BIOMERICA, INC. A Registrant A
A A A By/s/ Zackary S. Irani A A Zackary S. Irani, A A Chief Executive Officer A A A A A Dated: August 28, 2024 A In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed
below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated: A Signature and Capacity A /s/ Zackary S. Irani Date: August 28, 2024 Zackary S.
Irani A Director, Chief Executive Officer A A A /s/ Gary Lu, CPA Date: August 28, 2024 Gary Lu, CPA A Chief Financial Officer A A A /s/ Allen Barbieri Date: August 28, 2024 Allen Barbieri
A Director, Vice-Chairman A A A /s/Jane Emerson, M.D., Ph.D. Date: August 28, 2024 Jane Emerson, M.D., Ph.D. A Director A A A /s/ David Moatazedi Date: August 28, 2024 David
Moatazedi Director A A A /s/ Catherine Coste, CPA Date: August 28, 2024 Catherine Coste, CPA A Director A A 33A A BIOMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES TABLE OF CONTENTS A
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 0200) FS-2 4€“ FS-3 A’ A CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS A A A Consolidated Balance Sheets as of May 31,
2024 and 2023 FS-4 A A Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-5 A A Consolidated Statements of Shareholdersa€™
Equity for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-6 A A Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 FS-7 A A Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements FS-8 4€“ FS-20 A FS-1 A A REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRMA A To the Shareholders and Board of Directors Biomerica, Inc. A Opinion on
the Consolidated Financial Statements A We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Biomerica, Inc. (the &€ceCompanya€) as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the related
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, shareholdersa€™ equity, and cash flows for each of the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the
4€ceconsolidated financial statementsa€). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company as of
May 31, 2024 and 2023, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A
Going Concern A The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has experienced recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations and has an accumulated deficit and limited liquid resources. These
matters raise substantial doubt about the Companya€™s ability to continue as a going concern. Managementa€™s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 2. The
consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. A Basis for Opinion A These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Companya€™ s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public
accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (2€cePCAOBA€) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. A We conducted our audits in accordance with the
standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our
audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Companya€™s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. A Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. A Critical Audit Matter A The critical audit matter
communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee
and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing separate opinions on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate. A Inventory Valuation A Critical Audit Matter Description A As described in Note
2 to the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements, the Company values inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost inclusive of estimates for reasonable allocations of
labor and overhead costs. Also, management periodically reviews inventory for excess quantities and obsolescence. Management evaluates quantities on hand, physical condition, and technical
functionality as these characteristics may be impacted by anticipated customer demand for current products and new product introductions. Auditing the Companya€™ s estimates for
capitalized labor and overhead was challenging due to the extensive use of estimates throughout this process, including the amount of labor and overhead costs allocable to inventory
production and the specific amount of labor and overhead costs allocable to ending inventory quantities. Auditing the Company&€™s estimates for slow-moving and obsolete inventories was
challenging due to the inherently judgmental nature of forecasting future sales and usage of a significant number of diverse mventory items. A FS-2 A A How the Critical Audit Matter Was
Addressed in the Audit A To test the valuation of the Companya€™s inventory, we performed the following audit procedures: A A 4— Obtained an understanding of the methodologies and
policies used by management to estimate capitalized labor and overhead and inventory reserves; we obtained an understanding of key internal controls and assessed their overall
appropriateness; A 4— Tested the reasonableness of the production labor and overhead cost pools and the reasonableness of inventory quantities produced; we recalculated the allocable labor
and overhead rate per unit produced; we recalculated the amount of capitalized labor and overhead based on quantities on hand at the end of the fiscal year; we performed sensitivity analyses
to determine the impact of adjustments to managementa€™s estimates; and A 4— Tested the accuracy of key data inputs that are the primary drivers for determining the quantitative inventory
reserves; these inputs included inventory quantities on hand, approximate age of the inventory quantities, and estimated inventory reserve percentages. A A /s/ Haskell & White LLP A
HASKELL & WHITE LLP A A We have served as the Companya€™s auditor since 2022, A A A Trvine, CallfquIQA August 28, 29%4AAAA FS-3A A BIOMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS A A A 2024A A 2023A AA May 31, A AA 2024A A 2023A AssetsA AAAA AAA AA AAAA AAA Current Assets:A AAAA AAA Cash and cash
equivalentsA $4,170,000A A $9,719,000A Accounts receivable, netA A 947,000A A A 722,000A Inventories, netA A 2,376,000A A A 2,056,000A Prepaid expenses and otherA A 238,000A A
A 300,000A Total current assetsA A 7,731,000A A A 12,797,000A Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortizationA A 201,000A A A 213,000A Right-of-use assets,
net of accumulated amortization of $910,000 and $617,000 as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectivelyA A 742,000A A A 1,035,000A InvestmentsA A 165,000A A A 165,000A Intangible
assets, net of accumulated amortization of $48,000 and $30,000 as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectivelyA A 212,000A A A 165,000A Other assetsA A 203,000A A A 79,000A Total AssetsA
$9,254,000A A $14,454,000A Liabilities and Shareholdersa€™ EqultyA AAAA AAA AA AAAA AAA Current Liabilities:A AAAA AAA Accounts payable and accrued expensesA
$1,138,000A A $892,000A Accrued compensatlonA A 655,000A A A 696,000A Advances from customersA A 85,000A A A 60,000A Lease liabilities, current portlonA A 326,000A A

A 297, 000A Total current liabilitiesA A 2 ,204,000A A A 1,945,000A Lease liabilities, net of current portionA A 459,000A A A 785,000A Total LiabilitiesA A 2,663,000A A A 2,730,000A
AAAA AAA Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)A A-AA A-A AA AAAA AAA Shareholdersa€™ Equity:A AAAA A AAAA AAAA AAA Preferred stock, Series A 5%
convertible, $0.08 par value, 571,429 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding as of May 31, 2024 and 2023A A-AA A-A Preferred stock, undesignated, no par value, 4,428,571 shares
authorized, none issued and outstanding as of May 31, 2024 and 2023A A-AA A-A Common stock, $0.08 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized, 16,821,646 issued and outstanding at May
31, 2024 and 2023, respectivelyA A 1,346,000A A A 1,346,000A Additional paid-in capitalA A 53,542,000A A A 52,705,000A Accumulated other comprehensive lossA A (102,000)A

A (110,000) Accumulated deficitA A (48,195,000)A A (42,217,000) Total Shareholdersa€™ EquityA A 6,591,000A AA 11,724,000A Total Liabilities and Shareholdersa€™ EquityA
$9,254,000A A $14,454,000A A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. A FS-4 A A BIOMERICA, INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS A A A 2024A A 2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Net

salesA $5,415,000A A $5,339,000A Cost of salesA A (4,804,000)A A (4,893,000) Gross profltA A 611,000A A A 446,000 AA AAAA AAA Operating expenses: A AAAA AAA Selhng,

general and administrativeA A 5,487,000A A A 6,085,000A Research and developmentA A 1,491,000A A A 1,584,000A Total operating expenseA A 6,978,000A A A 7,669,000A AA AAAA

AAA Loss from operatlonsA A (6,367, 000)A A (7,223,000) AA AAAA AAA Otherincome:A AAAA A AA Dividend and interest incomeA A 431,000A A A 133,000A Other incomeA A -

A A A1,000A Total other incomeA A 431,000A A A 134,000 AA AAAA AAA Loss before income taxesA A (5,936,000)A A (7,089, 000) AA AAAA AAA Provision for income taxesA

A (42,000)A A (51, OOO)AA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(5 978,000)A $(7,140,0000)AA AAAA AAA Basic net loss per common shareA $(0 36)A $(0. SO)AA AAAA AAA Diluted net loss

per common shareA $(0 36)A $(0.500AA AAAA AAA Welghted average number of common and common equ1valent shares:A AAAA AAA BasicA A 16,821,646A A A 14,154,269A A A

AAAA AAA DilutedA A 16,821,646A A A 14,154,269A AA AAAA AAA NetlossA $(5,978, OOO)A $(7,140,000) AA AAAA AAA Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:A AAA A

A A A Foreign currency translationA A 8,000A A A (36,000)0AA AAAA AAA Comprehensive lossA $(5,970,000)A $(7,176,000) A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial
statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. A FS-5A A Biomerica, Inc. Consolidated Statements Shareholders&€™ Equity For the Year Ended May 31, 2024 A
AAAAA AAAAAA AAA AAA AA AA Common StockA A Additional Paid-inA A Accumulated Other ComprehensiveA A AccumulatedA A Total Stockholdersa€™A A A SharesA A
AmountA A CapltalAA LossA A DeficitA A EquityA AA AAA AAA AAA AAA AAA AA Balances at May 31, 2022A A 12,867,924A A $1,029,000A A $42 A47, 000A A $(74, 000)A
$(35,077, OOO)A $8,325, OOOA Exercise of stock optionsA A 46,500A A A 4,000A A A 77,000AA A-AA A-AA A81,000A Net proceeds from ATMA A 573,889A A A 46,000A A
A1,915,000AA A-AA A-AA A1,961,000A Shares issued in connection with public offeringA A 3,333,333A A A 267,000A A A 7,081,000AA A-AA A-AA A 7 348,000A Foreign currency
translationA A-AA A-AA A-AA A (36,000)A A -A A A (36,000) Compensation expense in connection with options granted_A AAA A-AA A 1,185,000A A A AA A-AA A 1,185,000A Net
lossh A-AA A-AA A-AA A-AA A (7,140 OOO)A A (7,140, 000) Balances at May 31, 2023A A 16,821,646A A A 1,346,000A A A 52,705,000A A A (110, OOO)A A (42,217, OO)A

A 11,724,000A BalanceA A 16,821,646A A A 1,346,000A A A 52,705,000A A A (110,000)A A (42,217,000)A A 11,724,000A Foreign currency translationA A -A A AAA A-AA A 8,000A A
A-AA A8,000A Compensation expense in connection with options grantedA A-AA A-AA A 837,000AA A-AA A-AA A 837,000A NetlossA A-AA A-AA A-AA A-AA A (5,978,000)A
A (5,978,000) Balances at May 31, 2024A A 16,821,646A A $1,346,000A A $53,542,000A A $(102,000)A $(48,195,000)A $6,591,000A BalanceA A 16,821,646A A $1,346,000A A
$53,542,000A A $(102,000)A $(48,195,000)A $6,591,000A A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. A
FS-6 A A BIOMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS A A A 2024A A 2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31A A A 2024A A 2023A Cash
flows from operating activities: :A AAAA AAA NetlossA $(5,978,000)A $(7,140,000) Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: :A AAAA AAA Depreciation
and amortizationA A 81,000A A A 84,000A (Recovery) provision for allowance for credit lossesA A (10, OOO)A A 342,000A Inventory reserveA A (205, OOO)A A (174,000) Share-based
compensatlonA A 837,000A A A 1,185,000A Amortization of right-of-use assetA A 293,000A A A 267,000A Changes in assets and liabilities: A AAAA AAA Accounts receivableA

A (215, OOO)A A (291, 000) InventoriesA A (115,000)A A 534,000A Prepald expenses and otherA A 62,000A A A 20,000A Other assetsA A (44,000)A A 18,000A Accounts payable and accrued
expensesA A 246,000A A A (80,000) Accrued compensatlonA A (41 000)A A 49,000A Advances from customersA A 25,000A A A 9,000A Reduction in lease liabilitiesA A (297,000)A

A (297,000) Net cash used in operating activitiesA A (5,361,000)A A (5,474,0000AA AAAA AAA Cash flows from investing activities:A AAAA AA A Purchases of property and
equlpmentA A (51,000)A A (64 000) Expendltures related to 1ntang1blesA A (64,000)A A (14 000) Net cash used in investing activitiesA A (115 000)A A (78 000) AA AAAA AAA Cash

flows from financing activities: A AAAA AAA Gross proceeds from sale of common stockA A-A A A 10,014,000A Deferred offering costsA A (81, OOO)A A -A Costs from sale of common

stockA A -A A A (705,000) Proceeds from exercise of stock optionsA A -A A A 81,000A Net cash (used in) provided by financing activitiesA A (81, OOO)A A 9,390,000 AA AAAA AAA

Effect of exchange rate changes in cashA A 8,000A A A (36, 000) Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equwalentsA A (5,549,000)A A 3,802,000 AA AAAA AAA Cash and cash

equivalents at beginning of yearA A 9,719,000A A A 5,917,000A AA AAAA AAA Cash and cash equivalents at end of yearA $4,170,000A A $9,719,000A AA AAAA AAA

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:A AAAA AAA Cash paid during the period for:A AAAA AAA Income taxesA $41, 000A A $51,000A AA AAAA AAA Non-cash
investing and financing activities:A AAAA AAA AA AAAA AAA Write off of fixed assets, costA $-AA $40,000A AA AAAA AAA Write off of fixed assets, accumulated
deprematlonA $-AA $40,000A AA AAAA AAA Write off of intangible assets, costA $-A A $6,0000 AA AAAA AAA Write off of mtanglble assets, accumulated amortizationA $-A A
$6,000A A See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. A FS-7 A' A BIOMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2024 AND 2023 A NOTE 1: ORGANIZATION A Biomerica, Inc. and its subsidiaries (which includes wholly-
owned subsidiaries, Biomerica de Mexico and BioEurope GmbH) is a biomedical technology company that develops, patents, manufactures and markets advanced diagnostic and therapeutic
products used at the point-of-care (physiciansa€™ offices and over-the-counter through drugstores and online) and in hospital/clinical laboratories for detection and/or treatment of medical
conditions and diseases. Our diagnostic test kits are used to analyze blood, urine, nasal, or fecal material from patients in the diagnosis of various diseases, food intolerances and other medical
complications, or to measure the level of specific hormones, antibodies, antigens, or other substances, which may exist in the human body in extremely small concentrations. The Companya€™s



products are designed to enhance the health and well-being of people, while reducing total healthcare costs. A Our primary focus is the research, development, commercialization and in certain
cases regulatory approval, of patented, diagnostic-guided therapy (4€0eDGT&€) products to treat gastrointestinal diseases, such as irritable bowel syndrome (4€eIBSa€), and other inflammatory
diseases. These products are directed at chronic inflammatory illnesses that are widespread and common, and as such address very large markets. Our inFoodsA® IBS product uses a simple
blood sample and is designed to identify patient-specific foods that, when removed from the diet, may alleviate IBS symptoms such as pain, bloating, diarrhea, and constipation. Instead of broad
and difficult to manage dietary restrictions, the inFoodsA® IBS product works by identifying specific foods that may be causing an abnormally high immune response in the patient. A food
identified as positive, which is causing the abnormal immune response in the patient, is simply removed from the diet to help alleviate IBS symptoms. A Our existing medical diagnostic
products are sold worldwide primarily in two markets: 1) clinical laboratories and 2) point-of-care (physiciansa€™ offices and over-the-counter drugstores like Walmart and CVS Pharmacy). The
diagnostic test kits are used to analyze blood, urine, nasal, or fecal specimens from patients in the diagnosis of various diseases, food intolerances, and other medical complications, by
measuring or detecting the existence and/or level of specific bacteria, hormones, antibodies, antigens, or other substances, which may exist in a patienta€™s body, stools, or blood, often in
extremely small concentrations. A Due to the global COVID-19 pandemic, in March 2020, we began selling these COVID-19 related diagnostic tests during fiscal 2021, and we experienced
significant revenues from such sales during fiscal 2021 and 2022 with lesser sales in fiscal 2023. Due to falling demand, there were no sales of our COVID-19 related products in fiscal 2024. As
such, our COVID-19 product sales caused significant swings in our revenues over the past 4 years. A The other existing products that contributed to our 2024 revenues are primarily focused on
gastrointestinal diseases, food intolerances, and certain esoteric tests. These diagnostic test products utilize immunoassay technology. Most of our products are Conformite Europeenne
(&€0eCE4a€) marked and/or sold for diagnostic use where they are registered by each countrya€™s regulatory agency. In addition, some products are cleared for sale in the United States by the
FDA. A NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES A PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION A The consolidated financial statements for the years ended May 31, 2024 and
2023, include the accounts of Biomerica, Inc. (&€ceBiomericad€) as well as its wholly-owned German subsidiary (4€ceBioEurope GmbHa€) and Mexican subsidiary (&€ceBiomerica de Mexicoa€).
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. A ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES A The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (d€ceGAAPA€) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. These estimates also impact the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Key estimates include the allowance for doubtful accounts, based on both current and historical practices with customers; variable
consideration in revenue recognition, estimated based on agreements that include guarantees of specified profit margins, requiring adjustments based on actual sales performance and market
conditions, stock option forfeiture rates, calculated using historical data; and inventory obsolescence, where inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (NRV) and assessed
through judgments based on projected and historical usage of materials. The valuation of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets also involves assumptions such as the borrowing rate at lease
commencement and the likelihood of lease extensions. A These estimates are critical to our financial reporting, and actual results could materially differ from those estimates. A FS-8 A A
LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN A The Company has incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations and has an accumulated deficit of approximately $48 million as of May 31,
2024. As of May 31, 2024, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $4,170,000 and working capital of approximately $5,527,000. A On January 22, 2021, the Company filed
a prospectus supplement to the base prospectus included in a registration statement filed with the SEC on July 21, 2020, and declared effective by the SEC on September 30, 2020, for purposes
of selling up to $15,000,000 in a€ceat-the-marketa€ offerings, as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act (the 4€ATM Offeringa€). A Under the ATM Offering, the sales
agent uses commercially reasonable efforts to sell on the Company&€™s behalf all the shares requested to be sold from time to time by the Company, consistent with its normal trading and
sales practices, on mutually agreed terms between the agent and the Company. The Company has no obligation to sell any shares under the ATM Offering, and may at any time suspend offers
under, or terminate the ATM Offering. A During the year ended May 31, 2023, the Company sold 573,889 shares of its common stock at prices ranging from $3.15 to $4.26 pursuant to the ATM
Agreement, which resulted in gross proceeds of approximately $2,014,000 and net proceeds to the Company of $1,961,000, after deducting commissions for each sale and legal, accounting, and
other fees related to offering in the amount of $53,000. A On March 7, 2023, the Company sold 3,333,333 shares of common stock in a firm commitment public offering at a gross sales price of
$2.40 per share, with net total proceeds, after deducting issuance fees and expenses of $700,000, of approximately $7,300,000. As a result of this public offering, the Company terminated the
ATM offering agreement. A On September 28, 2023, we filed a 4€ceshelfa€ registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, allowing the Company to issue up to $20,000,000 in common
shares. Under this registration statement, shares of our common stock may be sold from time to time for up to three years from the filing date. On May 10, 2024, the Company filed a prospectus
supplement with the SEC, as part of the registration statement filed on September 28, 2023, which was declared effective on September 29, 2023. This supplement was intended to facilitate the
sale of up to $5,500,000 in common stock through ATM offerings, as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act. As part of this transaction, the Company incurred $81,000 in deferred offering
costs. The amount of capital that we can raise under the ATM offering is highly dependent upon the trading volume and the trading price of our stock. The average trading volume of our stock
over the last three full calendar months is approximately 229,000 shares per day and the high and low trading price of our stock during the same period of time was $1.25 and $0.50,
respectively. If our stock continues to trade at low volumes and price, the amount of capital that we can raise under the ATM offering will be constrained. A The Company intends to use the net
proceeds from this offering for general corporate purposes, including, but not limited to, sales and marketing activities, clinical studies and product development, acquisitions of assets,
businesses, companies, or securities, capital expenditures, and working capital needs. A As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $4,170,000
and $9,719,000, respectively. As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had working capital of approximately $5,527,000 and $10,852,000, respectively. A The Companya€™s ability to
continue as a going concern over the next twelve months is influenced by several factors, including: A A 4— Our need and ability to generate additional revenue from international
opportunities and our new product launches; A &— Our need to access the capital and debt markets to meet current obligations and fund operations; A 4— Our capacity to manage operating
expenses and maintain gross margins as we grow; and A a— Our ability to retain key employees and maintain critical operations with a substantially reduced workforce. A Management has
analyzed the Companya€™s cash flow requirements through August 2025 and beyond. Based on this analysis, we believe our current cash and cash equivalents are insufficient to meet our
operating cash requirements and strategic growth objectives for the next twelve months. A To address our capital needs and sustain operations beyond the next year, we are actively pursuing
strategies to increase sales, reduce expenses, sell non-core assets, seek additional financing through debt or equity, and seek other strategic alternatives. While we are committed to these
plans, there is no assurance that these efforts will be successful or sufficient to meet our capital requirements. A These factors raise substantial doubt about the Companya€™ s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our future viability depends on the successful execution of our strategic plans, securing additional financing, and achieving profitable operations. A The
Companya€™s consolidated financial statements as of May 31, 2024 were prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities and
commitments in the normal course of business. A FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS A The Company has financial instruments whereby the fair market value of the financial
instruments could be different than the amount recorded on a historical basis. The Companya€™s consolidated financial instruments consist of its cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, and accounts payable. The carrying amounts of the Companya€™ s financial instruments approximate their fair values. The Company also maintains an investment in privately held
company (see below). A CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK A The Company maintains cash balances at certain financial institutions in excess of amounts insured by federal agencies. From
time to time, the Company has uninsured balances. The Company does not believe it is exposed to any significant credit risks. A The Company provides credit in the normal course of business
to customers throughout the United States and in foreign markets. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and requires accelerated prepayment in some
circumstances. A Our net sales were approximately $5,415,000 for fiscal 2024, compared to $5,339,000 for fiscal 2023. For the fiscal years ended May 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had
one distributor each year that accounted for 33% and 35% of our net sales, respectively. A Total gross receivables as of May 31, 2024, and 2023 were approximately $966,000 and $751,000,
respectively. As of May 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had four and one distributor, respectively, that accounted for a total of 64% and 36% of gross accounts receivable. Of the 64% as of
May 31, 2024, 37% was owed by a distributor in Asia. A For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024, the Company had one vendor which accounted for 16% of the purchases of raw materials. For
the fiscal year ended May 31, 2023, the Company did not have any significant concentration of vendor spend for raw materials. A FS-9 A A GEOGRAPHIC CONCENTRATION A As of May 31,
2024 and 2023, approximately $537,000 and $626,000, respectively, of Biomericad€™s gross inventory was located in Mexicali, Mexico, respectively. A As of May 31, 2024 and 2023,
approximately $14,000 and $17,000, respectively, of Biomericad€™s property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, was located in Mexicali, Mexico. A CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS A Cash and cash equivalents consist of demand deposits and money market accounts with original maturities of less than three months. A ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE,
NET A The Company extends unsecured credit to its customers on a regular basis. International accounts are usually required to prepay until they establish a history with the Company and at
that time, they are extended credit at levels based on a number of criteria. Based on various criteria, initial credit levels for individual distributors are approved by designated officers and
managers of the Company. All increases in credit limits are also approved by designated upper-level management. A The Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (a€ceASUA€) No.
2016-13, Financial Instruments a4€“ Credit Losses (codified as Accounting Standards Codification (4€0eASC4a€) 326) on June 1, 2023. ASC 326 adds to U.S. GAAP the current expected credit loss
(&€0eCECL&€) model, a measurement model based on expected losses rather than incurred losses. Prior to the adoption of ASC 326, the Company evaluated receivables on a quarterly basis and
adjusted the allowance for doubtful accounts accordingly. Balances over ninety days old were usually reserved for unless collection was reasonably assured. Under the application of ASC 326,
the Companya€™s historical credit loss experience provides the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses, as well as current economic and business conditions, and anticipated future
economic events that may impact collectability. In developing its expected credit loss estimate, the Company evaluated the appropriate grouping of financial assets based upon its evaluation of
risk characteristics, including consideration of the types of products and services sold. Account balances are written off against the allowance for expected credit losses after all means of
collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. A Occasionally, certain long-standing customers who routinely place large orders will have unusually large
receivable balances relative to the total gross receivables. Management monitors the payments for these large balances closely and very often requires payment of existing invoices before
shipping new sales orders. A As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has established an allowance of approximately $19,000 and $29,000, respectively, for credit losses. A PREPAID
EXPENSES AND OTHER A The Company occasionally prepays for items such as inventory, insurance, and other items. These items are reported as prepaids, until either the inventory is
physically received or the insurance and other items are utilized. A As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, the prepaids were approximately $238,000 and $300,000, respectively, comprised of
prepayments to insurance and various other suppliers. A INVENTORIES, NET A The Company values inventory at the lower of cost (determined using a combination of specific lot
identification and the first-in, first-out methods) or net realizable value. Management periodically reviews inventory for excess quantities and obsolescence. Management evaluates quantities on
hand, physical condition, and technical functionality as these characteristics may be impacted by anticipated customer demand for current products and new product introductions. The reserve
is adjusted based on such evaluation, with a corresponding provision included in cost of sales. Abnormal amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and wasted material are
recognized as current period charges and the allocation of fixed production overhead is based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. A FS-10 A A The following is a summary of
approximate net inventories: A SCHEDULE OF NET INVENTORIES A A 2024A A 2023A AA May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A Raw materialsA $1,519,000A A $1,677,000A Work in
progressA A 1,145,000A A A 869,000A Finished productsA A 179,000A A A 182,000A Total gross inventoryA $2,843,000A A $2,728,000A Inventory reserveA A (467,000)A A (672,000) Net
inventoryA $2,376,000A A $2,056,000A A Reserves for inventory obsolescence are recorded as necessary to reduce obsolete inventory to estimated net realizable value or to specifically
reserve for obsolete inventory. As of May 31, 2024 and 2023, inventory reserves were approximately $467,000 and $672,000, respectively. A PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET A Property
and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for additions and major improvements are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to operations as incurred. When property and
equipment are sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, the related cost and accumulated depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts, and gains or losses from sales, retirements,
and dispositions are credited or charged to income. A Depreciation and amortization are provided over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, ranging from 5 to 10 years, using the
straight-line method. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the lease. Depreciation and amortization expense on property
and equipment amounted to approximately $63,000 and $66,000 for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET A Intangible assets include
trademarks, product rights, technology rights, and patents, and are accounted for based on Accounting Standards Codification (4€eASCa€), ASC 350 Intangibles 4€“ Goodwill and Other
(&€0eASC 3504a€). In that regard, intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives are not amortized but are tested at least annually for impairment or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. A Intangible assets are being amortized using the straight-line method over the useful life, not to exceed 18 years for marketing and
distribution rights, 10 years for purchased technology use rights, and patents are based on their individual useful lives which average around 15 years. Amortization amounted to approximately
$18,000 for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023. A The Company assesses the recoverability of these intangible assets by determining whether the amortization of the asseta€™s balance
over its remaining life can be recovered through projected undiscounted future cash flows. The Company uses a qualitative assessment to determine whether there was any impairment. There
was no impairment of intangible assets for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023. A INVESTMENTS A The Company has made investments in a privately held Polish distributor, which is
primarily engaged in distributing medical products and devices, including the distribution of the products sold by the Company. The Company invested approximately $165,000 into the Polish
distributor and owns approximately 6% of the investee. A Equity holdings in nonmarketable unconsolidated entities in which the Company is not able to exercise significant influence (4€ceCost
Method Holdingsa€) are accounted for at the Companya€™s initial cost, minus any impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in orderly transactions
for the identical or a similar holding or security of the same issuer. Dividends received are recorded as other dividend and interest income. A The Company assesses its equity holdings for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an equity holding may not be recoverable. Management reviewed the underlying net assets of the
Companyéa€™s equity method holding as of May 31, 2024 and determined that the Companya€™ s proportionate economic interest in the entity indicates that the equity holding was not
impaired. There were no observable price changes in orderly transactions for identical or a similar holding or security of the Companya€™s Cost Method Holding during the year ended May 31,
2024.A FS-11 A A SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION A The Company follows the guidance of ASC 718, Share-based Compensation (4€0eASC 7184&€), which requires the use of the fair-value
based method to determine compensation for all arrangements under which employees and others receive shares of stock or equity instruments (options). The fair value of each option award is
estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model that uses assumptions for expected volatility, expected dividends, expected forfeiture rate, expected term, and the
risk-free interest rate. The Company has not paid dividends historically and does not expect to pay them in the foreseeable future. Expected volatilities are based on weighted averages of the
historical volatility of the Companya€™s common stock estimated over the expected term of the options. The expected forfeiture rate is based on historical forfeitures experienced. The expected
term of options granted is derived using the &€cesimplified method&€ which computes expected term as the average of the sum of the vesting term plus the contract term as historically the
Company had limited exercise activity surrounding its options. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the period of the expected term. The
grant date fair value of the award is recognized under the straight-line attribution method. A The Company expensed approximately $837,000 and $1,185,000 of share-based compensation
during the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A In applying the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the following assumptions used in the valuation of awards issued for years
ended May 31, 2024 and 2023: A SCHEDULE OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENT AWARD, STOCK OPTIONS, VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS A A For the year ended May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A
Dividend yieldA A 0%A A 0% Expected volatilityA A 100.54 - 111.98%A A 98.81 - 101.77% Risk free interest rateA A 4.0 - 4.59%A A 3.12 - 3.35% Expected termA A 4.69 - 6.25 yearsA A



A 6.25 yearsA A REVENUE RECOGNITION A The Company has various contracts with customers, and these contracts specify the recognition of revenue based on the nature of the
transaction. A Revenues from product sales are recognized at the time the product is shipped, customarily FOB shipping point, which is when the transfer of control of goods has occurred and
title passes. This applies to clinical lab products sold to domestic and international distributors, including hospitals, clinical laboratories, medical research institutions, medical schools, and
pharmaceutical companies. OTC products are sold directly to drug stores, e-commerce customers, and distributors, while physiciansa€™ office products are sold to physicians and distributors.
The Company does not allow returns except in cases of defective merchandise, and therefore, does not establish an allowance for returns. Additionally, the Company has contracts with
customers that provide purchase discounts contingent on achieving specified sales volumes. These contracts are regularly evaluated, and the Company does not anticipate granting any
discounts through the end of the contract period. A Furthermore, the Company offers margin guarantees to certain retail drug store customers to ensure a minimum profit margin. Should
pricing adjustments cause these margins to fall below the agreed-upon thresholds, the Company is committed to compensating for the shortfall. This arrangement introduces variable
consideration into our revenue recognition process. These considerations are estimated monthly based on actual sales and potential price reductions, ensuring accurate and compliant revenue
reporting. A For diagnostic testing services sold directly to patients or physician offices that require processing by a third-party CLIA-certified lab, we recognize revenue once the lab has
completed the test results. A For services related to contract manufacturing, revenue is recognized when the service has been performed. Services for some contract work are invoiced and
recognized as the project progresses. A As of May 31, 2024, the Company had approximately $85,000 of advances from domestic customers, which are prepayments on orders for future
shipments. A FS-12 A A Disaggregation of revenue: A The following is an approximate breakdown of revenues according to primary markets to which the products are sold: A SCHEDULE OF
DISAGGREGATION REVENUE A A 2024A A 2023A A A For Year Ended May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A Clinical labA $3,236,000A A $3,310,000A Over-the-counterA A 1,426,000A A

A 1,169,000A Contract manufacturlngA A 741,000A A A 610,000A Physiciana€™s officeA A 12,000A A A 250,000A TotalA $5,415,000A A $5,339,000A A See Note 8 for additional
information regarding geographic revenue concentrations. A SHIPPING AND HANDLING FEES A The Company includes shipping and handling fees billed to customers in net sales. A
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT A Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. The Company expensed approximately $1,491,000 and $1,584,000 of research and development
costs during the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. A INCOME TAXES A The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes (a€ceASC 7404€).
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements that will
result in taxable or deductible amounts in future years and the benefits of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. These temporary differences and the benefits of net operating loss and
tax credit carryforwards are measured using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce deferred tax assets to the extent that management considers it is more likely than
not that a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining the valuation allowance, the Company considers factors such as the reversal of deferred income tax assets, projected taxable
income, and the character of income tax assets and tax planning strategies. A change to these factors could impact the estimated valuation allowance and income tax expense. As of May 31,
2024 and 2023, in accordance with ASC 740, the Company has a valuation allowance for all of its net deferred tax assets. During the year ended May 31, 2024, this valuation allowance was
increased to $10,369,000, which fully covers the net deferred tax asset of $10,369,000. A The Company accounts for its uncertain tax provisions by using a two-step approach to recognizing
and measuring uncertain tax positions. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates it is more likely than not, based
solely on the technical merits, that the position will be sustained in an audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the appropriate
amount of the benefit to recognize. The amount of benefit to recognize is measured as the maximum amount which is more likely than not to be realized. The tax position is derecognized when
it is no longer more likely than not capable of being sustained. On subsequent recognition and measurement, the maximum amount which is more likely than not to be recognized at each
reporting date will represent the Companya€™ s best estimate, given the information available at the reporting date, although the outcome of the tax position is not absolute or final. The
Company elected to follow an accounting policy to classify accrued interest related to liabilities for income taxes within the &€ceInterest expensed€ line and penalties related to liabilities for
income taxes within the 4€ceOther expensea€ line of the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. A ADVERTISING COSTS A The Company reports the cost of all
advertising as expense in the period in which those costs are incurred. Advertising costs were approximately $101,000 and $156,000 for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
A FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION A The subsidiary located in Mexico operates primarily using the Mexican peso. The subsidiary located in Germany operates primarily using the U.S.
dollar, with an immaterial amount of transactions occurring using the Euro. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated using exchange rates in effect at the end of the
year, and revenues and costs are translated using average exchange rates for the year. The resulting adjustments to assets and liabilities are presented as a separate component of accumulated
other comprehensive loss. There are no foreign currency transaction gains or losses that are included in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023.
A FS-13 A A RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES A In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (4€ceFASB&€) issued an accounting standard update which
requires lessees to recognize most leases on the balance sheet with a corresponding right-of-use asset. Right-of-use assets represent the Companya€™s right to use an underlying asset for the
lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date
based on the estimated present value of fixed lease payments over the lease term. Leases are classified as financing or operating which will drive the expense recognition pattern. The Company
has elected to exclude short-term leases. The Company leases office space and copy machines, all of which are operating leases. Most leases include the option to renew and the exercise of the
renewal options is at the Companya€™ s sole discretion. Options to extend or terminate a lease are considered in the lease term to the extent that the option is reasonably certain of exercise.
The leases do not include the options to purchase the leased property. The depreciable life of assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term. For additional
information, see Note 9-Commitments and Contingencies. A NET LOSS PER SHARE A Basic loss per share is computed as net loss divided by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period. Diluted loss per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur from common shares issuable through stock options, warrants and other convertible securities
using the treasury stock method. The total amounts of anti-dilutive stock options not included in the loss per share calculation for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 were 3,479,616 and
2,342,616, respectively. A SEGMENT REPORTING A ASC 280, Segment Reporting (4€ceASC 2804a€), establishes standards for reporting, by public business enterprises, information about
operating segments, products and services, geographic areas, and major customers. The Companya€™s operations are analyzed by management and its chief operating decision maker as being
part of a single industry segment: the design, development, marketing, and sales of diagnostic kits. A REPORTING COMPREHENSIVE LOSS A Comprehensive loss represents net loss and any
revenues, expenses, gains and losses that, under GAAP, are excluded from net loss and recognized directly as a component of shareholdersa€™ equity. Items of other comprehensive loss consist
solely of foreign currency translation adjustments for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023. A RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS A Recent ASU4€™s issued by the FASB and
guidance issued by the SEC did not, or are not believed by the management to, have a material effect on the Companya€™ s present or future consolidated financial statements. A In June 2016,
the FASB issued ASU 2016-13. This ASU requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets, including trade receivables, held at the reporting date based on historical
experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The guidance was initially effective for the Company for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019,
and interim periods within those fiscal years. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, &€ceFinancial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and
Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates,a€ which, among other things, defers the effective date of ASU 2016-13 for public filers that are considered smaller reporting companies as defined by the
SEC to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2016-03 on June 1, 2023, and the
adoption of this update did not have a material impact on the Companya€™s consolidated financial statements. A In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (4€ceFASBA€)
issued ASU 2023-07, 4€celmprovements to Reportable Segment Disclosures.&€ The ASU includes enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to and used by the chief operating decision maker (4€ceCODM4€). The amendments are to be applied retrospectively to all prior periods presented in the financial
statements. ASU 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this pronouncement
on our financial statements and disclosures. A In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, a€ceIncome Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosuresa€. The ASU includes
enhanced disclosure requirements, primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments are to be applied prospectively in the financial statements.
ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the effect of adopting this pronouncement on our
financial statements and disclosures. A FS-14 A A NOTE 3: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET A The following is an approximate breakdown of property and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation: A SCHEDULE OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET A A 2024A A 2023A AA May 31, A AA 2024A A 2023A EquipmentA $1,384,000A A $1,333,000A Furniture, fixtures
and leasehold improvementsA A 211,000A A A 211,000A Less accumulated depreciationA A (1,394,000)A A (1,331,000) Net property and equipmentA $201,000A A $213,000A A NOTE 4:
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET A The following is an approximate breakdown of intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization: A SCHEDULE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET A A 2024A A
2023A AA May31,A AA 2024A A 2023A PatentsA $260,000A A $196,000A Less accumulated amortization-patentsA A (48,000)A A (31,000) Intangible assets, netA $212,000A A
$165,000A A Expected amortization of intangible assets for the years ending May 31: A SCHEDULE OF EXPECTED AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETSAA AA A 2025A $18,000A
2026A A 18,000A 2027A A 18,000A 2028A A 18,000A 2029A A 18,000A ThereafterA A 122,000A TotalA $212,000A A NOTE 5: ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES A The
following is an approximate breakdown of accounts payable and accrued expenses balances: A SCHEDULE OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES A A 2024A A 2023A AA
May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A Accounts payableA $288,000A A $344,000A Accrued expensesA A 850,000A A A 548,000A TotalA $1,138,000A A $892,000A A As of May 31, 2024, the
Company had two vendors that accounted for 69% of accounts payable. As of May 31, 2023, the Company had one vendor that accounted for 23% of accounts payable. A FS-15 A A NOTE 6:
SHAREHOLDERSA€™ EQUITY A STOCK OPTION AND RESTRICTED STOCK PLANS A In December 2014, the Company adopted and shareholders approved a stock option and restricted stock
plan (the 4€022014 Plan&€). Subsequently, in December 2017, the Company adopted and shareholders approved a stock option and restricted stock plan (the 4€0e2017 Plana€). In February
2020, the Board approved the 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the &€0e2020 Plana€, and collectively with the 2014 Plan and 2017 Plan, the &€ceEquity Incentive Plansa€) and on December 11, 2020,
the shareholders of the Company approved the 2020 Plan. In April 20, 2023, the Board approved the Companya€™s 2023 Stock Incentive Plan and on December 7, 2023, the shareholders of the
Company approved the 2023 Plan. A The Equity Incentive Plans provide that non-qualified options and incentive stock options and restricted stock may be granted to directors, affiliates,
employees, or consultants of the Company. The Equity Incentive Plans authorize awards representing up to 850,000, 900,000, 900,000, and 1,200,000 shares of the Companya€™s common
stock to be issued under the 2014 Plan, 2017 Plan, 2020 Plan, and 2023 Plan, respectively. Awards granted under the Equity Incentive Plans typically vest over 4 years. Options granted under
the Equity Incentive Plans will be granted at prices not less than 80% of the then fair market value of the common stock and will expire not more than 10 years after the date of grant. The 2014
Plan expires in December 2024, the 2017 Plan expires in December 2027, the 2020 Plan expires in December 2030, and 2023 Plan expires on April 20, 2033. A Stock-based compensation
expense for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows: A SCHEDULE OF STOCK BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE A A 2024A A 2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A
2024A A 2023A Cost of salesA $70,000A A $143,000A Selling, general and administrativeA A 742,000A A A 971,000A Research and developmentA A 25,000A A A 71,000A Total stock
option expenseA $837,000A A $1,185,000A A Activity as to aggregate stock options outstanding is as follows: A SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITY TO AGGREGATE STOCK OPTIONS A A Number of
Stock OptlonsA A Weighted Average Exercise PriceA A Aggregate Intrinsic ValueA Options Outstanding at May 31, 2022A A 2,321,616A A $3. 72A A $1,838,000A Options grantedA

A 243,000A A $2.70A A $-A Options exercisedA A (46,500)A $1.73A A $90,000A Options canceled or explredA A (175, 500)A $5.56A A $- -A Options Outstanding at May 31, 2023A

A 2,342,616A A $3.52A A $146, 000A Options grantedA A 1,338,500A A $1.13A A $-A Options canceled or explredA A (201,500)A $4.64A A $-A Options Outstanding at May 31, 2024A

A 3,479,616A A $2.53A A $-A Options vested and exercisable at May 31, 2024A A 2,047,712A A $3.23A A $-A A The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during 2024
and 2023 were $0.80 and $2.19, respectively. A On May 31, 2024, total compensation cost related to non-vested stock option awards not yet recognized totaled approximately $1,265,000. The
weighted-average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 2.37 years. The weighted average remaining contractual term of options that were exercisable on May 31, 2024
was 4.97 years. The weighted average remaining contractual term of options that were vested, exercisable, or expected to vest on May 31, 2024 was 6.62 years. A COMMON STOCK ACTIVITY
A On January 22, 2021, the Company filed a prospectus supplement to the base prospectus included in a registration statement filed with the SEC on July 21, 2020, and declared effective by
the SEC on September 30, 2020, for purposes of selling up to $15,000,000 in the ATM Offering, as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act. A FS-16 A A On May 21, 2021, in
conjunction with the Companya€™s 2020 Stock Incentive Plan, that was approved by shareholders at the Companya€™s annual meeting in December 2020, the Company filed an S-8
Registration Statement to register up to 900,000 shares of the Companya€™s common stock that could be issued under this Plan. A Under the ATM Offering, the sales agent uses commercially
reasonable efforts to sell on the Companya€™ s behalf all of the shares requested to be sold from time to time by the Company, consistent with its normal trading and sales practices, on
mutually agreed terms between the agent and the Company. The Company has no obligation to sell any of the shares under the ATM Offering, and may at any time suspend offers under, or
terminate the ATM Offering. A During the year ended May 31, 2023 the Company sold 573,889 shares of its common stock at prices ranging from $3.15 to $4.26 pursuant to the ATM Offering,
which resulted in gross proceeds of approximately $2,014,000 and net proceeds to the Company of $1,961,000, after deducting commissions for each sale and legal, accounting, and other fees
related to the offering in the amount of $53,000. A On March 7, 2023, the Company sold 3,333,333 shares of common stock in a firm commitment public offering at a gross sales price of $2.40
per share, with net total proceeds, after deducting issuance fees and expenses of $700,000, of approximately $7,300,000. As a result of this public offering, the Company terminated the ATM
offering agreement. A On September 28, 2023, the Company filed a 4€ceshelfa€ registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, allowing the Company to issue up to $20,000,000 in common
shares. Under this registration statement, shares of our common stock may be sold from time to time for up to three years from the filing date. On May 10, 2024, the Company filed a prospectus
supplement with the SEC, as part of the registration statement filed on September 28, 2023, which was declared effective on September 29, 2023. This supplement was intended to facilitate the
sale of up to $5,500,000 in common stock through ATM offerings, as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act. A During the year ended May 31, 2024, the Company has not sold any shares
of its common stock through the ATM Offering. A PREFERRED STOCK ACTIVITY A On February 24, 2020, the Company entered into and closed on a Stock Purchase Agreement (the a€ceStock
Purchase Agreementa€) with Palm Global Small Cap Master Fund LP (4€cePalméa€) pursuant to which the Company agreed to sell and issue to Palm, and Palm agreed to purchase from the
Company, 571,429 shares of the Companya€™s Series A 5% Convertible Preferred Stock, $0.08 par value per share for a purchase price of approximately $2 million, or $3.50 per Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock. Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreement, each share of issued Convertible Preferred Stock can be converted at any time by Palm into one share of the
Companya€™s common stock, subject to certain adjustments. A The Series A 5% Convertible Preferred Stock accrued annual preferred dividends at a rate of $0.175 per Series A 5%
Convertible Preferred Share. However, accruing dividends were payable only when, as, and if declared by the Board and the Company had no obligation to pay such accruing dividends. A On
March 24, 2020, Palm converted 250,000 shares of Convertible Preferred Stock into 250,000 shares of unregistered common stock. On July 21, 2020, the Company filed with the SEC a
registration statement on Form S-3, that among other things, registered 571,429 common shares issued, or to be issued, to Palm upon conversion of the Convertible Preferred Stock into
common shares. On September 30, 2020, the Company received a Notice of Effectiveness from the Securities and Exchange Commission for registration of these shares. On January 21, 2021,
Palm converted their remaining 321,429 Convertible Preferred Shares into registered common shares. On May 30, 2021, the Company had no shares of Preferred Stock outstanding. Under the
terms of the Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement, none of the cumulative dividends were paid to Palm during the period they owned the Preferred Stock. Once converted to common shares,
Palm lost all rights to receive any past cumulative dividends. A FS-17 A A NOTE 7: INCOME TAXES A Provision for income taxes for the years ended May 31 consists of the following:



A SCHEDULE OF PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES A A 2024A A 2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Current:A AAAA AAA U.S. FederalA $-AA $-A Foreign
Taxes SubsidiariesA A (41,000)A A (50,000) State and localA A (1,000)A A (1,000) Total currentA A (42,000)A A (51,000) Deferred:A AAAA AAA U.S. FederalA A-AA A-A State and
localA A-AA A-A Total deferredA A-AA A-A Income tax expenseA $(42,000)A $(51,000) A Provision for income taxes differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. Federal
income tax rate applicable for each year (21% for 2024 and 2023) to pretax income as a result of the following: A SCHEDULE OF EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION A A 2024A A
2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Computed a€ceexpecteda€ tax benefitA $1,247,000A A A 1,490,000A Increase (reduction) in income taxes resulting from: A
AAAA AAA Change in valuation allowanceA A (1,428, OOO)A A (1,973,000) State income taxes, net of federal benefitA A 459,000A A A 583,000A Permanent tax differences and otherA

A (148,000)A A (17,000) Stock based compensation benefitA A -A A A (5,000) Foreign taxes of subsidiariesA A (172,000)A A (129,000) Income tax expenseA $(42,000)A $(51,000) A The tax
effect of significant temporary differencesA is presented below: A SCHEDULE OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS A A 2024A A 2023A AA May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A Deferred tax assets:A
AAAA AAA Accounts receivable, principally due to allowance for credit lossesA $5,000A A $8,000A Inventory valuationA A 131,000A A A 188,000A Compensated absencesA

A 144,000A A A 118,000A Net operating loss carryforwardsA A 6,658,000A A A 5,817,000A Tax credit carryforwardsA A 1,380,000A A A 1,239,000A Deferred rent expense/capitalized
leasesA A 11,000A A A 11,000A Stock optionsA A 1,561,000A A A 1,296,000A Sec 174 capitalized costsA A 501,000A A A 284,000A Losses of foreign subsidiaries and other, netA

A 2,000A A A-A Accumulated deprematlon and amortizationA A (24,000)A A (21,000) Total deferred tax assetsA A 10,369,000A A A 8,940,000A Less valuation allowanceA A (10,369,000)A
A (8,940,000) Net deferred tax assetA $-A A $-A A The Company has provided a valuation allowance of approximately $10,369,000 and $8,940,000 as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
The net change in the valuation allowance for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 was an increase of $1,429,000 and $1,973,000, respectively. The Company has recorded a full valuation
allowance against its United States and foreign deferred tax assets in each of the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023 because the Companya€™s management believes that it is more likely
than not that these assets will not be realized. A On May 31, 2024, the Company has Federal income tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $24,384,000. On May 31, 2024, the
Company has California state income tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $22,014,000. For tax reporting purposes, operating loss carryforwards are available to offset future
taxable income; such carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in 2024 and 2038 for federal and state purposes, respectively. Federal net operating losses beginning in 2018 have no
expiration date. A FS-18 A A On May 31, 2024, the Company has Federal research and development tax credit carryforward of approximately $888,000. The Federal credits begin to expire in
2028. The Company also had similar credit carryforwards for state purposes of $623,000 on May 31, 2024, which do not expire. A Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (4€ceIRCA€) Sections 382
and 383, annual use of the Companya€™s net operating loss (4€eNOL4&€) and credit carryforwards may be limited by statute because of a cumulative change in ownership of more than 50%.
Pursuant to Sections 382 and 383 of the IRC, the annual use of the Companya€™s NOLs and credit carryforwards would be limited if there is a cumulative change of ownership (as that term is
defined in Section 382(g) of the IRC of greater than 50% in a three-year period). Management has not performed an analysis to determine if the Company has had a cumulative change in
ownership of greater than 50%. A For the year ended May 31, 2024, the Company performed an analysis and has not identified any uncertain tax positions as defined under ASC 740. Should
such position be identified in the future, and should the Company owe interest and penalties as a result of this, these would be recognized as interest expense and other expense, respectively, in
the consolidated financial statements. The Company is no longer subject to any significant U.S. federal tax examinations by tax authorities for years before fiscal 2018. A NOTE 8:
GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION A The Company operates as one segment. Geographic information regarding net sales is approximately as follows: A SCHEDULE OF GEOGRAPHIC
INFORMATION A A 2024A A 2023A A A For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Revenues from sales to unaffiliated customers:A AAAA AAA AsiaA $1,881,000A A
$2,021,000A EuropeA A 1,438,000A A A 1,798,000A North AmericaA A 1,285,000A A A 1,470,000A Middle EastA A 800,000A A A 39,000A South AmericaA A 11,000A A A 11,000A
TotalA $5,415,000A A $5,339,000A A NOTE 9: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES A OPERATING LEASES A The Company leases facilities in Irvine, California and Mexicali, Mexico. A
As of May 31, 2024, the Company had approximately 22,000 square feet of floor space at its corporate headquarters at 17571 Von Karman Avenue in Irvine, California. The lease for its
headquarters expires in August 2026. The Company has the option to extend the lease for an additional five-year term. The Company made a security deposit of approximately $22,000. A In
November 2016, the Companya€™s Mexican subsidiary, Biomerica de Mexico, entered into a 10-year lease for approximately 8,100 square feet of manufacturing space. The Company has one
10-year option to renew at the end of the initial lease period. Biomerica de Mexico also leases a smaller unit on a month-to-month basis for use in the Companya€™s manufacturing process. A
In addition, the Company leases a small office in Lindau, Germany on a month-to-month basis, as headquarters for BioEurope GmbH, its Germany subsidiary. A For purposes of determining
straight-line rent expense, the lease term is calculated from the date the Company first takes possession of the facility, including any periods of free rent and any renewal options periods that
the Company is reasonably certain of exercising. The Companya€™s office and equipment leases generally have contractually specified minimum rent and annual rent increases are included in
the measurement of the right-of-use asset and related lease liabilities. Additionally, under these lease arrangements, the Company may be required to pay directly, or reimburse the lessors, for
some maintenance and operating costs. Such amounts are generally variable and therefore not included in the measurement of the right-of-use asset and related lease liabilities but are instead
recognized as variable lease expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss when they are incurred. A FS-19 A A The following table presents information on our
operating leases for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023: A SCHEDULE OF OPERATING LEASESAA AAAA AAA AA For the Year Ended May 31,A AA 2024A A 2023A Operating
lease costA $353,000A A $353,000A Variable lease costA A 11,000A A A -A Short-term lease costA 14,000A A 5,000A Total lease costA $378,000A A $358, 000A A The future minimum
lease payments of the Companya€™s operating lease liabilities by fiscal year are as follows: A SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS AA AAA Year Ending May 31, A AA

A A Operating LeasesA 2025A $365,000A 2026A A 376,000A 2027A A 101,000A Total minimum future lease paymentsA A 842,000A Less: imputed interestA A 57,000A Total operating
lease liabilitiesA $785,000A A The following table summarizes the Companya€™s other supplemental lease information for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023: A SCHEDULE OF OTHER
SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE INFORMATION AA AAAA AAA AA For the Year Ended May 31,A A A 2024A A 2023A Cash paid for operating lease liabilitiesA $356,000A A $347,000A
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)A A 2.27A A A 3.27A Weighted-average discount rateA A 6.50%A A 6.50% A The Company also has various insignificant leases for office
equipment. A RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN A Effective September 1, 1986, the Company established a 401(k) plan for the benefit of its employees. The plan permits eligible employees to
contribute to the plan up to the maximum percentage of total annual compensation allowable under the limits of IRC Sections 415, 401(k) and 404. The Company, at the discretion of its Board
of Directors, may make contributions to the plan in amounts determined by the Board each year. No contributions by the Company have been made since the plana€™s inception. A
LITIGATION A A The Company is, from time to time, involved in legal proceedings, claims, and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. While the amounts claimed may be
substantial, the ultimate liability cannot presently be determined because of considerable uncertainties that exist. Therefore, it is possible the outcome of such legal proceedings, claims, and
litigation could have a material effect on quarterly or annual operating results or cash flows when resolved in a future period. However, based on facts currently available, management believes
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company4a€™s consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. A There were no legal proceedings pending as of
May 31, 2024.A A CONTRACTS A Contracts and Licensing Agreements A The Company has one royalty agreement in which it has obtained rights to manufacture and market certain products
for the life of the products. Royalty expenses of approximately $10,000 and $13,000 is included in cost of sales for the agreement for each of the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Sales of products manufactured under these agreements comprise approximately 1% and 2% of total sales for the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Company
may license other products or technology in the future as it deems necessary for conducting business. The Company has other royalty agreements; however, they are not considered material. A
Clinical Trial Agreements A There are no Clinical Trial Agreements for each of the years ended May 31, 2024 and 2023. A NOTE 10: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS A As part of our ongoing efforts to
reduce costs, we have implemented significant cost-cutting measures, including a workforce reduction of nearly 15% in July 2024. A FS-20 A EX-10.8 2 ex10-8.htm A Exhibit 10.8 A
BIOMERICA, INC. A Employment Agreement A This Employment Agreement (the &€ceAgreementa€) is entered into by and between Biomerica, Inc., a California Corporation (the
a€ceCompanya€) and Gary Lu (4€ceEmployeea€). A The parties agree that Employeea€™s employment with the Company is subject to and shall be governed by the following terms and
conditions: A 1. Duties and Scope of Employment. A a. Positions and Duties. Employee is currently serving as the Chief Financial Officer. Employee will continue to render such business and
professional services in the performance of his duties, consistent with Employee4€™ s position within the Company, as will reasonably be assigned to him by the Chief Executive Officer. The
period Employee is employed by the Company under this Agreement is referred to herein as the &€ ceEmployment Term.4€ A b. Obligations. During the Employment Term, Employee will devote
Employeea€™s full business efforts to the Company and will use all good faith efforts to discharge Employeea€™s obligations under this Agreement to the best of his/her ability. A c. No
Conflicting Obligations. Employee represents and warrants to the Company that as of the Effective Date he has no obligation or commitment, whether contractual or otherwise, that are
inconsistent with his obligations under this Agreement. In connection with this Agreement, Employee shall not use or disclose any trade secrets or other proprietary or confidential information
in which he or any other person has any right, title or interest and his/her Employment will not infringe or violate the rights of any other person or entity. Employee represents and warrants to
the Company that he/she has returned all property and confidential information belonging to any prior employer or client. A 2. At-Will Employment. Employee and the Company agree that
Employeea€™s employment with the Company is a€ceat-will.a€ Employee and the Company acknowledge that this employment relationship may be terminated at any time, with or without
reason or notice, at the option either of the Company or Employee. This Agreement shall constitute the full and complete agreement between Employee and the Company on the a€ceat-willa€
nature of Employeea€™s Employment, which may only be changed in an express written agreement signed by Employee and a duly authorized officer of the Company. Employee and the
Company further agree that the benefits and terms and conditions of employee&a€™s engagement with the Company, including his compensation, may change in the Companya€™s sole
discretion from time to time, with or without notice or cause. A Biomerica, Inc. - Employment Agreement-A 1 -Confidential A A 3. Compensation. A a. Base Salary. Employeea€™s annual
salary is $260,000 per year (the 4€ceBase Salarya€). The Base Salary will be paid periodically in accordance with the Companya€™s normal payroll practices and will be subject to tax and other
withholdings. A b. Employee Benefits. A i. Generally. Employee will be eligible to participate in the benefit plans offered to other Company employees as such plans and policies may exist from
time to time. Eligibility shall be in accordance with the terms and conditions of any such plans, policies, and arrangements. A ii. Paid Time Off. During the Employment Term, Employee will be
eligible to accrue paid time off, accruing in accordance with Company policy and to be used for vacation, time away from work and for the Employeed€™s own illness or that of a family member.
A 4. Expenses. The Company will reimburse Employee for necessary and reasonable travel, entertainment, and other business expenses incurred by Employee in the furtherance of
Employeea€™s duties hereunder upon presentation of an itemized account and appropriate supporting documentation in accordance with the Companya€™s expense reimbursement policy. A
5. Employment Conditions. A a. Confidentiality Agreement. Employeea€™s continued employment with the Company is contingent upon the execution of Companya€™s Confidential
Information and Invention Assignment Agreement, and other employment agreements which were signed by Employee at the time of his commencement of employment (the &4€ceOther
Agreementsa€). The Other Agreements are incorporated by reference herein. Following the termination of Employeea€™s employment for any reason, Employeea€™s obligations under the
Other Agreement that are indicated to survive termination shall remain in force in accordance with their terms. A 6. Restriction of Employeea€™s Activities. While employed by the Company,
Employee shall not, directly or indirectly, engage in any activity which reasonably should be known by Employee to be competitive with any business activity engaged in by the Company. A 7.
Rights and Duties Upon Termination. A a. At-Will Employment. Employee acknowledges that Employee&€™s employment with the Company is &€ceat-will, A€ which means that either Employee
or the Company can terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, with or without cause or notice. Employee acknowledges that there is no agreement, express or implied,
between Employee and the Company for any specific period of employment, nor for continuing long-term employment, and that nothing in the Agreement or any statements made to Employee
while employed are intended to or actually do modify the at-will nature of Employeea€™s employment. Employee further agrees that this at-will employment agreement can only be modified in
a written agreement signed by the CEO of the Company. Except as specifically provided below, Employee shall not be entitled to any further pay, salary, compensation or remuneration of any
kind in the event that either Employee or the Company terminates the employment relationship for any reason. Employeea€™s exclusive termination remuneration shall be all accrued but
unpaid Base Salary and accrued but unused vacation to the date of the termination. A Biomerica, Inc. - Employment Agreement-A 2 -Confidential A A b. Separation Pay. A i. Termination by
the Company for Cause. If the Company terminates Employeed€™ s employment for &€ceCausea€ (defined below), Employeea€™s exclusive termination remuneration shall be all accrued but
unpaid Base Salary and any accrued but unused PTO to the date of the termination. For purposes of this Section 7(b)(i), &€ceCaused€ shall mean: (1) Employee having committed any felony or
other crime involving moral turpitude; (2) the use of narcotics or alcohol to an extent which impairs Employeea€™s performance or any such use while on the job; (3) malfeasance,
insubordination, or gross negligence by Employee in the performance of duties; or (4) the violation by Employee of any material provision of this Agreement. The existence of cause shall be
determined in the Companya€™s sole discretion. A ii. Termination by the Company without Cause. The Company or its successor may terminate Employeea€™s employment at any time, with
or without prior notice, without cause, by delivering to Employee a notice of termination, and in such case, Employee shall be paid all accrued but unpaid Base Salary and any accrued but
unused PTO to the date of the termination. If Employee is terminated by the Company without Cause, (as defined in Section 7(b)(i) above), including following a Change in Control, Employee
will be eligible for severance pay. Severance pay will be equal to twelve months (1 year) of Employeea€™s base pay (the &€ceSeverance Paymenta€), provided that the Employee executes and
does not revoke a general release of claims against the Company and its affiliates, officers, directors, agents, and employees. For purposes of this section, if termination of employment by the
Company without Cause occurs following a Change in Control, Employee agrees to remain with the Company for a transition period of up to 90 days, at the sole option of the Company, following
which the Severance Payment shall be paid immediately. For all other instances of termination by Company without cause, payment shall occur within 30 days following termination. Further,
for any termination of Employee by the Company without Cause following a Change in Control, all unvested stock options previously issued to Employee shall become immediately vested and
exercisable. A A. For purposes of this Agreement, &€ceChange in Controla€ shall mean any of the following: (a) a merger or consolidation in which the Company is not the surviving entity; (b) a
sale, transfer, or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; or (c) any transaction or series of transactions in which any person or entity becomes the beneficial
owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing more than 50% of the total voting power of all outstanding securities of the Company. A iii. Termination by Employee
with Cause. If Employee terminates his employment with the Company with Cause, including a termination with Cause following a Change in Control, Employee will be eligible for a Severance
Payment, again equal to twelve months of Employees base pay, provided that Employee executes and does not revoke a general release of claims against the Company and its affiliates, officers,
directors, agents, and employees. For purposes of this section, if Employee terminates his employment with Cause Employee agrees to remain with the Company for a transition period of up to
90 days, at the sole option of the Company, following which the Severance Payment shall be paid immediately. Further, in the event of a termination of employment by Employee with Cause
following a Change in Control, all unvested stock options previously issued to Employee shall become immediately vested and exercisable. A Biomerica, Inc. - Employment Agreement-A 3 -
Confidential A A A. For the purposes of Section 7(b)(iii) above, a termination by Employee with &€ceCause4€ shall include a termination by employee following, (a) any change in
Employeea€™s title or his reporting structure into the CEO or into the Board of the Company; (b) any reduction in Employeeda€™ s base salary or benefits; (c) any material reassignment of
duties or responsibilities that is inconsistent with Employee4€™ s position as Chief Financial Officer; (d) any relocation of Employeea€™ s principal place of work by more than 50 miles from the
current location. Further it is understood by Employee that a liquidation, bankruptcy, reorganization or corporate restructuring shall inherently alter the normal duties and key responsibilities
of the CFO and that such changes in responsibilities and duties shall not trigger the ability for Employee to terminate for Cause. A c. Employeea€™s Responsibilities Upon Termination of
Employment. A i. Upon termination of employment for any reason, Employee shall cooperate with the Company, as reasonably requested by the Company, to affect a transition of
Employeea€™s responsibilities and to ensure that the Company is aware of all matters being handled by Employee. A ii. Employee shall, after termination of employment, upon reasonable



notice, furnish such information and assistance to the Company as may reasonably be required by the Company in connection with any litigation in which it may become a party. A d.
Assignment Clause A Any successor of the Company, whether by purchase, merger, reorganization, or otherwise, shall assume and be bound by all obligations under this Agreement, including
but not limited to the severance provisions outlined in Section 7(b). This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of any such successor. A 8. Assignment. This Agreement will
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of (a) the heirs, executors, and legal representatives of Employee upon Employeea€™s death, and (b) any successor of the Company. Any such successor
of the Company will be deemed substituted for the Company under the terms of this Agreement for all purposes. For this purpose, a€cesuccessora€ means any person, firm, corporation, or other
business entity which at any time, whether by purchase, merger, or otherwise, directly or indirectly acquires all or substantially all of the assets or business of the Company. The Company may
assign its rights under this Agreement to any entity that assumes the Companya€™ s obligations hereunder in connection with any sale or transfer of all or a substantial portion of the
Companya€™s assets to such entity. None of the rights of Employee to receive any form of compensation payable pursuant to this Agreement may be assigned or transferred except by will or
the Laws of descent and distribution. Any other attempted assignment, transfer, conveyance, or other disposition of Employeea€™ s right to compensation or other benefits will be null and void.
A Biomerica, Inc. - Employment Agreement-A 4 -Confidential A A 9. Notices. All notices, requests, demands, and other communications called for hereunder will be in writing and will be
deemed given and shall be deemed to have been duly given when personally delivered or when mailed by U.S. registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid and
addressed to the parties or their successors at the following addresses, or at such other addresses as the parties may later designate in writing: If to the Company: Attn: to its Chief Executive
Officer. If to Employee: at the last residential address known by the Company. A 10. Legal Advice and Expenses. Employee acknowledges that he/she has had the opportunity to discuss this
matter with and obtain advice from his/her attorney, has had sufficient time to, and has carefully read and fully understands all the provisions of this Agreement, and is knowingly and
voluntarily entering into this Agreement. The Company and Employee shall each be responsible for their own legal and/or tax advice and expenses incurred in negotiating the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and understanding the effects of this Agreement. A 11. Integration. This Agreement, together with the executed Confidentiality Agreement and any executed
Arbitration Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the parties as to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements,
whether written or oral. No alteration or modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement will be binding unless it is in writing and is signed by duly authorized representatives of the
parties hereto. In entering into this Agreement, no party has relied on or made any representation, warranty, inducement, promise or understanding that is not in this Agreement. Employee
acknowledges that Employee is not subject to any contract, obligation or understanding (whether written or not), that would in any way restrict the performance of Employeea€™s duties as set
forth in this Agreement. A 12. Waiver of Breach. The waiver of a breach of any term or provision of this Agreement, which must be in writing, will not operate as or be construed to be a waiver
of any other previous or subsequent breach of this Agreement. A 13. Survival. The Confidentiality Agreement, any Arbitration Agreement, and the Companya€™s and Employeea€™s
responsibilities under Section 7 will survive the termination of Employeea€™s Employment. A 14. Headings. All captions and Section headings used in this Agreement are for reference only
and do not form a part of this Agreement. A 15. Tax Withholding. All payments made pursuant to this Agreement will be subject to applicable tax withholding. The Company shall have no
obligation to any person entitled to the benefits of this Agreement with respect to any tax obligation any such person incurs because of or attributable to this Agreement. A Biomerica, Inc. -
Employment Agreement-A 5 -Confidential A A 16. Choice of Law and Severability. This Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of California without giving
effect to provisions governing the choice of law. If any provision of this Agreement becomes or is deemed invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any applicable jurisdiction by reason of the scope,
extent or duration of its coverage, then such provision shall be deemed amended to the minimum extent necessary to conform to applicable law so as to be valid and enforceable or, if such
provision cannot be so amended without materially altering the intention of the parties, then such provision shall be stricken and the remainder of this Agreement shall continue in full force and
effect. If any provision of this Agreement is rendered illegal by any present or future statute, law, ordinance, rule or regulation (collectively, the &€ceLawa€) then that provision shall be curtailed
or limited only to the minimum extent necessary to bring the provision into compliance with the Law. All the other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect
without impairment or limitation. A 17. In the event of any dispute or legal action arising out of or relating to this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover reasonable
attorneysa€™ fees and costs, including any expenses incurred in enforcing or defending this Agreement, whether or not the dispute or legal action proceeds to final judgment. In the event that
the Employee prevails in any action brought to enforce his rights under this Agreement or to recover damages for breach of this Agreement, the Company shall reimburse the Employee for all
legal fees and expenses incurred by the Employee in connection with such action. A 18. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, and each counterpart will have the
same force and effect as an original and will constitute an effective, binding agreement on the part of each of the undersigned. A IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties has executed this
Agreement, in the case of the Company by a duly authorized officer, as of the day and year written below. A BIOMERICA, INC. A EMPLOYEEA A A By: A A A Name: Zack Irani A Name:
Gary Lu Title: CEOA A A A A A A A Date: A Date: A Biomerica, Inc. - Employment Agreement-A 6 -Confidential A EX-23.1 3 ex23-1.htm A EXHIBIT 23.1 A CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM A We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No. 333-274729) and the Registration Statements on
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-179443, 333-204410, 333-224836 and 333-256377) of Biomerica, Inc. (the &€ceCompanya€) of our report dated August 28, 2024, relating to our audits of the Companya€™s
consolidated financial statements as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, and for each of the years then ended, which report includes an explanatory paragraph expressing substantial doubt regarding
the Companya€™s ability to continue as a going concern, included in the Companya€™s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2024. A A /s/ HASKELL & WHITE LLP A
A A HASKELL & WHITE LLP A A Irvine, California A August 28, 2024 A A A EX-31.1 4 ex31-1.htm A EXHIBIT 31.1 A CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18
U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A I, Zackary S. Irani, certify that: A 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on
Form 10-K of Biomerica, Inc.; A 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; A 3. Based on my knowledge, the
financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant
as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; A 4. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: A a)
designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; A b) designed such
internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; A c) evaluated the effectiveness of the
registranta€™s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and A d) disclosed in this report any change in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrantd€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registranta€™s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and A 5. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of our internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant&€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of directors (or other persons performing the equivalent functions): A a) all
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and A b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
reglstrantae‘”s internal control over financial reporting. A /s/ Zackary S. Irani A Zackary S. Irani A Chief Executive Officer A A A Date: August 28, 2024 A A A A EX-31.2 5 ex31-2.htm A
EXHIBIT 31.2 A CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF
2002 A 1, Gary Lu, certify that: A 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Biomerica, Inc.; A 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report; A 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects, the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; A 4. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I are responsible for
establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: A a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; A b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles; A c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registranta€™ s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and A d) disclosed in this report any change in the
registranta€™ s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registranta€™s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrantd€™s fourth quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting; and A 5. The registranta€™s other certifying officer and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting, to the registranta€™s auditors and the audit committee of the registranta€™s board of
directors (or other persons performing the equivalent functions): A a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registranta€™s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and A b) any fraud, whether or not material, that
involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registranta€™s internal control over financial reporting. A /s/ Gary LuA Gary Lu A Chief Financial Officer A A A
Date: August 28, 2024 A A A A EX-32.1 6 ex32-1.htm A EXHIBIT 32.1 A CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 A In connection with the Annual Report of Biomerica, Inc. (the 4€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-K for the year ended May
31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the 4€ceReporta€), I, Zackary Irani, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my
knowledge, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended: A i. The Report fully
complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and A ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company. A /s/ Zackary S. Irani A Zackary S. Irani A Chief Executive Officer A A A Date: August 28, 2024 A A A A EX-32.2 7 ex32-2.htm
A EXHIBIT 32.2 A CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350 AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT
OF 2002 A In connection with the Annual Report of Biomerica, Inc. (the 4€ceCompanya€) on Form 10-K for the year ended May 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
on the date hereof (the a€ceReporta€), I, Gary Lu, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, to the best of my knowledge, pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended: A i. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sections 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, and A ii. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. A /s/ Gary Lu
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Amendment Flag Amendment Description Document Registration Statement Document Annual Report Document Quarterly Report Document Transition Report Document Shell Company
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Offer Title of 12(b) Security No Trading Symbol Flag Trading Symbol Security Exchange Name Title of 12(g) Security Security Reporting Obligation Annual Information Form Audited Annual
Financial Statements Entity Well-known Seasoned Issuer Entity Voluntary Filers Entity Current Reporting Status Entity Interactive Data Current Entity Filer Category Entity Small Business
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Document Financial Statement Error Correction [Flag] Entity Listing, Par Value Per Share Auditor Firm ID Auditor Opinion [Text Block] Auditor Name Auditor Location Statement [Table]
Statement [Line Items] Assets Current Assets: Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, net Inventories, net Prepaid expenses and other Total current assets Property and equipment, net
of accumulated depreciation and amortization Right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization of $910,000 and $617,000 as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively Investments Intangible
assets, net of accumulated amortization of $48,000 and $30,000 as of May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively Other assets Total Assets Liabilities and Shareholdersa€™ Equity Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses Accrued compensation Advances from customers Lease liabilities, current portion Total current liabilities Lease liabilities, net of current portion Total
Liabilities Commitments and contingencies (Note 9) Shareholdersa€™ Equity: Preferred stock, undesignated, no par value, 4,428,571 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding as of May
31, 2024 and 2023 Common stock, $0.08 par value, 25,000,000 shares authorized, 16,821,646 issued and outstanding at May 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss Accumulated deficit Total Shareholdersd€™ Equity Total Liabilities and Shareholdersd€™ Equity Accumulated amortization Intangible assets, net of
accumulated amortization Preferred stock, par value Preferred stock, shares authorized Preferred stock, shares issued Preferred stock, shares outstanding Common stock, par value Common
stock, shares authorized Common stock, shares issued Common stock, shares outstanding Income Statement [Abstract] Net sales Cost of sales Gross profit Operating expenses: Selling, general
and administrative Research and development Total operating expense Loss from operations Other income: Dividend and interest income Other income Total other income Loss before income
taxes Provision for income taxes Net loss Basic net loss per common share Diluted net loss per common share Weighted average number of common and common equivalent shares: Basic
Diluted Net loss Other comprehensive loss, net of tax: Foreign currency translation Comprehensive loss Balance Balance, shares Exercise of stock options Exercise of stock options, shares Net
proceeds from ATM Net proceeds from ATM, shares Shares issued in connection with public offering Shares issued in connection with public offering, shares Compensation expense in
connection with options granted Balance Balance, shares Statement of Cash Flows [Abstract] Cash flows from operating activities: Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
operating activities: Depreciation and amortization (Recovery) provision for allowance for credit losses Inventory reserve Share-based compensation Amortization of right-of-use asset Changes
in assets and liabilities: Accounts receivable Inventories Prepaid expenses and other Other assets Accounts payable and accrued expenses Accrued compensation Advances from customers
Reduction in lease liabilities Net cash used in operating activities Cash flows from investing activities: Purchases of property and equipment Expenditures related to intangibles Net cash used in
investing activities Cash flows from financing activities: Gross proceeds from sale of common stock Deferred offering costs Costs from sale of common stock Proceeds from exercise of stock
options Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities Effect of exchange rate changes in cash Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year Cash and cash equivalents at end of year Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information: Cash paid during the period for: Income taxes Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Write off of fixed assets, cost Write off of fixed assets, accumulated depreciation Write off of intangible assets, cost Write off of intangible assets, accumulated amortization Organization,
Consolidation and Presentation of Financial Statements [Abstract] ORGANIZATION Accounting Policies [Abstract] SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES Property, Plant and
Equipment [Abstract] PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET Goodwill and Intangible Assets Disclosure [Abstract] INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET Payables and Accruals [Abstract] ACCOUNTS
PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES Equity [Abstract] SHAREHOLDERS&€™ EQUITY Income Tax Disclosure [Abstract] INCOME TAXES Segment Reporting [Abstract] GEOGRAPHIC
INFORMATION Commitments and Contingencies Disclosure [Abstract] COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES Subsequent Events [Abstract] SUBSEQUENT EVENTS PRINCIPLES OF
CONSOLIDATION ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK GEOGRAPHIC
CONCENTRATION CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER INVENTORIES, NET PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET INVESTMENTS SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION REVENUE RECOGNITION SHIPPING AND HANDLING FEES RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INCOME TAXES
ADVERTISING COSTS FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES NET LOSS PER SHARE SEGMENT REPORTING REPORTING
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS SCHEDULE OF NET INVENTORIES SCHEDULE OF SHARE-BASED PAYMENT AWARD, STOCK OPTIONS,
VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS SCHEDULE OF DISAGGREGATION REVENUE SCHEDULE OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET SCHEDULE OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET SCHEDULE OF
EXPECTED AMORTIZATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS SCHEDULE OF ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES SCHEDULE OF STOCK BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE
SCHEDULE OF ACTIVITY TO AGGREGATE STOCK OPTIONS SCHEDULE OF PROVISION FOR INCOME TAXES SCHEDULE OF EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RECONCILIATION SCHEDULE OF
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS SCHEDULE OF GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SCHEDULE OF OPERATING LEASES SCHEDULE OF FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE PAYMENTS SCHEDULE OF OTHER
SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE INFORMATION Raw materials Work in progress Finished products Total gross inventory Inventory reserve Net inventory Property, Plant and Equipment [Table]
Property, Plant and Equipment [Line Items] Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions and Methodology [Abstract] Share-Based
Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions, Expected Dividend Rate Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair
Value Assumptions, Expected Volatility Rate, Minimum Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions, Expected Volatility Rate, Maximum
Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions, Risk Free Interest Rate, Minimum Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based
Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions, Risk Free Interest Rate, Maximum Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Fair Value Assumptions, Expected Term
Nature of Operation, Product Information, Concentration of Risk [Table] Product Information [Line Items] Total Accumulated deficit Working capital Shelf registration statement maximum
authorized common stock issuance value Sale of stock, number of shares issued in transaction Sale of stock, price per share Sale of stock, consideration received on transaction Proceeds from
issuance of common stock Sale of stock expenses Net proceeds from ATM (in Shares) Share price Deferred Offering Costs Average trading volume description Working capital Revenues
Concentration risk, percentage Other receivables, gross, current Inventory, gross Property, plant and equipment, net Threshold period past due for write-off of trade accounts receivable
Allowance accounts receivable, credit loss Prepaid expense and other assets Inventory reserves Property, plant and equipment, useful life Depreciation, depletion and amortization Finite-lived
intangible asset, useful life Amortization of intangible assets Intangible asset impairment charges Equity method investment, ownership percentage Share-based payment arrangement, expense
Proceeds from customers Research and development expense Deferred tax assets, valuation allowance Deferred tax assets, net Advertising expense Antidilutive securities excluded from
computation of earnings per share, amount (in shares) Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements Less accumulated depreciation Net property and equipment Patents Less accumulated
amortization-patents Intangible assets, net 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total Accounts payable Accrued expenses Total Net sales percent Total stock option expense Options
Outstanding, shares Options Outstanding Weighted Average Exercise Price Options outstanding, Aggregate Intrinsic Value Options granted, shares Options Granted Weighted Average Exercise
Price Options exercised, shares Options Exercised Weighted Average Exercise Price Options exercised, Aggregate IntrinsicValue Options cancelled or expired, shares Options canceled or
expired Weighted Average Exercise Price Options Outstanding, shares Options Outstanding Weighted Average Exercise Price Options outstanding, Aggregate Intrinsic Value Options vested and
exercisable, shares Options vested and exercisable Weighted Average Exercise Price Options vested and exercisable Aggregate Intrinsic Value Subsidiary or Equity Method Investee, Sale of
Stock, Type [Table] Subsidiary, Sale of Stock [Line Items] Share-based payment award, number of shares authorized Vesting period Award purchase price, percent Expiration period Granted,
weighted average grant date fair value Compenation cost related to non-vested stock option Weighted average period expected term Exercisable weighted average remaining contractual term
Vested, exercisable or expected to vest weighted average remaining contractual term Preferred stock, purchase price Sale of stock shares issued Sale of stock, net proceeds Dividends payable,
amount per share Conversion of stock, shares converted Conversion of stock, shares issued Conversion of stock, shares issued upon conversion U.S. Federal Foreign Taxes Subsidiaries State
and local Total current U.S. Federal State and local Total deferred Income tax expense Computed ad€ceexpecteda€ tax benefit Change in valuation allowance State income taxes, net of federal
benefit Permanent tax differences and other Stock based compensation benefit Foreign taxes of subsidiaries Accounts receivable, principally due to allowance for credit losses Inventory
valuation Compensated absences Net operating loss carryforwards Tax credit carryforwards Deferred rent expense/capitalized leases Stock options Sec 174 capitalized costs Losses of foreign
subsidiaries and other, net Accumulated depreciation and amortization Total deferred tax assets Less valuation allowance Net deferred tax asset Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation
[Table] Effective Income Tax Rate Reconciliation [Line Items] Federal income tax rate Increase in valuation allowance Operating loss carryforwards Tax credit carryforward Schedule of
Revenues from External Customers and Long-Lived Assets [Table] Revenues from External Customers and Long-Lived Assets [Line Items] Total Number of operating segments Operating lease
cost Variable lease cost Short-term lease cost Total lease cost 2025 2026 2027 Total minimum future lease payments Less: imputed interest Total operating lease liabilities Cash paid for
operating lease liabilities Weighted-average remaining lease term (years) Weighted-average discount rate Collaborative Arrangement and Arrangement Other than Collaborative [Table]
Collaborative Arrangement and Arrangement Other than Collaborative [Line Items] Lease area Security deposit Lease term description Operating lease term Operating lease renewal term
Royalty expense Royalty expense percentage of sales Liquidity [Policy Text Block] Working capital. Shelf registration statement maximum authorized common stock issuance value. ATM
Agreement [Member] Sale of stock expenses. Distributor One [Member] Distributor [Member] Three Distributor [Member] One Distributor [Member] Deffered tax assets stock options. Deferred
tax assets capitalized costs. Deferred tax assets losses of foreign subsidiaries other net. Deferred Tax Assets Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization. Distributors In Europe [Member] One
Vendor [Member] Concentration Risk Geographic Policy [Policy Text Block] Accounts receivable credit loss expense reversal. Prepaid Expenses and Other [Policy Text Block] Purchased
Technology Rights [Member] Polish Distributor [Member] Schedule of Supplemental Lease Information [Table Text Block] Royalty expense percentage of sales. Accumulated amortization. Finite
lived patents accumulated amortization. Two Vendor [Member] 2014 Plan [Member] 2017 Plan [Member] 2020 Plan [Member] 2023 Plan [Member] Building in Irvine California [Member] Cash
Paid During Year For [Abstract] Write off of intangible assets, cost. Write off of intangible assets, accumulated amortization. Write off of fixed assets cost. Write off of fixed assets accumulated
depreciation. Stock issued during period value shares issued in connection with public offering. Adjustments to additional paid in capital compensation expense in connection with options
granted. Stock issued during period shares shares issued in connection with public offering. 2020 Stock Incentive Plan [Member] ATM Offering [Member] Stock Purchase Agreement [Member]
Clinical Lab [Member] Contract Manufacturing [Member] Physicians Office [Member] Furniture and Fixtures Leasehold Improvements [Member] Over The Counter [Member] Distributors in
Asia [Member] Average trading volume description. Four Distributor [Member] Assets, Current Assets [Default Label] Liabilities, Current Liabilities Equity, Attributable to Parent Liabilities and
Equity Cost of Revenue Gross Profit Operating Expenses Operating Income (Loss) Nonoperating Income (Expense) Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations before Income Taxes,
Noncontrolling Interest Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax, Attributable to Parent Shares, Outstanding Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Receivable
Increase (Decrease) in Inventories Increase (Decrease) in Prepaid Expense and Other Assets Increase (Decrease) in Other Operating Assets Increase (Decrease) in Accounts Payable and
Accrued Liabilities Increase (Decrease) in Employee Related Liabilities Increase (Decrease) in Contract with Customer, Liability Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities Payments to
Acquire Property, Plant, and Equipment Payments to Acquire Intangible Assets Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities Payments of Financing Costs Payments of Stock Issuance
Costs Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Period Increase (Decrease), Including Exchange Rate
Effect Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents, Including Disposal Group and Discontinued Operations Property, Plant and Equipment, Policy [Policy Text
Block] Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Policy [Policy Text Block] Income Tax, Policy [Policy Text Block] Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Property, Plant, and Equipment
FiniteLivedPatentsAccumulatedAmortization Finite-Lived Intangible Assets, Net Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Number Share-
Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Outstanding, Weighted Average Exercise Price Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment
Award, Options, Outstanding, Intrinsic Value Share-Based Compensation Arrangement by Share-Based Payment Award, Options, Forfeitures and Expirations in Period Current Income Tax
Expense (Benefit) Deferred Federal Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Deferred State and Local Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Deferred Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Deferred Tax Assets, Net of
Valuation Allowance Lease, Cost Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year One Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid, Year Two Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid,
Year Three Lessee, Operating Lease, Liability, to be Paid Operating Lease, Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term Operating Lease, Weighted Average Discount Rate, Percent EX-101.PRE 12
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irritablebowel - “IBS”)_and-otherinfl . Th ; ” 1ot PP i1 that el dand o b arelel 7 X O
bowel (“IB5); and other ¥ These: are-directed-at-chronic y-illnesses that-are and and-as-stuch verylarge Our
inFoodstBS o inrote-blood- ke dis-desicred—toi - ; foods-that—wh, 4B the-diet iate IBS b in—bloati ;
productuses-a-simple-blood and-is to-identify icfoods-that whenr from-the-diet_may such-as pain,
1 of-broad-and-dii 14 5 teti theinFood ; ifvii ificfoods-that b : b, s Bricht inth ; 4 food-identified-as
of broad-and tHt-to dietary the d e-foods-that-may-be arr yhigh s in-the A-food-iden
i1 PR ) tner-the-—ab 74 i B i tesimpl - the-diet-totreh : IBS BB
wihtich is the-abnormat s in-the is-simplyr fromthe-diet-to-help
O PSS TSR I ) . 7 17 . " Lr s g PINRTRVSUNE 8 N " 72 int-of- iei: {1 d- th di tike Walmart-and €VS
Our products-are-sold-worldwide primarily-in-two-markets:=—1> Iaboratories-and-2) et offices-and-over drugstores
5 The-dli testkit: ot Izeblood—tri I orfecal i £ ; irr-thre—cli i of-vear " food-intolk d-oth dical Heath b i
I v)—The test-kits-are-used to-analyze blood,urine _nasal or-fecal front in-the of food and other by or
trrorth ; dordevel-of ificb, P bod e hich it : bodv—stool blood—often 5 ™ :
the and/or-level-of specific-bacteria,hormones, or-other which-may-exist-ina ‘s-body,stools_or-bloodoften-in-extremely small ations:

The-oth foti

o that il £ 4 ;. 3 i ‘ il food-intol o i ictests—Fh.
The other products-that to-our2024+ are ¥ on-gastt food and certain tests. These
Erok Most-of- iteF “OE") & 1 for-lis B £, 9 d-b B
Most-of our products-are Eur €. -and/or-sold for tise-where they-are by each country’s 12

Reference—t:-hit
—hitp:/fwww:

1943274/21 474
19435274/ 2 1474

Fin fi d-fi fat for-th ded May 31, 2024-and 2023 include the-accounts-of Biomerica; Inc—{“Bi fe i its wholl] d- i “Bie -
The forthe years-ended May 31 3 omerica’)-as-well-as-its- whotl Germar i

: boig: ” el : Al -si £4 o ionshaved P e
y-{“Bie de )-—Al significant-inter andtr have been p:id

Th i £ lidated-£h il : , ith 1 , : ineiples-in-the-United-States-ofA e (“GAAP) : + X i d
The of ot irr with y in-the United States-of (“GAAP”) requiires to-make arnd
it thataffect the reported-amounts-of assets-and liabiliti H-as-the-di: f i £ d-liab; t-the-date-of thefii iat T i e -t d
that-a. iesas well-asthe e-of assets-and liabilities-at-the date-of the Fhese also the reported
£ o deringth ; tod—Ke: : trreludetheall £ pased-onboth b ical : ith e bl : iom t
of and during the reporting period y the for based-on-both and with in
it i d-based that-inelud £ i iri djt based tual-salk d ditions;stock-optionforfeiture
T s based on-agr that of specified profit-margins; based-on-actual-sales per and-market-con
e Ieulated-trsi : tcal-clat: i bsole B ; isstated-at-thel Feost trealizable—vah NRV)-and TN PP PR . d-arrelbi ]
rates, using data; and ¥ where y-is stated-at-the lowerof cost-or-netr valie (NRV)-and based-on and
) p P P p

PrTeT) pr— PR
A ies-andr assets-also-involves

b asthed . to it d-oft
stch-as-the-borrowing rate-at lease hood-of tease

PITRRT) £ th i
atly r-from-those

Th
Fhese

7 £ d-actiral 1t Il
reportingand-actual results-could-mater

ik 4 deficitof: astely-$-mitli £ Afay-31. 2024 As of May-31. 2024t hadt-cash-and-cash
and has an deficit of appr ysm : 4, the had cast and cash
ivalents of imately s and work ital of imately $.484.170,0005,527,000

of appr $ and working capital of appr 4841 ;

baei A 7 7 B £ A
The has-incurred-netlosses-and cash flows fromnr

bﬂ—hﬂﬁﬂfv—Zﬂ—EOQ} the € d-a pr e to-the -base pr included in-a regi: it fited with the SEC on fuly 21, 2020, and declared-effective by-the SE€C on ber-30;

: iry e ” : defined-in-Rule4l d-underth ttiesAct(the—ATM. ina)-15-000-000
FiRGS, 5 in-Rule 415 pr tnder-the Act-(the"ATM Offering”)-15; 7
Ender-the ATM Offeringthe-sak £ bl rtsto-sel-onth behalf-atl-the-sh d-tobe-sold-fronr timeto-time by th i it: Fraci
ring,-the-sales-agent-uses ciatlyr effortsto-sell onthe y’s-behalf all the shares+ to-be-sold-from-tinte-to-tinte-by the ¥ with-its
d-salt ft /s d-te by th t-and the€e Fin 1 fgationt 7a b der-the ATM fi d (a £ d-offers-underor-terminate

and-sales o agreed-ternis the-agent-and-the y—Fhe has-no to-sell- any shares under-the ATM ringand may-at-anytinte 0;
During the year-ended May-31, 2023 th Id-sh, £ it: tock-at pri ing 11 to-% to-the ATM A hich ttedi ds-of fi 4 d-net

the y-sold shares-of its stock-at-prices ranging from-$-to to-the ATM Agr whichr in-gross-proceeds-of appr S$-and-net

ds-to-the-€ £5-after-deducti issionsfor-each-sale-and-legal, ing-and-otherfees related+ ingrin-th £5:573,8893.154.262,014,0001,961,00053,000
proceeds-to-the y-of $-after for-each sale-andleqal and-otherfeesrelated-to-offering-in-the of - 154, L0001,

OnMarch 72023 th it shares-of tock-in-afh ; b ngat tes price-of hare. with net-total toaftor-deducting i foesand £5 of

the y-sold-shares-of stock in-a-firm public-offering at a-gross-sales price-of & per-share  with net total pr after fees-and of $, of
- It of this publi ing, the € inated-the ATM offers 3,333,3332.40700,0007,300,000

appr $As o result of this public offering: the the ATM offering agr 3,333,333

tos 10420000000 hares-Ender this registrati hares-of-
yto-issue up-tos shares: Under this shares-of our
a h it th rtof the reqtstrath
dapr with the SE€,-as part-of the t

ber-28, 2023 which was declared-effecti b
ctive-on

derth itiesAct—A st of-thi ; the-Co
under-the Act-As part-of
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The €+ to-use the net from-this offering for corporate but-not to, sales-and and of
t Birsh i it el it o I PP "

assets, or capital- expenditures and capital-needs:

2 45 bad B o i tvate £ i 7 4 tvely—As-of-May-31—2024-and-2023—th had It itat-of- ‘ 4
As-of May 31, 2024-and 2023 th v-had cash-and cash of appr v-$-and $r v—As-of May 31 3-the y-had capital-of appr v-$-and-$,

£ i i th +twel hs-isii b 1 Eret PRGNS
Fhe- ‘s-ability-to as-a-going concern-over-the-next-twelve is by several
ity dditional £ i ional " 7 o b
- vto additionalr fronrinter oppor and-our-new product
- O -t th ital-and-debt X e " L 3 d-fund
- @ Our-need to-accessthe-capital-and debt to-meet and fund
. e e ; TP , a0 PIPTPT PP 7 S ey . N . I
to and gross-margins-as-we -grow. ability to-retainkey and operations witha s ce:
B A 1 b ) i h b4 £2025 and-b d—Based-on—thi- Iyesi b h-and B ivalk insufficientt " i
has the ‘s-cash-flow reqttir through Aug and-bey —Based-onthis y we our-current-cash-and-cash are-insufficient to-meet-our
Fo-add: ital o o i ; b d-th ivel ; ; i I o H k-additional i h h-deb: i
Fo-addressour-—capital needs-and y the-nextyear-weare to-increase-sales; reduce self e-assets,seek-additional through-debtor-equity,
o k-oth i i Whil i to-th % th i that-th Ffortswillb iert—t + ital i
and seekother White-we-are to-these plansthere-is-no-assurance that these-e: be orsufficient to-meet-ourcapital requir
Th £ i ial-doubt-abottth bilityt i i Ourfurt iability-de o h i £ ic-pik i dditi 1 £ i d
These raise doubt-about-the y’s-ability to as-a-going Qur-future viability on-the of our-strategic plans, additionat and
profitable-operations:
Th lidated-£i inl £Mav-31 4 o i basis—which th izati £ " d-th £ liabilith o i in—th
Fhe- s as-of May 31 4 were prepared-omn-a-going basis-which ther of assets-and-the of liabilities-and inthe
Th has—fi i hereby-thefai A £thetfi il tel-b: +thanth ded ical-basis—Th ; £ o]
The- has instr wherebythe fair value of the instr could be rent-thanthe recordedoma basis—The s
; ist-Of it h-and h tvak P 4 ble—Th i £ih iali theirfai h Th 1
instr of its-cash-and cash-eq s and The carrying of the: y’s instr their fair values—The y-also
P : p - Ty PR
arn inprivately-hreld fsee
The-Ce intai b bal 5 i il ittt 3 £ : I by federal ies—Fi timeto-ti the-Ce B ” 1 bak Th e b, FEi
The- cash at-certain in-excess-of insured by From time to-time, the has ed The: y-does not it-is
Th ; ditinth 7 £ bursi " the-United- " - i Th it Frati v d i
Fhe- providescredit-inthe-normal course-of to thr theUnited States-and-inforeign-markets—Fhe- y cre of its and reqtiires
prepay t-in-some cir

had istril B that d
y-had one-distributor-eachyear-that
Fotal ivabh FAMav-31 3 i 5 d tvely—As-of May-31-—2024—and-2023—th had-f o ivelv—that d-fe total-of
Fotal grossr as-of May 31,2024 and 2023 were y-$-and $;r y-—As of May-31 3 the- had four-and one ’: velythat for-atotal-of-%
For-the fiscal yearended May-31, 2024 th had d hich d-for-% of th h. f- ials—Forthe fiscal ded May 312023 th: did h. ignificant
4 the y-had onevendor-which for-% of the purchases of raw-materials_For-the fiscal year ended May 31 3 the did-not-have-any sign
of vendorspend-forraw 46
o . " . £ B t oo : i Mexicali—Mexd : 537 00606
As-of May-31,2024-and 2023appr y-$-and $r vy of 'S -gross y-was in . y-oF
. 2 " k. £ D . " . . or ) C o " . 7 S AT il A
As-of May- 31, 2024-and 2023, appr $-and $,r y—of Bic s property-and net-of depr and-anor was giis
Cashrand cash fvalk ist-of d Il its-and-nroney with-original ities-of less-than-three k
Th o d-credit-toit basi- ional I ired-t til-th blish-a—hi ith-th d-at-that-ti th ded
TFhe ed creditto-its on-aregular-basis—tnter are y-required-to-prepay-until they a-history-withthe- y-and-atthat-time;they-are
eredit-attevels-based b £ eriteria—Based- ; iteria—initinl-creditlevelsforindividual-distri dbv-desh o ££h Al i dit limits
at-levels-based on-a of Based-on initial eredit-levelsfor are-approved-by ers-and of the Allinereases-in-ere
¥ b ; o tevel
are-also-approved by upper-level
Fin d d-A ing-Standards Update(“ASH*) No-2016-13Fi fat dit Lossesfcodified A fi fi f “ )
TFhe ) No—2016-13, Instr €re: fed-as n 2S:
AAPth I ereditloss{“CECL”)-model del-based- 1 7 therthani 7 Priorto—th i £ASC-326—th 1 o toabl
GAAP the-current ere L) -model—a ement-model-based-on Hosses ratherthan-incurred losses:Prior-to-the of A the y onra
bact e I theall P incrlv—Bal: Il ™ d-fe T Hecti b d—Enderth icati FASC326—th
quarterly-basis-and the for y- over-old were y-reserved forunless wasr y-assured—Under-the of A: 6 the ‘s
; I ereditl i the-basisforth ; i £ d-credit 1 : d bursi diti 4 teh I firt i ts-that i +
eredit1oss the-basis for-the of creditlosses, as well ascurrent and conditions,and future eventsthat-may
7 bility—En-developingit d-creditt ; P h -t : : £ 6 P tsbased- it hrati Frisk-ch, istics—imchrdi ; i Fihet
y—in its credit-toss the the-appropriate grouping of assets-based uporn-its of risk istics, of the-types
£ " o i 1A £ bal i £ inst-the-all P I ereditt frer-all £ collectionh b A 1 and-th ialfe i idered
of products-and services sold: are off the for eredit losses-after-all-meansof have-been and the forrecovery-is ed
ionall rtaint . 5 trelvpl % o ik T tvablebal Iative-to-the-total ivables—M i th for-th %
certaintong whor y-place-large-orders witl-have large receivable relative-to-thetotal grossr the for-these large
bl tosel " £ ; Fexistinainvoicesbefe i 7 ”
closely-and very-often—r of before new salesorders:
3 th B blished. £ : o4 - £ 7 19.006029.-000
As-of May-31, 2024 and 2023, the y-has art of appr y-$-and $;r yforcredit 19006 z
Th ; forit h-as-ii i d-otherit Th it o i til-either—the—i i ; i the—i d-otherit
Fhe y-prepays-for-items such-as 7 and-other-items.—Fhese-items-are reported-as prepaids, until-either-the y-is phy y-received-or-the-insurance-and other-items-are
As-of May 31,2024 and 2023 th i i d d ivel i f- to-ii d-vari L iers:238,000300,000
3, the prepaids were-appr $-and 3+ of pr to-insurance-and other
INVENTORIES-NET
Th h i +thet £eost ined-usi inati £ ifictotidentificati d-thefirst-in—first-out- hods) " Yoo bl Jero M todicalh ; .
TFhe valtes v-at-the lower-of cost using-a of spec cation-and the first-in, or-netr valtre: yreviews y
fe P Jobsok I ; hand—phvsical . 4 technical £ : th " it bei b tef ; 7 1 £
for-excess arrd on-hand, conditionand tity-as these char may-be by for
7 o ; i Th is-aci d-based- b Ferati ith i isi ded-i + of-sales—Ab: 7 Fidlefacili freiaht
current products-and-new product-intr Fhe reserve-is basedon-such with-a-corr pr in-cost-of sales-Abnormat of idle-facility freight,
handli £ o ted il P tod-ch dtheall : £ fixed. hreti head-is-based-onth 7 iv-of-th ductionfaciliti
ing costsand wasted arer as period-charges-and-the of fixed pr o1 is-based-on-the of the fae; 3
The-followinai £ i i ;
The isa y-of appr net fes
P P tod tored bsoletet " : drret Jizabl A " ificall for-obsolete—i As-of-Mav-31—2 2 i
Reservesfor 12 arer as y-toreduce y-to et valire-or-to-specifically-reserve-for v-As-of May-31,2024-and 2023, 14
: 5 o4 solv-d67O
reserves were appr y-$5and-y UOUO7 &, 900
d i tated-at t—F; dituresfor-additi d-major-i itatized: i d-mai; £ £+ i i d—Wh d- i
Property-and are stated-atcost: ions-and-major-impr are and costs-are-charged-to-operations-as-incurred—When property-and
ld—retired. B o el dof—th Iated-costaned el P ) s B d-gaii I £ J ; -l dited-or
are-soldretiredorotherwise of-the cost-and depr or-antor arer from-the and gains-or-lossesfrom-sales, r and are-ere
iati d izati i th i FerlEi £t Jated- " ina—f e iner—th ¥ hod—E hold-i izred thet £th
Depr and-amor are provided-over-the usefiul lives-of the related-assets, ranging from-to-years; using the impr are-amortized-over-the-lesserof the
: i furl life-of-th +or-the—t £ thet iati o izati 4 : Lt : I and-$—forth ded-May-31
usefirl of the-asset-or-the-term-of the-lease-—Depr and-antor on property-and to y-$-and -$-for-the years-ended May 31
+ olv-51063 060
s y-51063; 000
R " Lt o b hrok ierhrt " o d-for-based-onA i et o 2y ASC-350- i dwill-and-Other-{“AS€
assets product rights yrights and and-are for-based-on ) ASE-350
3507 In-that i ) ts-thath, ; i FerlLi " tred-birt tested-at-least Uy fori : e i £ " P PR that-th
)—tn-that regard assets-that-have useful lives-are-not-amortized but-are-tested-at least y-for ormore-fr if events-or in-eir that-the
5 ik £ bei ired-trsima—th i ¥ hod th firl £t 18 fe i d-distribti ikt fe hased-technolk icrhi &
assets-are-beingamortized using the str over-theusefirt not-to-exceed 18 yearsfor anddistr rights,yearsfor purchased y-use rights—and are
based ontheii idual fird-H hich d A izati d-t: i fy-$-forth ded May31-2024-and 2023.101518,000
based-on-their useful lives- which-average-around years-—Amor to-appr $-for the years-ended May 31 7
Th th ility-of-th ibl tsb ; hetherth ; £ th s bal it ininglife b dth 2 . 4 : A fort 2
The the-recoverability-of these assets by -deter the-amor of the-asset’s over-itsr can-be recovered through pr firture-cash
£l Fh litati te i hether-th Fh i £ ible tsfor-th ded May 31, 2024-and 2023110
flows—The uses-aqualitative to-determine there-was-any impairment—There-was-impairment-of assetsforthe years-ended May 31 7




The-C B de—i : : heheld-Polish-distri hich-i : i1 din-distributi dical " A-devi ineludinethe-distributi £th g td-byv-th Th
The has-made ina held Polish which-is i1t products-and the of the productssold-by-the y—Fhe
f d f the-Polish-distri o i Iy-%-of the 165;0006
appr ly-$-into-the-Polish and-owns-appr -of the
Eauitv-hold: : ketablh Hdated ittesimwiichth i +able-t i iqnificantinfh «Cost-Method-Holdi I for-atth initial-cost—mi
Equity in in-which-the is-not-able-to-exercise significant “€Cost )-are for-at-the y’s-initial cost_nrints-any
i i ) ok i ™ PP 2 bl : b . : for-thei ical PRI R I £ b Pividend: P ded
impairment (if-any); plus-orminus T fronrobservable price in-orderly for-the or-a-similar or-security of the-sanre-issuer: T are recorded-as
therdividend-amndi .
other and-interest
Th it PR fori : L " " o trreli that—th A £ holdi b bl : 1 b
The its-equrity for eventsor in-cir that-the-carrying value-of an-eqtiity may-not-be recoverable: s the
£ th . hod-hold FAMay-31—2024-and ined-that-th -, - P titvimdi that-th itv-holdi £
underlying net-assetsof the 's-equity as-of May 31 4 and determined-that the y’s proportionate interest-inthe-entity that-the-equity was not-impaired:
Th : " : : fori ical tmilarholdi itv-of-th . 1 od-Holdinedurineth ded-Mav-31
TFhere were-no-observable price in-orderly for or-a-similar or of the ‘'s-Cost during the year-ended May 31,2024
The-Ct the i of ASC 718, Share-based Ce fon(“A: 718%)which requires-the tse m’ the fair-value-based hod -to i fon-for-all wnder-which I
PV o PITIeN) PP p PR s . : B . + usingtheBlack i iei del-that 7 fe
and others receive shares of stock or-equity-instr { fairvalue-of each-option-award-is d-onthe date-of grant-using the niodel-that uses for
ki n d i e d dth - The-Ce B id-dividends-hi- icall -l + £t th th bl
e-rate, terni,and-the risk-free-interest rate—The has-not paid and does-not-expect-to-pay-them-in-thefor
fFort: E d-volatiliti based. i d £ theti - Iatility-of th tock i th -t £t ; Th o i te-isbased
future: volatilities-are-based on of the volatility-of the y’s stock d-over-the tern-of the Fhe e-rate-isbasedon
: il : : d—Th. At £ opti 1 te derived s o hod”which ; +h £th £th i th e
es The ternt-of is using the-“simplified whicl ternt-as-the ge-of the-sunt-of the g-term plus-the term
i icativ-th had-timii inerit i " d-on-thet-S. ield in-effect-at-theti £ + forth i £th te Th
as v-the y-had exercise-activity surr its Fhe risk-free-rate-is-based onthe U.S—Freasuryyield curve-in-effect-at-the timeof grant-for-the period-of the d-term—The
+ datefairvak £th o d-underth i ki : B
grant-date-fairvalue-of the-award-is under-the
Th o i A d-5-of-sh based. ion-durine—th ded-May-31—2024-and-2023. i 837
Fhe appr y-$-and $of shar during the years-ended May-31 s y- 83
5 irver-th k-Sehol " ieh del—thef : ; d-in-th i £ ) d-fe ded-May-31—2024-and-2023:
Hir the nodel—the used-in-the of awards-issued for years-ended May 31 :
The-C B i ith d-th th it £ based-on—th £th ;
The has with and these-contracts specify-ther of r based-on-the-nature-of the
£ " ke i th h b " i1y FOB-shippi hich hen-th £ 1 of dsh, d-and-tith Thi liesto-clinical
front sales-are lat-the time the productis v point—which-is-when-the of of goods-has-occurred-and-title This to
1ab o td-to-d : i tonal : dinahospitals—clinicaliab : 7, ; dical-school T ok teal tos OT o 1o, P
1ab products-sold-to and-inter distr ies, fresearch and phar OF€ products-are-sold-directlyto
i £ iei tel-t iei d-cistri Th e He £ : b d
drug stores, ce office products-aresold-to and The y-does not-allow returns-except-in-casesof nrer and
2 oref " . blish 1, T ith that : B ; hievi iffed A Th
does not an the has contractsw that provide purchase on specified sales Fhese- are
Tr 5 d—and-th : 22 b th d-of-th iod:
s and the any through-the-endof the period:
Ferrth th e i ” rtai tail-ch fe " i fit-margin—Should-prici ) b fatl-below-th -
Furr e the y-offers guarantees-to-certain retail drug store to-enstre-a pro hottd catse these-margins-to-fall- below-the-agr D
b recholds—th : PR ; PRTIECY) i o tabl : PN tHie : 4 bl based
thr the is to for-the-shortfall_Thisar introduces variable ation-intoourr T process—These ationsare y-based
e Lo o PR dercth ; " ” p
onractualsates-and pricer and . reporting.
For-di: : : ; Iel-elis e g : hveici i iner-byv-a-third- FIA d-lab i thetabt toted-the—test 1t
For testing services sold directly-to or officesthat requtire pr by a-third-party-CEIA-certified lab, wer s once-thelab-has the-test restits:
Fe ; Iated-t ; i ized-whenth ice-hasb d icos—fe k invoi o ired-as—th :
Forservices related to- s isr when the service-has been Services for-some work are-invoiced and as-the-project progresses:
4 the-€e had i 2 £ad £ d i hich rders-forfirt hi -85-000
As-of May 31,2024 the y-had-appr $-of fromt which are prepay on-orders-for-future n
Th Howirreri : breakd £ irrer-t : " hich-th Il
The is-an br of to-primary to-whichthe products-are-sold:
£z intg-—741:000-—616:000- feii office—-12.0002!
0-P
e . g ; .
See-Note 8- for-additionat regarding geographicr ations:
The-Ci inelirde ipping and -handling fees-billed-to- in-net-sales:
b and-devel " g e —Th ; : I d-$-of b and-devel o e ded-Mav-31
Research-and costs-are as-incurred—The y appr $-and $ of research-and costs during the years-ended May 31, 2024-and 2023,
Fin for ith7 ¥ A 2 tabilitie isefr differences between the tax basesof assets-andliabilities-and
TFhe for taxes-in-accordance with#: 40, Faxes {4 a es-arisefrom '
h th idated th, 1t bl todetibh Py d-theb £ PR -t o Th
their reported- in-the that witl result-in or in-future years-and the benefits of net Hoss-and tax-eredit-carryforwards.These ¥

differences-and-the-benefitsof net-operating loss-and tax credit-carryforwards-are ed-using tax rates—A is recorded-toreducedeferred-tax-assetsto-the-extentthat
; i i lized—t i et . h fact : . d
it-is-more likely than not that-a-deferred tax-asset-will not-ber eées the th y suchas-ther Iof deferred- tax-assets;pr

e
blei d thech £ -t tes—A-ch to-thesets Jel-is £ th : dvaluati 1 i £ As-of-May-31 i
and-the-character-of taxassets-and-tax A to-these cotld-impact-the and tax As-of May-31
accordance with ASC 740 th fe H-ofit: £ L1 ts—During th ded M: 4 thi i H hr-firlly
the y-has-a for-all-of its net-deferred-tax assets- During the yearended May 31, '4-this was-increased-to-$-which-fully-covers-the-net

deferred-tax-asset-of $.10,369,:00010:369:000

Th forit it isi b i + " Bt i ; it itie The-first-sten-is—t A the-t: ition-tfe itionb;
Fhe for-its uncertaintax pr by-usinga approachtor uncertaintax Fhe first step-isto thetax forr by-deter
Py Py ) . P e o - " . PR I ) ’ P i e der el P Iated L Py
if the-weight-of it-is-more-likely-than not-—based solely-on u’;z that-the witl-be- in-an-audit, x of related orlit
if- tn i £t ize—Fh fb t izei: d-asti hich likely-than-not-tobe
pr if any—The second step-isto e-the-appr of the benefit tor The of benefit to is ed-as-the which-is-nrore
lized—Th Fe 7 d-wi 1 1750 bl f-bei; i 1-Os b. it d- £ fi hichi: Mﬂﬂ—ﬂﬂt—fﬂ—be
Es The-tax is-der when-it-is-no-longer-more Iﬂsmv than-not of being Ort and ement, the which-is-more
: . . PRI i et h Fth itiomni " final—Fh
T d-at-each reporting date-will represent-the y’s-best giventhe at-the-reporting date, the of the tax is-not orfinal—The
L dtofoll iabi fori 4 ithinthe— 4, o ™ liabilities—fori £ b o
to-follow-an policy-to-classify-acerued-interestrelated to-liabilities-for taxes-within-the—“Interest tine-and related-totiabilities for taxesw
Fth ') -
tine-of the of operations-and compr {oss:

Th beictinrt dinMexi i ; iner-th i Th, cidio T . . o iner-the—t-S—dolk ith i ial £ ; i i
The ¥ i1t y-using the peso.—The y in operates y-using the U.5-doHar, with-an of using
: : -t idiari d-trsi B Fth & d-cost: B tes—forth
5 ies of these ies-are using rates-in-effect-at the-end of the year—andr and costs-are d-using average ratesforthe year:
Th A . d-liabiliti 4 £ s P ivede Th ; ke th, included—in-th
Ther to-assets-and liabilities are pr as-a of {other-compr toss—Fhere-areto currency-tr gains orlossesthat-are inthe
i d f it for-th ded May 31, 2024-and 2023;
of for-theyears-ended May 31 3
/i b 2016 the Fi ial A ing Standards Board (“FASB*): d i dard-upd: hich ires i e he-bai: n ith di ight-of-
inFebruary 2016 the Yissued-amn d-update-which requires tor mostleases onthe sheetwithacorr ’:
assetRight-of- + Y v richtte PR +for-thet e ) Habiliti blicrationt ket thet Riqht-of- £
o assets represent-the y’s right to-use-anunderlying asset for-the-lease-ternrand lease liabilities represent-our to-maketease arising from-thelease: assets
andlease tiabiliti ized- hete d: based- fr i d /i ffixed 1 sified-asfii i itl-drive
ies-arer at-the lease date-based-onthe present-valueof fixed tease p: over-the lease term.Leases areclassified-as or whichw
h it Th B + hort-t T Th i hi H-of-which inerte Most include—th tiont
the x The y-has to shori-termleases—The yleases-office space-andcopy allof which-are teases.Most teases the-option-torenew
and-the-exercise-of the renewal it is-at-the-Ce 's-sole-discretion—Optit to-extend or alease-are idered-in-the-lease-termto-the-extent- that the-optionis+ L'y certain-of exercise—The
A o tinclude—th ; e thet o Th iabletife-of £ ) holdi inrited-by—th T e For-addit 14 9.
teases-do-not the to purchase the leased property—The depr of assets-and Fmpr are by-the tease term. Foradditional see Note
€t and i it
Basic i 1. it d e divided bytin { by £ b ingfor-tin tod—Diltted ) hr £ th tal dilutionthat could-occurfronr-common
Basicloss per-share-is as-net-loss by-the- of shares for-the period iuted-toss per-share reflectsthe
B : bl rock i d-oth it th X Lod—Thetotal £ anti tive-stock ; £ includedin-thet B ion-forth
shares through-stock warrants-and other-convertible using the-treasury stock The-total of anti-dilutive-stoek not inthe-loss per-share for-the
ASE-280. 2802, blish dardstfe i b blic-busi i i ; botrt i o o ; i d-mai
Reporting (“AS€ dsfor-reporting, by public enterprises,infor about products-and services areas, and-major s:
The-Ce Ired d-its-chief irer-decisi X b rtof ind the-desi levelk i d-sates-of-di ietcit
The ‘s-operations-are by and-its-chief -maker-as-being part-of asingle 4 the and-sales-of kits:
hensivert £ o i A that—trnd AAP £ ) o ired-ci A Fshareholders” Hv—EE Foth
€ompr Hoss represents-net-loss-and-anyr gains-andlossesthat, under GAAP are from netloss-andr asa of shar equity—tems of other

2 ivete i lelv-of e It i for-th ded-M
€Ompr toss solely-of tr for-the years ended May 31, 2024-and 2023.

RECENTACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS




RecentASUs-issuedby-the FASB-and-guid issued-by-the SE€-did-not. t-betieved by th to fat tomnth furts idated-financial
and issued by the SEC-did-not—or-areiot by-the to-have-a-material-effect-onthe y's present-or-future
; ; requires-th £ all d-creditt forti Lasset terding-trad ivables—held-at-th ing-date-based-on-historical
Infune-2016-the FASB-issued ASU-2016-13—TFhis ASU-requires the ement-ofail credit-josses-for assets trader held-at-thereporting-date-based-on-historical
; dith 4 blo-cnd bl The quid tially-offoctivefor-th f r 7 tods boinning afterD ber15.2019and-inters od
conditions and and-supportableforecasts—The was-initiatly-effectivefor-the v for annual reporting after 152019 and
itht ; ; 2019-10.“Finanoial I ; ;
; 019-10—F nstr €Ere
Hors that dered-smrall : ’ ;  byth tofiscal - i aaft bor-15, 2022 includi
b rs-thatare ed reporting as by-the SEC-tofiscalyears after F
interi rods-within th Earh o i dTh dopted4 d-th for-of this-updatedid-noth Hdated
interim periodswithim those years—Farly isper Fhe 4 3—and-the of this-update-did-not-have-a-materiatimpac s
3 the Financiald ; . 3.07 " bl Pisch » The ASU includes-enhanced-discl ; A
i November2023the 3-07“Fmpr to-Reportable The A e y
related-to-siguifh b ided d-usedby-the-chiof deci rert® £2) T & b Hed ; W pr od: 4
cant that-areregularly provided-to-and-used-by-the-chief maker{“CODM*)—Fhe aretobe retr to-atl prior periodspr
the financial ASE-2023-07 is-effectiveforfiscal beginning-aft ber 15,2023, with early adopli itted. W luating the effect of adopting thi:
the ASE ctiveforfiscalyears after 5, b early We-are-currently the-effect-of this pr on-our
nancial d-disch
and
e Topie-74 B’ £ A - The-ASU-includes-enhanced-diseh ; . s
2023, the FASB issued ASU-2023-09, Taxes (Topic 740): Impr to Fax Disclosures”The ASU e requir yrelated-tothe rate
i # ick-i iomn—Fh tob i ively-inth iat ASE-2023-09-is-effectiveforfiscal i 152024, with early
taxes paid Fhe are-tobe ely-inthe 4 ctiveforfiscatyears after #5
luating th t of adoptineg thi fimancial d-discl
‘e-are-currently the effect of this pr on our and es:

£ of
1ret-of

=B




of assets,net-of

for-th dineMa

27
for-the years-ending May-31:

is-an-appr

b 1 4
of payable-and acerued




As-of May-31-—2024th bad—+ e that for-%-of- ble—As-of Mav-31—2023—th had dor-that dfor-%-of- ble-6923
4 the had-two that for-%of pay —As-of May 31 3-the had-onevendor-that for-%of

L plan-(the“2017 Plan*).inFebruary
. I rr 2 7 D, ber—i1 the-sh b olds £th 7 th i the-Board Itk 2023 Stoek ive—Pl d b
Plans”)-and-on 11,2020 -the-shar of the approved-the 2020 Plan—InApril 20, 2023 the Board-approved-the V'S ock Plan-andon 2023, the

hareholdersof th d-the 2023 Plan:
shar of the y-approved-the ;

— ive-PL ide-that lified-opti i ive-stock-opti & icted-stock b d-to-di fitiat . £th Fhe-Equit "

Fhe Equity vePlans provide-that ed and ve-stock and-restricted-stock-may-be to-directors-affiliates, or of the y—Fhe Equity

1) hori: I is £ dsh £ the C tock to be issued under the 2014 Plan, 2017 Plan, 2020 Plan,_and 2023 Pl ively. Award: d-under the Equil)

Plans 1 up to, .. and shares of the s stock to be issued under the Plan, 1 y: under the Equity

. ive Pl rcally-vest Onti dmnderthe-Equit ivePl i . i i - ire )
vePlans y-vest-overyears: under-the Equity Plans will-be-granted pire-not mo

years-after-the date-of grant. The 2014 Plan-expires-in ber 2024 the 2017 Plan-expires-in ber- 2027 the 2020 Plan ires-in ber-2030,and 2023 Plan ires-onApril 20;

is-as

N £ ise—Pri 4 Vak . .

of Stock Exereise Price—Aggregate Vatue gp¢ at-May
34,2022 2321616 - - $ 372 - - % 1838000 Opti d--243,000-$2-70--5--Optic exercised - (46;500)-%
1:73—-$96;000-Opti ted-or-expired--{175:500)-$5-56--%--Opti ing-at-May31-2023--2;342;616 -$3:-52--5146,000-Options granted--1:338:500—$ 1-13--5--Opti ted-or-expired-—(201:500)-%.

464 i ding-at-May-31 4 3.479.616--52.53 i ted-and isable-at-May-31 _§m
4:64—%; at-May-31 4-3,479,616~$2:535: vested-and at-May31,-2024--2,047,712—$3:23
Ik, : i £ datefairvalue-of-opti d-during2024-and-2023 o fvely.0
The average grant date fair value of during were-$-and $, .

4 total e related-t ted-stock-opti ds-not-yet tred-totaled tmately-$. The-wei : iod hich thi 3 Ltob izodi
On May 31,2024, total cost related to stock-optiomawardsnot yetr appr y-$—TFhe period-overwhich this is to be s is

The-wei = » foptions-that fsable-onMay-31 " Fhe-wer i I foptions-that tod. i
years:The 1 ternrof that were on-May 31 4 was years:The 1 ternrof that werevested,exer or
d-to-vest-onMay-31
to-vest-on-May-31 2 -374.976:

1 th o I to-theb, treluded. : ; ; : b

Onfanuary 22,2021 the filed-apr to-the-base pr dn-at fited with-the SEC-onJuly 21,2020, and declared-effective by the SE€Con 30;
2. 2 ? T £ e Pt 47 - e £+ 3 A v O

2020 for purposes-of selling up-to-$-in the ATM Offeringas inRule415 pr under-the Securities Act-15;6000;

1 i i ; iEh-th k ive—Pl that d-bv-sharebold £ the-C 7 inrer—in-D: b £h o 5-8 i e
OnMay 21,2021 in withthe y’s2020-Stoeck Plan;that was-approved by at-the ‘s-anntal piia 2020 the y-filed-an5-8
St £ e to-sh: £th tock-that Jd-be—i d-under-thisPlan-900-000
toregisteruptoshares-of the S stock that-could be-issued under-this ¥
Under-the ATM Offeri £ T £ P bl W 1 £ behalf-all-of-the-sh d-to-b: Jd-£r £ to-tii byv—the-C i iEh-it ]
ringthesales-agent uses ciatlyr effortstosell-onthe y’s-behalf all-of the-shares+ to-be sold from-time to time by-the with-its
g : 7 ierati £ ATFAM

Isak 7 e b £ & arrcd—thn Th, 5 b £ 7 the-sh. der—th Offeri: 7 " £ d-offers
and sales on y-agreed-terms the-agent-and-the The y-has-no to-sell-any of the shares-under-the ATM Offering.—and-may-at-anytine




During the year-ended May 31,2023 th to-the ATM Offerii hich tted i ds-of- i A
3 the 5 to-the ATM Offering—whichr in-gross proceedsof-appr y
O-anrd-ret dsto-th £ 41 961-000—afterdeducti t oot £ b eal dHeaal i d-other—fe Iated-to-th irreri
0-and-net proceedsto-the of $1;96 1,000 after for-each-sale-andlegal, and-otherfees to-theo: :
OnMarch-7-2023—th td-sh £ tock-—in-ati i bl i + T ; £ B ith-net-total ds—after-dedieting—i fe & £ £
3 the y-sold-sharesof stock-in-afirm public-offering at-agross-sales price-of $ pershare-withnet total pr after fees-and of $;of
i 4 1-of-thi bl irer—tin i d-theATM i
appr y-$-As aresult-of this publicofferingthe ter the ATM o1 s = 2 z ;
O 28 2023 th P o i ; i Howina—th toi f i B Enderthi i ; B £
O 3 the the to-issueupto-$in shares—Under-this registration sharesofour
it fited e ith th rt-of th it it fited-on
y-fited-a pr with the as part-of ther
282023 which was declared-effecti ber 292023 Fhi: e i ded tofacilit: b fe-of fi k AT fi i i
ctive-on '3—This was tofacilitate-the -sale-of upto-$-in stock through ATM o
Securities Act.20;000,0005;500:000
During the year-ended May-31, 2024 the- € h t-sold b £ it toek the ATM
4 -the y-has not seld-any shares of its stock through the ATM
On-February24-2020the-Ca d-inte d-closed Stock h 4 the—“Stock b 4 ith-Palm-Global-Small-C: Fund-EP-(“Palm’) to-which-the—Ci
the entered-into-and closed-on-a-Stock Purchase Agr fthe “Stock Purchase ) with Palm-Global Small Cap Master Fund LP(“Palm to-whichthe

million; or § per Series A C ibl I Stock. Under the terms of the Stock hase A I share of issued € i d
11, or § per Series A Convertible Pr . ock Purchase each share of issued Convertible Preferred

C & stock, subject to certain adj 571,4290.0823:50

The Series A 5% Convertible Preferred Stock d I d dividends al a rate of Series A 5% Ce ibl d Share. Ho ing dividend: bie only wh d if declared b,
ock accrued annual preferred at a rate of § per Series A 5% Convertible Preferred . However, accruing were pavable only when,_as, and if declared by

the Board-and-the-€ had-no-obligationt b ine-dividends-0—175

the Board and the had no to pay such accruing 7

fited with the SECa regi: { on Form 5-3 that
io Jeint B, O 30 2020—th ived-aNoti £
b tp o ock-into shares—On the yr aNoticeof
Effe fron-the and € forr of these-sh On January 212021 Palm-converted-theirs Convertible Pr Shares-into registered shares—On
7 —th had B £ d-Stock ki Enderthet £th o p s were-pai i he
1 the Hhad -no-sharesof Preferred Stock Under-the terms-of the Preferred v paid

owned the Preferred Stock. © dt hares, Palm fost all rights to recei ¢ ive dividends.250,000250,000571.429321,429
ock. Once converted to shares, Palm fostall rights to receive any past ve







tie £ forth dedMav-31 5
Pr for taxes-forthe years-ended May 31 of the

isfon for " from-th d-b ine-the-EL5—Federali " " licablefe b % for 2024-and-2023) -t oy 1t of thefollowing-21
Pr for taxes rs-front-the by the U5 Federal taxrate for-each year-(%-for to-pretax as-aresult of the 7
- L i -
H - oreigm-ta: £ 72,600y (129:000)
H - tax -5 £42;000)°5 (51:000)
= d"tax-benefit - 8
Inerea: duetion)in-income taxesresulting from -z

I " ;. d-bek
The tax-effectof significant ¥ rencesis pr below:

- A lated-d : 4 i
= depr and-amertization 24:060)— {21660}

A + bi Hv-dre—to-all £ ditd
s due-to-allowance for ereditlosse: 8:000- Net-deferredtaxasset
4 statizedt 666~
Deferredrent fease: 11666~
I £ forei iebiari doth +
Lo fforeign and-other-net
Fin b fi frati H £ fi 'y d fMay-312024-and 2023, it Fhn teh. inth Trati for-th ded May 31, 2024-and 2023 was-an
Fhe- has provided-a of-appr $-and-$-asof May-31 3+ vely—Fhe net in-the forthe years-ended May-31
; £¢ and tvelv—Th B ded-a-fuallvaluati e inst its United-Stat o ierm-deferredt i h-of-th ded-May-31
of $-and-$r y—The has recorded-a-full its United States-and deferred-tax-assets-in-each of the years-ended-May 31,

beti thatit: Jikely-than-not-that-these-assets-will-not-berealized 10,36 9.0008:940-0001.429.0001,973,600
s that it is-more A 29,

4 the-Ce hasFederali £ " trverte £ 4 On-May-31 4 th B ia-statei 4 " inert £
OnMay-31-2024 the has Federal taxnet loss-carryforwards-of-appr —On-May 31 4 the y-has California-state taxnet Joss-carryforwards-of
i Fort: : trrer T Hableto-offsetfitt: blet .. tret : beginmine i
appr y-$Fortax reporting purposes Hoss carryforwards-are to-offset-future such-carryforwards-expire-invarying ity
tvelv.Federalmet trrert inningi 18°h iration-date:24:384:00022-014.000
purposes, Federal-net-operating-losses in-2018 have-no 5

OnMay 312024 the € has Federalr h-and devel tax credit-carryforward of approxii Iy-$—The Federal eredi fi ire-ii The €t -also-had similar-credit-carryforwards-for

" L de(“IRE™) . 7 £the-Ce " irer-te NOE)-ard be-limited-b b £ < A i
I to ECode(“HRC*) 382-and 383 -annual use-of the ‘s net Joss(“NOL*)-and-credit-carryforwards-may-be by ofa in
hio-of- than-56% te ions-382-and-383-of the FRC—th 7 Fth 6 NOL o td-betimited-ifth i ive-ch £ hi that-te
of nore-than-50%.Pursuant to € the-annual use-of the y’s NOEs-and credit-carryforwards would be if there-is-a of tas that-term
ie dofinpdi : ) of th £ th % in-ath 4 B " o+ Ivoist ineif-the—€ has-had ' " : bin-of th
is piis 382(q)-of the IRC of than-560% inathr ¥ has-not att to if the has-had-a piis of greater-than
Forthe yearended May 31,2024 th d lysi: d-h tidentified it it defined under AS€C 740 Should i ition-be-identified-inthe firtureand should the
4 the perfornred-an ysis-and-has not-identified-any-uncertaintax as under houtd such be-ident:
i o T It of this—th b tredl-asi d-oth c ot irth, ) todf il Th i P’ biectt
owe-interest-and as-a result-of this, these-would be as and-other . inthe The y-is-no-longer to
P + U5 federalt inati byt h tes—tfi beforefiscal
any significant -5 federal tax bytax-authorities for years before fiscal 2018:
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+h,

has—th £ior—t torrd- 7 £ Alitic 7 £
The has-the-option-to-extend thelease for-an-additional

£ Th,
term-—The

Trr-addition—th I Hoffice—in-Lind: £t th-basi - for-BioE: bH—it: bich
ion, the feases-a-small-office-in yona basis_as tersfor Europe-GmbH, its v:
Fe £ i terhr-ki " thete 4 i calenlated-—f the-date-th. irsttak i £thefs includi tods-of-fr + and Lopti el
For purposes of rent thelease-term-is from-the date-the y-first takes of the facility. any of free-rent-and-any
hatth i b in-of isinrer—TFh ffic o ; I Hyvh. ™ iffed-mini o 7 i inchided—in-th £
that-the isr y-certain-of exercising—Tin y’s-office-and feases have y-specified rent-andannual rent-increases-are inthe ement-of
the right-of-use-asset-and related lease liabilities-Additionatl der-th ! th b ired-t dii g imb the fe i d i £
2 under-theselease the y-may-be required-to-pay-directly—orr the for-sonte and costs:
Such I iabl d-th trrehrded-inth Ftheriaht-of- d-retatedt iabilitiesb: i < iablet PN tidated
Such are yvariable-and therefore-not in-the enent-of ther asset-and related-tease tiabilities but-are asvariable tease inthe
£ ; o hensivet henth ; .
of operations-and conmpr toss-when they-are-incurred:
The following tabl i ie ing I for th ded May 31, 2024 and 2023:
The table presents on-our-operating leases-for-the years-ended May 31 2
The future minii tease of the €t s ing-lease-liabilities by-fiscal year-are-asfolk
Thefollowing-tabk izes-th b I e i ion—for-th ded May-31—2024 and-2023:
Fhe table the ‘s other fease forthe years-ended May-31 :

PP Ten b . PSS 5 .
The also-has insignificant leases for-office

Effect 1 1986—th ished-a—401d)-plantfor-the-b £it: The-bi: i i " ; to-the-pl to-th i Ftotal J
ctive 11986 the y a401(k)-plan-forthe-benefitofits Fhe plan permits to-contribute-to-the plan-uptothe per of total-annual
i He b der-the limitsof IREC- i 415, 401 ¢k)-and-404Th + the-di- i £ its Board-of-Di P’ ibuti to-the-planii ined-by-the-Board h
under-the-linits-of 415 4—The at-the-discretion-ofits Board of Directors,may-make. to-the plan-in by the Board-each
N ibuti vt B b de-si the-plan’ ;
vear-—No by-the y-have-been-made since-the plan‘s
Th is—fr time-to—ti involved-inteaal i Jai d-litigati isinar-in-ti i Ehusi Whileth L tmed b ial—th i tiability-cannot
The is fromtime to-time, inlegal pr and arising-inthe-ordinary-course-of hite-the- maybe the tiab
1y-be ined-b: £ iderabl inties-that-exist—Th FE: ible-th f hr- /s s faii itigatit ted-h ial-effect-onquarterly or-annual
presently-be of able-uncer that-exist—Therefore itis the of such-legal pr claims and could-havea e
fi it i tr tved-i firt: tod—Ho! based- fact: ilable betit i vitl-not-have-a-material-adverse-effect thn tidated
results-or-cash flows whenr in-afuture period_However—based on factscurrentlya such w ctonthe v’s
: it ls-of ; hfl
restlts-of operations-or-cash-flows:
Th learal " , £Afav-31
There-were-nolegal pr as-of May-31, 2024
Th B I in-which-it- i irhts—t o i for-th £th Roval £ i d-%-isi i +of-sak
The- has-one royalty in-which-ithas rightsto e-and certain productsforthe of the pr of appr y-$-and $-is in-cost-of sales
9 ively—Salk £ prod £ dunderth : : Iv-% and-%-of total-satesfor-th ded-Mav-31
or-eacho s y—Sales-of products ed-under-these-agt appr -and-%-of total sales-for-the years-ended May-31
2 i Th Fe th in-thefut il fe ine-bursi Th B +h " th £
2024-and 2023+ y—Tie may other products-or y-in-the future-as-it deems y-for The y-has-otherroyalty-agr they-are-not




1Tt : 2

As part-of our i fforts to reduce-costs, we-have intpl d-significant ia fi including a cereduction-of nearly 15% in fuly2024.

for-th ded-Mav-31—2 i ; ; » i H-as—itswholh o I “pi ”
The forthe years-ended May 31 5 omerica’)-as-well-as-its Germarn i
. i et " . B b i T
cant-inter and-tr have-been it
Th i £ lidated-£h il : , ith 1 , : inciples-inthe-United-Stat: £4 e (“GAAP) : 4 X i d
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d Lilits d-dividemnd: + +h te—Th " ividend: bl
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& d-clistrii Bil i It iei d-eli Th e He £l : handi d
drug stores; ce and while office products-are-sold to and The y-does-not-allow returns-exceptin-casesof Hrer and
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tized—Fin ftie d-when-iti: e ty-th: t ble-of bei: ined—O; b it d th 7 hich tikely-than-not-to-be
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